UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Isolated Photon Hadron Correlations in $\sqrt{sNN} = 5.02$ TeV pp and p-Pb Collisions

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7269603f

Author Torales Acosta, Fernando

Publication Date 2021

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Isolated Photon Hadron Correlations in $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}}=5.02~{\rm TeV}~{\rm pp}$ and p–Pb Collisions

by

Fernando T. Torales-Acosta

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Physics

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge:

Professor Barbara Jacak, Chair Professor Jasmina Vujic Professor Lawrence Hall

Fall 2021

Isolated Photon Hadron Correlations in $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5.02$ TeV pp and p–Pb Collisions

Copyright 2021 by Fernando T. Torales-Acosta

Abstract

Isolated Photon Hadron Correlations in $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5.02$ TeV pp and p–Pb Collisions

by

Fernando T. Torales-Acosta Doctor of Philosophy in Physics University of California, Berkeley Professor Barbara Jacak, Chair

This work presents the measurement of isolated photon-hadron correlations and the first study of photon-tagged fragmentation in p–Pb at the Large Hadron Collider using pp and p–Pb data collected by the ALICE detector. Prompt photons produced at leading order in hard scatterings constrain the kinematics of the recoiling parton, enabling the study of parton energy loss and modification to the parton fragmentation function. For photons with $|\eta| < 0.67$ and $12 < p_T < 40 \text{ GeV}/c$, the associated yield of charged particles in the previously unexplored kinematic range of $0.5 < p_T < 8 \text{ GeV}/c$ is measured. No significant difference between pp and p–Pb is observed. PYTHIA 8.2 and cold nuclear matter theoretical models can describe both data sets within uncertainties, setting constraints on cold nuclear matter effects on the parton fragmentation in p–Pb collisions. To my loving wife and sweetheart.

May they never meet.

Contents

Co	Contents		
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Figures	⁄i
Li	st of	Tables x	v
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	QCD	1
	1.2	Relativistic Heavy Ion Collisions	2
	1.3	The Quark Gluon Plasma	4
		1.3.1 Collective Flow	6
		1.3.2 Jets	0
		1.3.3 Nuclear Modification Factor	1
		1.3.4 Flow in Small Systems	5
	1.4	Fragmentation Functions	7
	1.5	Two Particle Correlations	8
	1.6	Prompt Photons	1
	1.7	Photons in Heavy Ion Collisions	3
		1.7.1 γ -Jet Correlations	3
		1.7.2 γ -hadron Correlations	5
	1.8	Cold nuclear Matter Effects	8
		1.8.1 The Nuclear Parton Distribution Function	9
		1.8.2 Nuclei and Fragmentation	0
	1.9	Statement of Purpose	0
2	\mathbf{Exp}	erimental Apparatus 3	2
	2.1	The Large Hadron Collider	2
	2.2	A Large Ion Collider Experiment	4
		2.2.1 Inner Tracking System	5
		2.2.2 V0 Detector	7
		2.2.3 Time Projection Chamber	7
		2.2.4 Electromagnetic Calorimeter	0

		2.2.5 Time of Flight Detector
	2.3	Central Barrel Tracking
	2.4	Triggering System
3	Dat	a Analysis 45
	3.1	Analysis Summary
	3.2	Datasets
	3.3	Monte Carlo simulations
	3.4	Event Selection
	3.5	Calorimeter Cluster Reconstruction
		3.5.1 Definition
		3.5.2 Corrections
		3.5.3 Cluster Selection Cuts
	3.6	Isolated Prompt Photon Selection
		3.6.1 Photon Isolation Requirement
		3.6.2 Underlying Event Estimation for Photon Isolation
		3.6.3 UE Correction to Isolation Variable
		3.6.4 Remaining Background after Isolated Photon Selection
	3.7	Purity
		3.7.1 The Template Fit Method
		3.7.2 Fit Results
	3.8	Charged Particle Tracking
		3.8.1 Efficiency and Fake Rate
		3.8.2 Resolution, Response Matrix and Bin Migration
		3.8.3 Angular Dependence of Tracking Efficiency
	3.9	Photon Hadron Correlations
		3.9.1 Signal Correlation Function
		3.9.2 Decay Photon Hadron Correlations
		3.9.3 Photon Purity Weighting
		3.9.4 Track Efficiency, Fake Rate, and Bin Migration Weights
		3.9.5 Pair-Acceptance Correction with Event Mixing
		3.9.6 Fully Corrected $C_{\rm SR}$ and $C_{\rm BR}$
		3.9.7 Underlying Event Estimation
4	Che	ecks and Systematics 87
	4.1	Summary of Systematic Uncertainties
	4.2	Event Mixing
		4.2.1 Toy Monte Carlo for Validating Event Mixing
		4.2.2 Binned Event Mixing
	4.3	Underlying Event Estimation
		4.3.1 Large $\Delta \eta$ Check
		4.3.2 Checks on UE Estimate with Standard ALICE Tracking

	4.4	Purity	17
		4.4.1 Systematic Uncertainties of the Purity Measurement 9)7
		4.4.2 Signal Template	18
		4.4.3 Sideband variation in the background template	0
		4.4.4 Background template correction	0
		4.4.5 Summary of Systematic Uncertainties on Purity Measurement 10)1
	4.5	Tracking)2
		4.5.1 Comparison to Published Data)2
		4.5.2 Summary of the ITS-only Tracking Performance Studies 10)3
	4.6	Neutral Energy in Isolation Variable 10)5
	4.7	Impact of Acceptance Difference Between pp and p–Pb due to Boost 10	15
	4.8	Isolated-photon Efficiency Effects)7
	4.9	Check for Effects of Isolation Cone Coverage)7
	4.10	Cluster Selection Variations)9
	4.11	MC-based Correction for Background Template 11	0
	4.12	Checks on Error Function Fits to Purity 11	1
	4.13	Smearing The Signal Template Shape	.3
	4.14	Check on Sensitivity to $\Delta \varphi$ Binning	4
	4.15	Checking Sensitivity to Beam Flip	.4
	4.16	Correlations including $\Delta \varphi = 0$	4
	4.17	Comparing ITS only tracking to ITS+TPC Tracking 11	.4
	4.18	Checking Sensitivity to $z_{\rm T}$ binning	.6
	4.19	Checking sensitivity to pile up cut in pp 11	.6
	4.20	Checking maximum track $p_{\rm T}$ cut $\dots \dots \dots$	21
5	Res	ults and Discussion 12	23
	5.1	Correlation Functions	23
	5.2	Parton Fragmentation Function	25
	5.3	Integrated Statistical Uncertainty on Fragmentation Function Ratio 12	25
	5.4	Insensitivity to Parton Distribution Function	27
	5.5	Comparison to Theory 12	29
		5.5.1 The Nucleus as a Medium	29
		5.5.2 Modeling a Droplet of QGP	3
		5.5.3 Measurements and Models Compared	3
6	Con	clusions 13	36
Δ	The	Electron Ion Collider	} 8
	$\Delta 1$	All-Silicon Tracker Concept Design	20 20
	л.1 Д Э	In-Sincon Hacker Concept Design	2
	л.2 Д २	Charged Int Beconstruction Performance 14	:0 5
	л.э Д Л	Charged Jet Observables at the EIC 14	:0 [0]
	11.H		J

Bibliography

List of Figures

1.1	The QCD coupling constant, α_S , plotted as a function of the momentum scale, Q for various measurements. The degree of perturbation theory used in the extraction of α_S is indicated in brackets next to each measurement. The bottom left shows the global average for the coupling strength at the Z boson mass, $Q = M_{-1}$	3
1.2	$Q = M_Z$ [5]	5
1.3	Snapshots of a central 2.76 TeV PbPb collision at different times with hadrons (blue and gray spheres) as well as quark gluon plasma (red). The red vertical	J
1.4	lines indicate different regions of rapidity [8]	6
1.5	as indicated in the low $\mu_{\rm B}$ region in Fig.1.2 [8]	7
1.6	direction in this plot [17]	8
	following the initial collision at $t = 0$. The arrows depict the velocity field [18].	10

1.7	v_2, v_3, v_4 , and v_5 as a function of particle transverse momentum, p_T , for peripheral (left) and central (right) PbPb events. The full and open markers are for $\Delta \eta < 0.2$	
	and $\Delta \eta < 1.0$, respectively. The colored bands represent hydrodynamic models with two different parameters for the specific viscosity [19]	11
18	The nuclear modification factor B_{AA} for jets for four different centralities as a	11
1.0	function of jet transverse momentum p_T [24] $T_{AA} = \langle N_{ccll} \sigma^{pp} \rangle$	13
1.9	Comparisons of R_{PbPb} and R_{ppb} for various single particles measured by ALICE	10
	and CMS [27]	14
1.10	Two-particle correlation for high-event activity in p–Pb collisions at 5.02 TeV	
	measured with the LHCb detector [31]	15
1.11	The v_2 data measured in pp, pPb and PbPb collisions by CMS as a function of p_T	
	for charged particles, K_0^s and Λ particles at high multiplicities from two-particle	
	correlations $[34, 35]$.	16
1.12	The e^+e^- fragmentation function for all charged particles for different CM ener-	
	gies \sqrt{s} versus x. For the purpose of plotting, the distributions were scaled by	
	$c(\sqrt{s}) = 10^i$, where <i>i</i> ranges from i=0 ($\sqrt{s} = 12 \text{ GeV}$) to i=13 ($\sqrt{s} = 202 \text{ GeV}$) [41]	19
1.13	Sampling of PDFs from CTEQ [42]	20
1.14	Cartoon illustrating a measurement of two-particle correlations from jets	21
1.15	Hadron-hadron correlations measured in $p+p$, $d+Au$ and $Au+Au$ collisions at	
	STAR. The near side jet peaks around $\Delta \varphi = 0$ in all three systems but the away-	
	side which peaks around $\Delta \varphi = \pi$ in p+p and d+Au, is suppressed in Au+Au	ഹ
1 16	[43]	22
1.10	The diagram on the right is next to leading order. Photons resulting from this	
	diagram are referred to as fragmentation photons	23
1 17	The measured nuclear modification factor B_{AA} for photons as a function of PbPb	20
1.11	centrality (given by the number of participating nucleons, N_{part}) for five different	
	photon transverse energy $(E_{\rm T})$ intervals [46]	24
1.18	The azimuthal correlation of photons and jets in five p_T^{γ} intervals for 0–30%	
	centrality (top, full circles) and 30–100% centrality (bottom, full squares) PbPb	
	collisions. The smeared pp data (open symbols) are included for comparison.	
	The vertical lines (bands) through the points represent statistical (systematic)	
	uncertainties [47]. \ldots	25
1.19	The $\langle x_{j,\gamma} \rangle$ values (top) and $R_{j\gamma}$, the number of associated jets per photon (bot-	
	tom), in 0–30% centrality (left, full circles) and 30–100% centrality (right, full	
	squares) PbPb collisions. The smeared pp data (open symbols) are added for	
	comparison. The vertical lines (bands) through the points represent statistical	
1 00	(systematic) uncertainties [47]	26
1.20	Per-trigger yield of hadrons associated with direct photons in Au+Au collisions (closed [black] black] for direct photon $u = 5.0 \text{ GeV}/c$	
	(closed [black] circles) for direct photon p_T 5–9 GeV/c, compared with p+p base-	07
1 91	Inte (open [blue] squares), in various ζ bins [50]	21 20
1.21	$I_{\rm AA}$ for three direct photon $p_{\rm T}$ bins [50]	20

1.22	Typical form of PDF modifications in a nucleus[51]	29
2.1	Overview of the CERN accelerator complex and the injection chains used for the LHC with their respective top energies for protons and ions after the respective accelerator [71]	22
2.2	Schematics of the Inner Tracking System and pearly detector components mad	$\frac{55}{34}$
2.5	ified from [73]. The V0 detector is only shown on the C side	35
2.4	Basic principle of a semiconductor detector. When a charged particle traverses the detector, it excites electrons from the valence band to the conduction band, which creates electron-hole pairs. The applied electric field will cause these to drift towards the metal contacts, which generates a current pulse that can be	
	detected [75]	36
2.5 2.6	Principle of avalanche multiplication in a gas detector [76] Measured space-charge distortions in $r\varphi$ near the central electrode are shown for Pb–Pb runs with high interaction rates in 2015 (upper plot) and 2018 (lower label). Each the multiplication of the state of	38
	scales [79]	40
2.7	Left: The array of Super Modules shown in their installed positions on the sup- port structure. Right: Exploded view drawing of EMCal module showing all components. Adapted from [81]	41
2.8	Working principle of a TOF detector cell. A charged particle entering the cell will give rise to avalanches in the gas, which are blocked by glass plates mounted incide the cell. The regulting electrone will be picked up at the ender which	41
	divides the cell into two half cells. Adapted from [84]	42
3.1	Distribution of variables used in the cluster selection of p–Pb data. The red vertical lines represent the cuts used. The cluster cuts get applied sequentially,	۳1
3.2	Distribution of variables used in the cluster selection in pp data. The red vertical lines represent the cuts used. The cluster cuts get applied sequentially, i.e. the	51
	clusters cut with a given variable do not appear in the next.	52
3.3	Cartoon of a narrow EM shower profile with a small $\sigma_{\text{long}}^2(\text{left})$, and an elongated shower profile with a larger σ_{long}^2 .	54
3.4	An example 20 points and their Voronoi cells	56
3.5	Distribution of the median charged-particle transverse momentum density, ρ , in pp and p–Pb data, for a minimum-bias selection (left panel) and in photon-	
36	triggered events (right panel)	56
0.0	panel) and pp (right panel) collisions	58

3.7	Isolation distribution of clusters that pass our selection in p–Pb photon-jet and	
	dijet simulations, and corresponding cumulative distribution. Two vertical lines	
	at $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} = 1.5 \text{ GeV}/c$ (green) and $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} = 5.0 \text{ GeV}/c$ are shown in the right panel	
	for reference.	58
3.8	(Left) Differential cross section as a function of $p_{\rm T}^{\gamma^{\rm acc}}$ in $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV pp collisions	
	[97]. (Right) Differential cross section of charged jets for various reconstruction	
	algorithms [98]	60
3.9	Isolation variable distribution of clusters with $p_{\rm T}$ between 12 and 16 GeV/c in	
	p–Pb data (left panel) and pp data (right panel). The green shaded are represents	
	the signal region (ISO $< 1.5 \text{ GeV}/c$); the red represent the sideband (5 $<$ ISO $<$	
	10 GeV/c) used to estimate the background template	61
3.10	Normalized signal (blue) and background (yellow) distributions used as input for	
	the template fit. These distributions correspond to clusters with $p_{\rm T}$ in the 15–20	
	GeV/c range.	62
3.11	An example of the template fit with and without the background template cor-	
	rection in p–Pb for clusters with $12 < p_T < 15 \text{ GeV}/c$. The goodness of fit	
	(b(indicated by a lower χ^2) is better after the correction and the purity is signif-	
	icantly lower. \ldots	63
3.12	σ_1^2 distribution of isolated clusters (black) and template fit results for p-Pb data	
-	in various $p_{\rm T}$ ranges. The stacked histograms (vellow for background, blue for	
	signal) show the predicted counts corresponding to the best fit. The bottom	
	panels show the normalized residuals of the fit, with the statistical uncertainty on	
	the isolated cluster data and the background template added in quadrature. The	
	gray shaded region indicates the signal region for the isolated-photon selection.	
	See text for additional details.	64
3.13	Purity of the γ^{iso} sample as a function of transverse momentum for pp (red) and	
	p-Pb (blue) data. The error bars represent statistical uncertainties only. The	
	red shaded area represents systematic uncertainties in pp, while the blue empty	
	boxes represent systematic uncertainties in p–Pb. The smooth lines correspond	
	to a three-parameter error function fit to the data.	65
3.14	Efficiency and fake rate for combined TPC+ITS tracking (filled circles) and ITS-	
	only tracking (open circles) obtained with p–Pb simulation. The error bars rep-	
	resent statistical uncertainty only.	68
3.15	The relative $p_{\rm T}$ resolution for TPC+ITS tracking and ITS only tracking. The	
	error bar represents statistical uncertainty only.	69
3.16	Left panel: correlation matrix between true $p_{\rm T}$ and reconstructed $p_{\rm T}$ of tracks	
	reconstructed with TPC+ITS (upper row) and ITS-only (bottom row). Middle	
	panel: projections of the response matrix into the true and reconstructed $p_{\rm T}$.	
	Right panel: ratio of true to reconstructed spectra. This ratio used as part of the	
	bin-by-bin correction factors.	70
3.17	The efficiency, fake rate, and momentum smearing correction factors for pp and	
	p–Pb data.	71

3.18	Tracking efficiency as a function of φ^{true} and η^{true} for TPC+ITS (left) and ITS-	
	only (right) tracks.	72
3.19	A 3-parameter error function is fit to the purity values measured in pp (left) and p–Pb (right) data. The width of the band represents the uncertainty on the fit.	76
3.20	Difference in V0 multiplicity (upper row) and longitudinal vertex position (bot-	
	tom row) between paired events in pp (left column) and p–Pb right. The pairing	
	algorithm results in sharp peak near zero for these difference distributions, par-	
	ticularly in the longitudinal vertex difference. As described in the text, in the	
	correlation analysis we apply a further selection to cut the large tails observed in	70
2 01	V0 multiplicity distribution is the sum of V0A and V0C amplitudes in pp	79
5.21	(left) and p. Pb (right) gamma triggered data	80
3 22	Left Mixed Event correlation for a single $\gamma_{\rm m}$ bin for gamma-triggered signal	80
0.22	region clusters and hadrons from minimum bias events. Middle 2D Correlation	
	for signal region clusters and hadrons from the same events. Right Signal region	
	correlation function corrected for detector acceptance effects	81
3.23	Signal-region correlation $C_{\rm SR}$ (blue) and background-region correlation $C_{\rm BR}$ (red)	
	in pp collisions for various $z_{\rm T}$ intervals. The error bars represent statistical un-	
	certainties only.	82
3.24	Signal-region correlation $C_{\rm SR}$ (blue) and background-region correlation $C_{\rm BR}$ (red) in p–Pb collisions for various $z_{\rm T}$ intervals. The error bars represent statistical	
0.05	uncertainties only.	83
3.25	Correlation functions in pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) before and after pedestal sub-	
	gray bands represent the near side average after subtraction. The red and blue	
	colored bands represent the near side average after pedestal subtraction	86
	colored sands represent the away side average after pedestal sustraction	00
4.1	Toy Monte Carlo mixed-event correlation function. (Left) Photons are produced	
	randomly within $0^{\circ} \leq \varphi \geq 107^{\circ}$ and $-0.67 \leq \eta \leq 0.67$ to roughly match the	
	ALICE EMICAL acceptance. Tracks are produced randomly for all values of φ (between 0° and 260°) and 0.8 < $n < 0.8$ to match the acceptance of an ideal	
	(between 0 and 500) and $-0.8 < \eta < 0.8$ to match the acceptance of an ideal ITS (Bight) Photons are generated in the same range as the left panel however	
	tracks have the additional constraint of excluding the range $25^{\circ} < \omega < 45^{\circ}$ and	
	$245^{\circ} < \varphi < 270^{\circ}$ in order to roughly approximate holes in the charged particle	
	tracking efficiency, relative to the EMCal acceptance.	91
4.2	10 Mixed-Event correlation using the traditional binning method (left). The Gale-	
	Shapley Mixed Event Correlation (right). The major features presented in the	
	Gale-Shapley-Paired Mixed event correlation are reproduced in this low-statistics	
	binned mixing check.	92

4.3	The 2D region used to calculate the uncorrelated background. The $\Delta \varphi$ region is chosen to avoid the away side jet peak, as well as the isolation region of R=0.4.	
	The $\Delta \eta$ region is chosen assuming that genuine correlations from hard-scatterings decrease as $\Delta \eta$ increases. The large $\Delta \eta$ is projected onto the $\Delta \varphi$ axis, and then	
	averaged within region of $0.4 < \Delta \varphi < 1.4$. ZYAM is estimated in the region	0 4
	$0.4 < \Delta \varphi < 1.4$, but for the full $\Delta \eta$ range $(-1.2 < \Delta \eta < 1.2)$.	94
4.4	Projections of the γ^{ab} -hadron correlations in p-Pb collisions in 2 $z_{\rm T}$ bins after correlated subtraction with UE estimates plotted. The grey points represent the large $\Delta \eta$ region ($0.8 < \Delta \eta < 1.2$) projected onto the $\Delta \varphi$ axis. The blue band	
	represents the region used to calculate ZYAM and the green band represents the	0.4
4 5	region of large $\Delta \eta$ points used to calculate the Large $\Delta \eta$ estimate	94
4.5	Transverse momentum density (left panel) and isolation distributions (right panel)	00
1 C	determined with 11S tracks (in blue) and 1PC+11S tracks (in orange) in p-Pb data.	90
4.0	Comparison of purity obtained in $p-Pb$ consistents with isolation variable obtained with ITS only treads (pumple) and with ITS + TPC treads (over). The ower have	
	represent statistical uncertainty only	06
17	Comparison of fragmontation function measurement in p-Ph collisions with iso	90
4.1	lation variable obtained with ITS only tracks (blue) and with ITS+TPC tracks	
	(red)	97
4.8	Template fit results of background-only template method for pp and p-Pb data	01
1.0	The vellow histograms are the predicted counts given the best-fit value of the	
	total number of clusters in the background dominated region. The hatched grav	
	area represents the interval considered for the purity estimate. The bottom panels	
	show the normalized residuals of the fit, considering the statistical uncertainty	
	on the isolated data and the background template added in quadrature.	99
4.9	Result of closure test comparing measured data and published data, for TPC+ITS	
	tracking (top) and ITS-only tracking (bottom). The red curves show the ratio of	
	the reference spectra to the smeared reference spectra. The blue curves show the	
	ratio of the fake-subtracted measured data and the smeared reference spectra.	
	Ideally the blue curve would be flat at unity. The error bar represents statistical	
	uncertainty only for the blue curve, and the quadrature sum of statistical and	
	systematic uncertainties for the red curve. Additionally, the dashed lines from	
	0.5 to 0.85 GeV/crepresent an 8% band around 1.0, while the dashed lines from	
	0.85 to $10.0 \text{ GeV}/c$ represent a 5% band around $1.0. \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	104
4.10	Correlation function between prompt photons and hadrons from PYTHIA8 for	
	various $z_{\rm T}$ bins. Three selections on the prompt photons based on isolation are	
	presented: no isolation (blue); ISO < 1.5 GeV/c that considers only charged-	
	particles (orange); and ISO $< 2.0 \text{ GeV}/c$ that considers both charged and neutral	
	particles (green). In all cases, the uncorrelated background has been subtracted	100
	using the ZYAM method. The error bar represent statistical uncertainty only.	106

4.11	Correlation function between isolated prompt photons and hadrons from PYTHIA8	
	for various $z_{\rm T}$ bins. The nominal result ($\Delta y = 0$, in blue) is compared with re-	
	sults obtained with a kinematic selection that mimics the boost of p–Pb data	
	(orange). For illustration purposes, the impact of a boost that is larger than the	
	one of p-Pb data ($\Delta y = 1.0$ in green) is shown. The dashed lines at $\varphi = \frac{7\pi}{s}$	
	indicates the integration window used to obtain the away side yields.	108
4.12	Isolated-photon efficiency obtained with p–Pb simulation.	109
4.13	MC-based correction applied to the background shower-shape template for p-	
	Pb collisions in various $p_{\rm T}$ ranges.	111
4.14	Various functions fit the purity in pp. While there is no simple physics-motivated	
	reason to use the error-function, it was the only function to simultaneously cap-	
	ture the quick rise at low $p_{\rm T}$ as well as the plateau at high $p_{\rm T}$	112
4.15	Comparison of two different bin-centers for used in the purity-error function fit.	
	Blue indicates the fit using the linear center of the bin $p_{\rm T}$ bin-width. The red	
	represents using the mean $p_{\rm T}$ for that $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ $p_{\rm T}$ -bin. The left panel shows the	
	comparison for pp, while the right panel shows the comparison for p-Pb. The	
	x-axis is the $\gamma^{\rm iso} p_{\rm T}$ in units of GeV/c. While a small difference is observed, it is	
	well within the uncertainties on the purity, as well as in the the fits' confidence	
	intervals	113
4.16	Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data.	
	The purple band represents the uncertainty from the underlying event estimate	
	in pp and p-Pb. The error bars represent statistical uncertainty only. The green	
	line is the γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function obtained with PYTHIA 8.2. The	
	key difference with the nominal results is the number of $\Delta \varphi$ bins is doubled here.	115
4.17	Comparison of final correlations functions for p–Pb (red) and Pb–p (blue) collisions.	.116
4.18	Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data.	
	Identical to Figure 5.1 with the exception that the correlation functions down to	
	$\Delta \varphi = 0$ are shown.	117
4.19	Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function in pp using ITS only tracks (red)	
	and p–Pb using hybrid tracks (blue)	118
4.20	Left: Comparison of final correlations functions for p–Pb Hybrid tracks (blue)	
	and pp ITS only tracks (red). Right: Comparison of final correlations functions	
	for p–Pb Hybrid tracks (red) and p–Pb ITS only tracks (blue)	119
4.21	Results with variation of numbers of $z_{\rm T}$ bins	119
4.22	Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function in pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data	
	with the pile up cut in pp only. The correlations have been rebinned to 6 $z_{\rm T}$ bins	
	to compensate for the loss in statistics after applying the cut.	120
4.23	The fragmentation functions with the pile up cut applied to pp, resulting from	-
5	the correlation functions shown in Fig. 4.22.	121
4.24	Left: The away side yields in pp with a maximum p_{T}^{Track} cut of 10, 8, and 6 GeV/c.	
	Right: The Ratio of p–Pb to pp with a maximum p_T^{Track} cut of 10, 8, and 6 GeV/c	:122

5.1	γ^{iso} -hadron correlation functions for pp (red) and p–Pb (blue) data at $\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}} = 5.02$ TeV as measured by the ALICE detector. The different panels represent three different z_{T} bins. The correlation functions are projected over the range $ \Delta \eta < 1.2$. The darker bands at zero represents the uncertainty from the underlying event estimation in pp and p–Pb. The underlying event was estimated over the range $0.4 < \Delta \varphi < 1.6$. The vertical bars represent statistical uncertainties only. The boxes indicate the systematic uncertainties. The dashed green line represents the γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function obtained with PYTHIA 8.2 Monash Tune. " p " is the p-value for the hypothesis that the pp and p–Pb data follow the same true correlation function	124
5.2	γ^{iso} -tagged fragmentation function for pp (red) and p–Pb data (blue) at $\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}} = 5.02 \text{ TeV}$ as measured by the ALICE detector. The boxes represent the systematic uncertainties while the vertical bars indicate the statistical uncertainties. The dashed green line corresponds to PYTHIA 8.2. The χ^2 test for the comparison of pp and p–Pb data incorporates correlations among different z_{T} intervals. A constant that was fit to the ratio including statistical and systematic uncertainties	100
5.3	Is shown as grey band, with the width indicating the uncertainty on the fit The nuclear modification factor is plotted as a function of transverse momen- tum for photons (left panel) and π^0 's (right panel) measure with the PHENIX	126
	detector. $[112]$	130
$5.4 \\ 5.5$	An illustration of the fit function $R_i^A(x)$ from the EPPS16 parametrization [52]. The modification factor $I_{pPb}^{\gamma h}$ due to CNM effect on γ^{dir} -hadron spectra in $p + Pb$ collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 5.02$ TeV within $0 - 10\%$ centrality [111]	132 132
5.6	The ratio of isolated-tagged fragmentation functions for pp and p–Pb data at \sqrt{s} = 5.02 TeV as measured by the ALICE detector. The ratio is compared to two models from [111]. The CNM model evolves the partons without parton energy loss, while the quark gluon plasma (QGP) model assumes that a small droplet of QGP is created in p–Pb collisions and applies an energy loss to the partons	134
A 1		
A.1	Schematic of how the EIC will fit within the tunnel of the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider reusing essential infrastructure and key components of RHIC [126]	130
A.2	All-silicon tracker geometry. Left: GEANT4 schematic of the tracker cross sec- tion. The barrel, disks, and support structure correspond to the green, dark- gray, and yellow components, respectively. The beryllium section of the beam pipe is shown in cyan. The rest of the beam pipe, which takes into account the expected electron-hadron-beam crossing angle is shown in light-gray. Right: de- tector schematic (side view). The barrel layers, disks, and support structure are represented in blue, red, and yellow, respectively. See text for details. Taken	139
	trom $[127]$	140

A.3	Detector material budget. Left: schematic of the ALICE ITS2 inner-barrel staves used in the all-silicon tracker design presented here. Schematic taken from Fig.1.3	
	in [129] Bight: all-silicon tracker material scan. The dashed magenta line corre-	
	sponds to the material from the beam pipe. The barrel and disk contributions are	
	sponds to the material nom the beam pipe. The parter and disk contributions are	
	in vellow. The total contribution is above in block. See toxt for details	1 / 1
A 4	In yenow. The total contribution is shown in black. See text for details.	141
A.4	Leading order deep inelastic scattering diagram. The struck quark is observed as	1 4 4
	a jet of final state hadrons and serves as an excellent probe of the nucleus	144
A.5	$p_{\rm T}$ broadening effects for the lepton jet azimuthal correlation due to the interac-	
	tion with cold nuclear matter as a function of $\Delta \varphi = \varphi_{\text{jet}} - \varphi_l - \pi $ for two typical	
	values of $\hat{q}L$ [154]	145
A.6	Charged-jet momentum response for jets with $N_{\text{constituent}} \geq 4$ determined from	
	PYTHIA $e+p$ events at 20×100 GeV collisions in a 1.4 T (left) and 3.0 T (right)	
	magnetic field.	147
A.7	(Left) Number of missed jet constituents $(N_{\text{constituent}}^{\text{truth}} - N_{\text{constituent}}^{\text{reco}})$ vs. Jet dp/p .	
	(Right) dp/p distribution of jets with less than 1 missing constituent (blue), and	
	jets with with one or more missing constituents (red)	147
A.8	Momentum and angular resolutions of charged jets, reconstructed with the all-	
	Silicon tracker simulated in PYTHIA $e+p$ collisions at 20×100 GeV with the 3.0T	
	magnetic-field configuration.	148
A.9	Momentum and angular resolutions of charged jets reconstructed with the all-	
	Silicon tracker simulated in PYTHIA $e+p$ collisions at 20×100 GeV with the 1.4	
	T magnetic-field configuration.	149
A.10) Azimuthal correlation between the scattered electron and jets in $e+p$ collisions	
	simulated with a 1.4 T and 3.0 T magnetic field. Solid lines display the correlation	
	between particle-level scattered electron and jets. The dashed lines display the	
	correlation between the reconstructed electron and reconstructed iets with the	
	shaded bands representing the uncertainty arising from the $\Delta \varphi$ resolution. The	
	statistical error bars are scaled to reflect an expected luminosity of $L - 10 \text{fb}^{-1}$	150
	Statistical error sais are scaled to reflect an expected running of $D = 1010$	100

List of Tables

2.1	Coordinate resolution in azimuthal $r\varphi$ and longitudinal (z) directions for each subsystem in the ITS [74]	36
3.1	EMCal triggers used in this analysis.	47
3.2	Monte Carlo simulations used in this analysis.	48
3.3	Number of events that passed our full event selection for each of data taking period used in this analysis. The numbers are also shown separately for EG1	
0.4	(DG1) and EG2 $(DG2)$ triggers	49
3.4	Number of clusters, with $12 < p_{\rm T} < 40$ GeV/c, that pass our selection in 2013	F 0
3.5	Median transverse momentum density mean and standard deviation in minimum-	52
	bias and and photon-triggered events in pp and p-Pb data, calculated with neg-	57
		01
4.1	Summary of uncertainties in γ^{iso} -hadron correlations, which are reported as per- trigger yields of correlated hadrons. The uncertainties quoted are relative. The	
	(0.06–0.18) and High (0.18–0.6) $z_{\rm T}$	90
4.2	Summary of UE-pedestal estimates with ZYAM and the $\Delta \eta$ method for various $z_{\rm T}$ bins, as well as the difference between LE and ZYAM estimates. The back-	00
	ground estimate is shown in units of pairs per trigger. The uncertainty quoted is	
	statistical only.	95
4.3	Summary of the systematic uncertainties on the purity as measured with σ_{long}^2	
	in p–Pb collisions. All values are in absolute percentage. "Stat." refers to the	
	statistical uncertainty; "Signal" refers to the signal template uncertainty; "Anti-	
	iso" refers to the uncertainty due to the sideband selection; "Bkg" refers to the	
	uncertainty due to the background template correction; "Iotal" is the sum of the	101
		TOT

4.4	Summary of the systematic uncertainties on the purity as measured with σ_{long}^2 in pp collisions. All values are in absolute percentage. "Stat." refers to the statistical uncertainty; "Signal" refers to the signal template uncertainty; "Anti- iso" refers to the uncertainty due to the sideband selection; "Bkg" refers to the uncertainty due to the background template correction; "Total" is the sum of the	
	previous three columns in quadrature.	101
4.5	Summary of the cuts used in Track Selection.	102
A.1	Barrel-layer radii and lengths.	142
A.2	Disk z position and inner and outer radii	142
A.3	Minimum $p_{\rm T}$ -threshold (in MeV/c) for charged jet constituents	146

Acknowledgments

Thank you so much to everyone who believed in me and helped me through this journey. An enormous thank you to my mom and papi for all their help. Especially mom for all her self sacrifice and hard work. Thank you Will and Huascar, for their levity and ability to make me laugh even during the hardest of times.

I'd like to thank my office mates, Dhruv and Alwina, as well as Miguel and Yue-Shi. So much of this work is a combination of your efforts. Dhruv for the long conversations on physics, analysis, and life. Alwina for showing me there's always a better way of doing things and to never be afraid to advocate for one's self. Miguel for pushing me and imparting to me what a collaboration should be. Yue-Shi, for consistently showing me the weird and mind-blowing possibilities just around the corner.

And of course Barbara. I'm so grateful to have you as a mentor, in physics and life. I could write a separate document of equal length filled with all the lessons I've learned from you. Also, those persimmons were really damn good.

Finally, the most sincere thanks to my amazing wife Bonnie. This odyssey would not be possible without you, and I look forward to all the voyages our future holds.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 QCD

Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) is the fundamental theory of the strong interaction. The QCD lagrangian characterizing this interaction is [1]:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} = \sum_{q} \bar{\psi}_{q,a} \left(i \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \delta_{ab} - g_{s} \gamma^{\mu} t^{C}_{ab} \mathcal{A}^{C}_{\mu} - m_{q} \delta_{ab} \right) \psi_{q,b} - \frac{1}{4} F^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mu\nu} F^{\mathcal{A}\mu\nu}.$$
(1.1)

The QCD lagrangian is strikingly similar the QED lagrangian which details the electromagnetic interaction. In both cases, ψ represents the field of a spin $\frac{1}{2}$ fermion. In QCD, this fermion is called a *quark*. \mathcal{A} represents the field of the massless spin-1 boson called the *gluon*, which couples to the fermion field with strength g_s . Quarks and gluons are the fundamental components of the *parton model*, and together make up all composite hadrons such as protons, neutrons an pions.

F represents the gluon field strength tensor, and is analogous to the electromagnetic field strength tensor. It can be expressed in terms of the gluon field, \mathcal{A} , as:

$$F^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu \mathcal{A}^a_\nu - \partial_\nu \mathcal{A}^a_\mu + g_s f^{abc} \mathcal{A}^b_\mu \mathcal{A}^c_\nu.$$
(1.2)

Notably, the final term of this expansion represents the self-interaction of the gluon field, and has no analogous term in QED. The self-interaction of the gluon field fundamentally differentiates QCD from QED, and is responsible for the qualitatively different nature of matter at the sub-nuclear and nuclear scales.

The SU(3) group mathematically describes the fundamental symmetries of QCD. Put another way, QCD is the SU(3) component of the SU(3) × SU(2) × U(1) Standard Model of Particle Physics. In the language of group theory, t_{ab}^{C} represents the generators of the SU(3) group. They are a set of eight 3 × 3 matrices closely related to the Gell-Mann matrices: $t_{ab}^{C} = \lambda_{ab}^{C}/2$. f^{abc} are the set of constants which satisfy the commutation relations of the generations, $[t^{A}, t^{B}] = i f_{ABC} t^{C}$. γ^{μ} are dirac γ matrices. But what aspect of our observable reality does the this group relate to? Physically, the SU(3) group corresponds to a theory containing the quantum number of color, the QCD analog of electric charge which can take three values, i.e. there are 3 colors. The theory also contains the quantum number for flavor, subscript q in the lagrangian. Flavor q can take on six different values indicating that there are six flavors of quarks, each with a mass and fractional electric charge. Additionally, the eight generators of the SU(3) group indicate that there are in fact eight types of gluons, indexed with C in Eq. 1.1.

Both QCD and QED are characterized by a scale dependant coupling. This means that the strength of the coupling depends on the momentum exchange. In QCD, this coupling is labelled α_S , and is defined as $\alpha_S \equiv g_S^2/4\pi$. The dependence of the coupling on momentum is encoded in the beta function which is expanded as a perturbative series in α_S :

$$\beta(\alpha_S) = b\alpha_S^2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_S^3) \tag{1.3}$$

This β function was evaluated to leading order in 1973 by Gross, Wilczek, and Politzer, [2, 3]where they famously found:

$$b = -\frac{33 - 2n_f}{12\pi} \tag{1.4}$$

with n_f as the number of quark flavors. Using this result, the dependence of the strong interaction on the momentum scale, Q, is:

$$a_S(Q^2) = \frac{1}{b\log(Q^2/\Lambda^2)} \tag{1.5}$$

where Λ defines the coupling scale at which perturbation theory breaks down and the series in α_S no longer converges. Λ has been measured experimentally to be ≈ 200 MeV [4]. The running of the coupling is shown in Fig. 1.1

Thus, we reach yet another important divergence from QED: While in QED, the coupling becomes larger at higher energy, the negative value of b in Eq. 1.4 means that in QCD, the coupling becomes smaller at higher energy. This property is known as *asymptotic freedom*, and indicates that at large energy, the interaction between quarks is small. On the opposite end of the scale, for example when the distance between quarks grows large, the energy stored by the field exceeds the threshold for the creation of new matter (in the form of a $q\bar{q}$ pair). This phenomenon is known as *confinement*, and results in the absence of free quarks in nature. They are instead trapped in bound states with a net zero color charge known as mesons containing a quark and an anti-quark, or baryons consisting of three (anti)quarks.

1.2 Relativistic Heavy Ion Collisions

Today, studying ultrarelativistic heavy ion collisions may give us a more complete understanding of how particles are produced in high-energy collisions via QCD, illustrating one of the fundamental interactions of nature. The history of nuclear collisions, however, predates the parton model, and even QCD itself. The first dedicated heavy-ion accelerator, the Heavy



Figure 1.1: The QCD coupling constant, α_S , plotted as a function of the momentum scale, Q for various measurements. The degree of perturbation theory used in the extraction of α_S is indicated in brackets next to each measurement. The bottom left shows the global average for the coupling strength at the Z boson mass, $Q = M_Z$ [5].

Ion Linear Accelerator (HILAC) began operation in 1957 in Berkeley, CA. At the time, the primary objectives of the field were nuclear transmutation and the investigation of radiation damage to human tissue for space travel. HILAC could accelerate ions as heavy as Argon up to 10 MeV [6]. A few years later, Gell-Mann and Feynman's parton model was verified by deep inelastic scattering experiments at SLAC, but it was not until the 70's that the theory of QCD was steadily developed. The idea of asymptotic freedom was discovered by David Gross and Frank Wilczek, and independently by David Politzer in 1973, who shared the Nobel prize 2004. Based on this idea, J. C. Collins and M. J. Perry of Cambridge predicted that at sufficiently high densities, long-range interactions would be effectively screened and nuclear matter would behave as an ideal gas of quarks and gluons [7].

This would mark a fundamentally new state of matter, the Quark Gluon Plasma (QGP). The study of this state of matter has became one of the primary goals of nuclear physicists and has helped motivate the construction the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider (RHIC) as well as upgrades to the LHC¹. The upgraded LHC is capable of colliding Lead ions with a center of mass energy per nucleon, $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}}$, of 5.02 TeV. A considerable step up from Argon ions at 10 MeV.

1.3 The Quark Gluon Plasma

Investigating the QCD phase diagram as a function of both temperature and baryon doping (or net baryon number), is among one of the most important reasons for studying relativistic heavy ion collisions. Figure 1.2 shows the currently understood QCD phase diagram as a function of temperature and net baryon number, parametrized by the baryon chemical potential, μ_B .

At the extremely high density and pressure, achieved in relativistic heavy ion collisions, quarks and gluons are no longer bound within hadrons, instead they are characterized by astate of *deconfinement*. The maximum energy density occurs shortly after the two highly Lorentz-contracted nuclei collide. This system is of course not in equilibrium instantaneously, and the large energy density is a consequence of the Lorentz contraction of the lead nuclei. In PbPb collisions, equilibrium is predicted to occur at approximately around 1 fm/c, where the energy density is 12GeV/fm^3 , about 20 times the energy density inside hadron at 500 MeV/fm³ [8]. Figure 1.3 shows snapshots of a PbPb collision at different times [8]. The figure shows two highly lorentz contracted nuclei right before they collide, followed by a snapshot of a very dense system of QGP, and ending with the production of final state hadrons several fm/c after the collision. While the temperature of the QGP varies by collision system and energy, it is thought that QGP formed at RHIC in AuAu collisions reaches temperatures of 300 MeV, with the higher temperatures obtained in PbPb collisions at the LHC [8]. The quarks and gluons produced in the collision cannot be described as a system of distinct

¹The construction of the LHC was of course primarily motivated by the search for the Higgs Boson, lead by CMS and ATLAS, but the construction of A Large Ion Collider Experiment (ALICE) were motived by the study of QGP



Figure 1.2: The current understanding of the expected features of the phase diagram of QCD as a function of temperature and baryon doping, the excess of quarks over antiquarks.[8].

hadrons. That is not to say, however, that the quarks and gluons in this high-energy-density matter are independent. After production, the QGP expands until the energy density of the plasma drops below that within an individual hadron and the fluid falls apart into a mist of hadrons (known as "chemical freeze-out"). These hadrons then scatter off one another a few times until they propagate freely in a process known as "kinetic freeze-out" [8].

While the prediction of a QGP state is based on perturbative ideas, its properties cannot be estimated perturbatively – enter lattice QCD. In the 1970's, a method was discovered where QCD may be calculated computationally at large scales by replacing continuous space with a finite lattice [9]. Lattice QCD is a non-perturbative approach to solving QCD, and when the size of the lattice is taken to be infinitely large and its sites infinitesimally close to each other, the continuum QCD is recovered. Figure 1.4 shows lattice QCD calculations for the pressure p, energy density ϵ , and entropy density s of hot QCD matter in thermal equilibrium at temperature T [10, 11]. Lattice QCD gives several powerful insights on the order of the phase transition from hadronic matter to a quark gluon plasma, the critical temperature at which the phase transition occurs, approximately $T_C \approx 200$ MeV, as well as the bulk properties of the system shown in Fig. 1.4. Lattice QCD has strict limitations, however. Aside from requiring huge amounts of high performance computing, lattice calculations



Time (fm/c)

Figure 1.3: Snapshots of a central 2.76 TeV PbPb collision at different times with hadrons (blue and gray spheres) as well as quark gluon plasma (red). The red vertical lines indicate different regions of rapidity [8].

are built upon the Euclidean formulation of equilibrium thermodynamics, and so it is much more challenging to use them to gain information about transport coefficients such as the shear and bulk viscosities, new techniques are required to describe time-dependent processes of the plasma. There has been recent progress, in [12], where the transport coefficient of partons propagating through the medium has been calculated using lattice QCD.

While Perturbative QCD (pQCD) and lattice QCD calculations have their limitations, in conjunction with the discovery of asymptotic freedom, they all point towards the formation of a state of matter made up of deconfined quarks and gluons. In the next section, experimental evidence of the creation of such a state of matter will be discussed.

1.3.1 Collective Flow

The original extension of asymptotic freedom suggested that the deconfined state of quark and gluons at high energy densities would behave as an ideal gas (see the right hand siged of Fig. 1.4, at the non-interacting limit). In fact, the interplay between two key features of QCD



Figure 1.4: Lattice QCD calculations (colored bands) of the pressure p, energy density ϵ , and entropy density s of hot QCD matter in thermal equilibrium at temperature T and small but non-vanishing baryon chemical potential [10, 11]. The figure shows a continuous crossover around T \approx 150 MeV, from a hadron resonance gas (HRG; colored lines) at lower temperatures to quark–gluon plasma (QGP) at higher temperatures. This transition is expected to a cross-over phase transition, as indicated in the low $\mu_{\rm B}$ region in Fig.1.2 [8].

determines the nature of this state of matter. First, because of asymptotic freedom and the high energies probed at RHIC and the LHC, it could be that the interactions between the partons are so weak that the system may never reach thermal equilibrium. Second, at energy scales within an order of magnitude of the confinement/deconfinement energy scale, QCD is strongly coupled. It was only recently been realized after the experiments at RHIC that in this temperature range QCD describes a relativistic fluid consisting of quarks and gluons that are so strongly coupled to each other that the resulting liquid cannot be described in terms of a gas of free particles [13, 14, 15, 16]. The weak coupling picture must be correct during the initial stages of the collisions with exceedingly high energy; yet even in these collisions, the strong coupling picture becomes applicable at later times, after a hydrodynamic fluid has formed. The time of the initial moments of the collisions at RHIC or the LHC where the weakly coupled picture can be applied remains an open question.

As the colliding nuclei do not usually hit directly head on, there is a non-symmetric

overlap region of the two nuclei. This is shown in Fig. 1.5, where the cartoon shows the resulting elliptically shaped overlap region produced when two spherical nuclei are involved in a more peripheral collision. This causes a pressure gradient, which in turn causes more particles to flow along the direction of the reaction plane, defined by the beam direction and impact parameter (vector connecting the centers of the two nuclei). The reaction plane is shown as the green grid in Fig. 1.5.



Figure 1.5: The reaction plane of the collision is shown here for a collision in which the overlap region has an almond-like shape. This spatial anisotropy in the initial collisions results in a flow of particles in the direction of the reaction plane. The reaction plane is defined by the direction of the beams, z, and the impact parameter which connects the centers of the colliding nuclei and happens to be along the x direction in this plot [17].

By measuring the anisotropy of particles produced in heavy ion collisions, the crucial distinction between these two scenarios can be found: In the case of a weakly interacting gas of particles, the initial spatial anisotropy of the collision zone would essentially be washed out by random motion, leaving the azimuthal distribution of final state particles roughly isotropic. Alternatively, if the quarks and gluons form a strongly coupled liquid soon enough, while the distribution of energy density produced in the collision remains anisotropic, this noncircular and lumpy drop of fluid will expand in a hydrodynamic fashion, yielding faster expansion in the direction of larger gradients: Hydrodynamics converts spatial anisotropies into momentum anisotropy.

A Fourier analysis is performed to relate the measured angular distribution of final state (charged) particles to the azimuthal momentum anisotropy. This Fourier analysis is shown in Eq. 1.6:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{N}}{\mathrm{d}\varphi} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{N}}{2\pi} \left(1 + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \bar{v}_n \cos[n(\varphi - \bar{\Psi}_n)] \right)$$
(1.6)

with φ the azimuthal angle centered about the beam axis, $\bar{\Psi}_n$ are the event plane angles determined with respect to the beam direction, and \bar{N} is simply the average number of particles in the event. Importantly, $\frac{d\bar{N}}{d\varphi}$ is the quantity that is directly measured, and v_n is extracted as a fourier coefficient that quantifies the magnitude of flow. The subscript nindicates the order of the harmonic, with v_n indicating the kind of flow and are thus called flow coefficients. For example, v_1 corresponds to radial flow, and perhaps more interestingly, v_2 corresponds to elliptic flow that results from the initial elliptic overlap region shown in Fig 1.5. v_2 has been measured extensively at RHIC and the LHC, and has been showed to be non-zero and positive. This strongly indicates that the picture of a strongly coupled fluid that is formed proceeding the initial collision is the correct picture.

This cartoon is of course a simplification: the nuclei are made up of nucleons (in turn made of partons) and are quite lumpy, resulting in more complex spatial anisotropies in the initial collision, and therefore higher order flow coefficients. The interacting partons move around within the nucleons before the initial collision. This can give rise to different overlap shapes, which can result in non-zero measurements of higher order flow harmonics. This is demonstrated beautifully at a larger scale in Fig. 1.6, where different nuclei of distinct shapes, ³He, deuterium, and protons, are simulated as they collide with Au, yielding simple yet very distinct collision geometries [18].

The bottom most panel would correspond to an larger v_3 measurement. Higher flow harmonics in larger systems (AA and PbPb) have been measured as well. Fig 1.7 shows such measurements up to v_5 [19], illustrating that the movement of nucleons (rather than nuclei with distinct shapes in Fig. 1.6) can yield measurements of higher order flow harmonics.

The property that quantifies the liquidness of a material made up of ultrarelativistic constituents is the ratio of its shear viscosity η to entropy density, s, which is the entropy per particle in systems with fixed number of particles. The ratio η/s is dimensionless in units where k_B and \bar{h} have been set to 1. This ratio plays a key role in the equations of hydrodynamics which govern the effects of shear viscosity in a relativistic fluid, and is often called the "specific viscosity". The precise magnitude of the anisotropies v_n should then be quite sensitive to the viscosity of the plasma. Specific viscosity controls how rapidly gradients of any sort introduced in the initial conditions are dissipated into heat. This means that flow measurements compared to theory calculations can constrain the specific viscosity. By using simulations with smooth initial conditions (obtained from lattice calculations), it can be estimated that the specific viscosity of the QGP is approximately 0.08-0.20 [20]. The lower end of which is remarkably close to the theoretical limit for any liquid of $1/4\pi$. For this reason, the quark gluon plasma is often called the most perfect liquid.



Figure 1.6: Hydrodynamic evolution of a typical head-on p+Au (top), d+Au (middle) and ³He+Au (bottom) collision at $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 200$ GeV as calculated by SONIC, where the $p/d/^{3}$ He completely overlaps with the Au nucleus. From left to right each row gives the temperature distribution of the nuclear matter at four time points following the initial collision at t = 0. The arrows depict the velocity field [18].

1.3.2 Jets

The next key piece of evidence for the production of a hot, deconfined nuclear matter has to do with the observed modification of jet production in heavy ion collision. But before discussing this observable, it will be useful to discuss exactly what a jet is, and perhaps more fundamentally, how partonic interactions are related to experimental observables such as the data in Fig. 1.1. Generally, the perturbative regime of QCD is explored using high energy collisions of elementary particles, the simplest of which are electron-positron collisions. In these collisions, quarks may be produced in the final state by the reaction $e^+ + e^- \rightarrow q\bar{q}$. Yet, due to confinement these quarks are not observed at the detector level, but rather hadronize into a collimated spray of mesons and baryons, which are correlated in phase space and collectively referred to as *jets*.

At a high level, a jet represents a virtual hard parton and its subsequent evolution. In practice, a jet is a "contract" between experimentalists and theorists': hadrons are combined into jets using specific definitions and reconstruction algorithms (most prominently the $k_{\rm T}$,



Figure 1.7: v_2, v_3, v_4 , and v_5 as a function of particle transverse momentum, $p_{\rm T}$, for peripheral (left) and central (right) PbPb events. The full and open markers are for $\Delta \eta < 0.2$ and $\Delta \eta < 1.0$, respectively. The colored bands represent hydrodynamic models with two different parameters for the specific viscosity [19].

Anti- $k_{\rm T}$ and Cambridge/Aachen reconstruction algorithms [21]) cleverly based on pCQD arguments.

The jet reconstruction algorithms cluster entities (usually measured particles) based on their distance relative to other entities, d_{ij} , and compares it to the it's distance from the beam, d_{iB} . These quantities are defined as [22],

$$d_{ij} = \min\left(k_{ti}^{2p}, k_{tj}^{2p}\right) \frac{\Delta_{ij}^{2}}{R^{2}}$$

$$d_{iB} = k_{ti}^{2p}$$
(1.7)

where $\Delta_{ij}^2 = (y_i - y_j)^2 + (\phi_i - \phi_j)^2$ and k_{ti}, y_i and ϕ_i are respectively the transverse momentum, rapidity and azimuth of particle *i*. *R* is the maximum radius of the jet in $(\Delta \varphi - \delta \eta)$ and the parameter *p* govern the relative power of the energy versus geometrical (Δ_{ij}) scales.

For the $k_{\rm T}$ reconstruction algorithm, p is 1. For Anti- $k_{\rm T}$, p = -1, and for Cambridge/Aachen p = 0. The value of p largely changes the ordering of particles clustered into the jet, and impact the shape and make up of the final jet that is reconstructed [22].

1.3.3 Nuclear Modification Factor

Jet production and showering in vacuum are well described by pQCD, as shown in the blue triangles and green asterisks in Fig. 1.1. When a jet is produced in a heavy ion collision, however, the partons in the shower must barrel through the droplet of QGP produced in the same collision. As this happens, the parton should loose energy and forward momentum, as the plasma should be opaque to color charge in the same way a more traditional ionized

plasma is opaque to light. This parton energy loss changes the spectrum of the final jets. Thus a key signature of the formation of a quark gluon plasma in the lab is the observation of this *jet energy loss* or *suppression*. This loss of course, is simply the redistribution of the jets energy to the medium, and must be compared to how jets propagate in 'vacuum' (to which pp collisions is taken as an estimation) in order to be quantified. Accordingly, this suppression is quantified by the nuclear modification factor R_{AA} .

$$R_{\rm AA}(p_{\rm T}) = \frac{\mathrm{d}N^{\rm AA}/\mathrm{d}p_{\rm T}}{\langle N_{\rm coll}\rangle\mathrm{d}N^{\rm pp}/\mathrm{d}p_{\rm T}},\tag{1.8}$$

where dN^{xx}/dp_T is the number of jets (or, in other contexts, particles of a specified type) produced in AA or pp collision. Additionally, the nuclear modification factor is expressed here as a ratio of yields instead of cross sections ². $\langle N_{\rm coll} \rangle$ is the total number of encounters between left and right moving nucleons, which we call the number of binary collisions. While $N_{\rm coll}$ cannot be determined directly from measured cross sections, there is a well-defined theoretical procedure based on the collision geometry of distribution of nucleons inside nuclei called Glauber model calculations [23] for determining this and other quantities. These quantities include the number of participating nucleons, and centrality classes (percentile classes of multiplicity, or the total number of particles measured in the event), and collision impact parameter. The impact parameter is the distance between the centers of the colliding nuclei. The smaller the impact parameter, the more overlap there is between the colliding nuclei, and the higher the centrality (which yields more produced particles). The number of binary collisions is applied as an important scaling factor where nuclear collisions are naively modelled to be the sum of many independent p+p collisions. Deviations from this scaling, i.e. a modification factor that deviates from 1, indicate that properties of the nucleus or the creation of a plasma are affecting the measurement.

 R_{AA} is the ratio of the observed per-event yield in nuclear collisions to the expected yield. Figure 1.8 shows R_{AA} for PbPb collisions. The amount of suppression shown in Fig. 1.8 is quite striking, especially for more central events, where the droplet of QGP that the jets need to traverse is largest. This measurement indicates the formation of a medium that is opaque to color charge, and the measurement points to the suppression of high p_T partons. It is considered an extremely important piece of evidence towards the creation of the quark gluon plasma in relativistic heavy-ion collisions ³.

It is important to realize, however, that high- $p_{\rm T}$ jets are produced with a probability that drops rapidly with increasing $p_T[25]$. The steepness of the energy spectrum implies that a small fractional jet energy loss corresponds to a large suppression in $R_{\rm AA}$ for jets (this is often referred simply as a "bin-migration" effect). This means higher jet p_T bins have much lower $R_{\rm AA}$ values since each jet that de-populates that bin represents a larger fraction of

²Other nuclear modifications factors are T_{AA} , which includes the ratio of cross sections, and I_{AA} , which is a ratio of conditional yields

³More precisely, the measured suppression reflects the density of partons in the system, but not necessarily whether the partons are deconfined.



Figure 1.8: The nuclear modification factor R_{AA} for jets for four different centralities as a function of jet transverse momentum $p_{\rm T}$ [24]. $T_{AA} = \langle N_{\rm coll} \sigma^{pp} \rangle$

the total bin count than at lower p_T . In reality, different jets with the same initial energy lose very different amounts of energy, as discussed below, meaning that this argument must be made at the ensemble level. However, the conclusion is the same: the steepness of the jet energy spectrum means the suppression in R_{AA} for jets is a very sensitive measure of jet energy loss. The trend for each centrality class is roughly the same, however, where jets at higher p_T have modification factors closer to 1. Because of the steepness of the jet spectrum described above, the ensemble of high p_T jets that comes out of the droplet of QGP will be dominated by those jets that lost relatively little energy. To put it another way, there are fluctuations in how much energy each individual parton will lose in the medium, and selecting jets which look like high p_T jets in a vacuum may skew measurements towards partons which have lost the least energy in the medium. This is often called the "survivor bias" [26].

Figure 1.9 shows the R_{AA} measured for a variety single particles [27] measure by AL-ICE and CMS. The single particle R_{AA} distributions provides several insights. First, for the bosons measured in the figure, the R_{AA} is consistent with unity. This is a vitally important check to validate the definition R_{AA} and the scaling of cross sections using Glauber calculations, as these particles are not expected to interact with the medium. This will be discussed in more detail in 1.6. Second, the shape: while an overall suppression is seen, the peak at low $p_{\rm T}$ is more likely the result of cold nuclear matter effects, i.e. changes due to the presence of the lead nucleus alone in pPb collisions, instead of hot nuclear matter (QGP). The third insight is the shape at high p_T . Note that measuring $R_{\rm AA}$ for high- p_T hadrons is quite different: in both pp and AA collisions, a high- p_T hadron is statistically likely to come from a specific, unusual type of jet that contains one very hard parton and is very narrow. More narrow final state jets are predicted to originate from partons that loose less energy in the medium, and some evidence for this has been observed in [28]. Selecting (i.e., triggering on) high $p_{\rm T}$ hadrons therefore constitutes selecting an unusual sample of jets that lose less energy, and this selection effect becomes stronger at higher p_T .



Figure 1.9: Comparisons of R_{PbPb} and R_{pPb} for various single particles measured by ALICE and CMS [27].

1.3.4 Flow in Small Systems

It should be noted, however, that flow – a key signature of a viscous fluid – is not exclusive to AA collisions. Non-zero measurements of flow have been observed in high multiplicity pp collisions at CMS [29] in p–Pb collisions at ALICE and LHCb [30, 31], and in $p/d/^{3}$ He +Au collisions at PHENIX [32]. Figure 1.10 shows the famous "near side ridge" in high centrality p–Pb, a feature most likely attributable to the hydrodynamic evolution of the initial collision geometry (closely related to v_2).



Figure 1.10: Two-particle correlation for high-event activity in p–Pb collisions at 5.02 TeV measured with the LHCb detector [31].

The "near-side ridge" observed here is often thought to be the result of collectivity or flow, hinting that there there may be some hydrodynamic behavior even in these small systems. The degree of hydrodynamic behavior can be quantified by v_2 , as mentioned before, and is shown in Fig. 1.11, where a non-zero v_2 in pp, and p–Pb (as well as PbPb) is shown: the ridge at larger $\Delta \varphi$ is attributed to jets produced in the collision. In the simple 2-2 scattering picture in which the initial total $p_{\rm T}$ is 0, the two scattered partons should be back-to-back in $\Delta \varphi$ to conserve momentum, and so a jet peak is expected at larger $\Delta \varphi$. However, the partons in the initial system do not necessarily have 0 $p_{\rm T}$. Both partons can have an initial transverse momentum, $k_{\rm T}$, that makes up a component of their overall momentum fraction
of the nucleon. Differences in $k_{\rm T}$ between the colliding partons result in a larger spread of the jet peak along $\Delta \eta$. This is known as $k_{\rm T}$ smearing [33], and the effect is a long prominent ridge along $\Delta \eta$ centered at approximately $\Delta \varphi \approx \pi$.



Figure 1.11: The v_2 data measured in pp, pPb and PbPb collisions by CMS as a function of p_T for charged particles, K_0^s and Λ particles at high multiplicities from two-particle correlations [34, 35].

These observations came as quite the surprise: these smaller systems were previously thought to have insufficient energy density for deconfinement to occur and contained too few particles in the collision for thermalization and the equations of hydrodynamics to meaningfully apply.

The observation of flow, however, is not a sufficient condition to for claiming the creation of quark gluon plasma. One hypothesis claims that this phenomenon is not solely attributable to the formation of QGP. There has been quite interesting work on the applicability of hydrodynamics in systems far from equilibrium [36], and findings that indicate that measurements of v_n do not necessarily imply equilibrium [37]. But the question of why hydrodynamics describes these small systems so well [38, 39] remains an open question in the field. On the other hand, another hypothesis is that a tiny droplet of QGP is formed in these smaller systems. While our current understanding of the conditions required for the formation of QGP indicates that it may in fact be possible to create a QGP in these systems, this is troubling for other reasons. These smaller systems often serve a "control" for quantifying the modifications observed in AA collisions that are attributed to QGP. This all points to the increased necessity of measuring modifications in smaller systems, particularly attempting to disentangle the effects of hot nuclear matter from cold nuclear matter, and is a principle focus of this thesis.

As stated previously, the presence of flow effects in small systems has not unambiguously stipulated the creation of a quark gluon plasma in these systems. Other observables such as the broadening of the away side correlation need to be studied. In particular, however, a "smoking gun" of QGP production, discussed in the next section, has yet to be observed in small systems, despite an extensive search for it.

1.4 Fragmentation Functions

One of the simplest ways to study QCD is to measure hadron production in $e^+ + e^-$ collisions, particularly through the process $e^+ + e^- \rightarrow q\bar{q}$. The inclusive cross section for hadron production (σ) may be written as the product of the partonic cross section ($\hat{\sigma}$) and a parametrization of the non-calculable long-range behavior called the fragmentation function (FF), denoted $D_c^h(z)$ is the probability for a parton of flavor c to fragment into a hadron taking a fraction $z = p_h/p_c$ of its momentum:

$$d\sigma = \sum_{c} \int dz d\hat{\sigma}(p_a, p_b, p_c) D_c^h(z)$$
(1.9)

This property is known as factorization. It is an approximation that does not always hold, though it has only been explicitly proven in a limited number of cases [40]. Experimentally, the yield of hadrons as a function of z associated with a parton (or jet) of known momentum is a measure of the fragmentation function. Experimentally, an alternative variable, $z_{\rm T} = p_{\rm T}^h/p_{\rm T}^{\rm trig}$, is often used where $p_{\rm T}^{trig}$ is the transverse moment of a jet, or other object related to a hard scattered parton.

A more complex but relevant observable is the semi-inclusive cross section in Deep Inelastic Scattering (SIDIS). In electron-proton collisions, semi-inclusive scattering simply indicates that not all the particles are measured. In e+p collisions, semi-inclusive scattering measures at least one other hadron in coincidence with the scattered electron. Exclusive scattering, indicates that *all* particles produced in the collision are measured. These definitions appear counter-intuitive, at least in terms of what's measured in the collision. But the distinction comes from the underlying physical processes that each measurement corresponds to. In semi-inclusive scattering, there are often several physical processes that could have resulted in the limited number of measured particles. For example, there are a variety of processes that give rise to a $q\bar{q}$ pair, all of which must be considered in an event where exactly two jets are measured in coincidence with the scattered electron. In exclusive scattering, because all particles are measured in the collision, the underlying physical process producing those particles is much more readily identified, to the exclusion of other potential processes. Unlike e+p collisions, in heavy ion collisions the shear number of particles produced, a substantial fraction of which are neutral particles that are notoriously difficult to measure, exclusive measurements are essentially impossible. The term Deep Inelastic is more straightforward; rather than an elastic collision where momentum is conserved, much of the energy goes towards breaking up the proton(Ion). The semi-inclusive DIS cross section can be written as:

$$d\sigma = \sum_{a,c} \int dx_a dz f_a(x_a) d\hat{\sigma}(p_a, p_b, p_c) D_c^h(z).$$
(1.10)

where (Bjorken) x is the fraction of the proton's momentum carried by the parton, and $f_x(x)$ is the parton distribution function (PDF) that describes the partons in their initial state before the collision. At first glance, this equation is troubling, as it appears that a careful measurement of the hadronic cross section cannot uniquely determine the PDF or fragmentation function. The long-range behavior of these fragmentation functions, however, is thought to be independent of the collision process, a property known as *universality*. Thus, the same fragmentation functions are thought to apply regardless of the particle species being collided. On the other hand, parton distribution function is only a property of the objects being collided and can be factorized from the collision process and subsequent fragmentation.

The cross section for hadro-production in proton-proton collisions can be expressed in a similar way with the addition of a second integral over the additional parton:

$$d\sigma = \sum_{a,c} \int dx_a dx_b dz f_a(x_a) f_b(x_b) d\hat{\sigma}(p_a, p_b, p_c) D_c^h(z).$$
(1.11)

This gives rise to an interesting picture of progression, albeit a slightly oversimplified one: fragmentation functions are measured in $e^+ + e^-$ collisions, shown in Fig. 1.12, which are then used in DIS data. Then, the DIS data is used to determine the PDF's, shown in Fig. 1.13 which are applied to p + p collisions.

In a similar story of progression, p+p collisions are important baseline data for collisions of heavy nuclei, discussed in Sec. 1.3.3. It turns out, expectations for hadronic observables must be modified in nuclear collisions. Furthermore, p+Pb collisions are important for disentangling cold and hot nuclear matter effects. Such departures provide a window into physics beyond the vacuum behavior of QCD accessed via elementary particles collisions.

1.5 Two Particle Correlations

Another way to study energy loss effects on partons propagating through a medium in heavy ion collisions is by measuring two particle correlations. One of simplest forms of two particle correlations is the di-hadron correlation. Contemporary jet measurements invoke jet reconstruction algorithms to determine the full energy of the jet event-by-event. These methods are difficult to apply in heavy-ion collisions due to the overwhelming background from soft particles, and may be less sensitive to medium modification depending on the observable being measured. Instead, a very useful approach has been to measure correlations between particles.

$$Y(\Delta\varphi) \equiv \frac{1}{n^{\text{triggers}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}\Delta\varphi}$$
(1.12)



Figure 1.12: The e^+e^- fragmentation function for all charged particles for different CM energies \sqrt{s} versus x. For the purpose of plotting, the distributions were scaled by $c(\sqrt{s}) = 10^i$, where i ranges from i=0 ($\sqrt{s} = 12$ GeV) to i=13 ($\sqrt{s} = 202$ GeV) [41]



Figure 1.13: Sampling of PDFs from CTEQ [42]

where N is the number number of correlated particles, n^{triggers} is the measured number of triggers ⁴, and $\Delta \varphi$ is the difference in azimuthal angle between the trigger and associated particle. Figure 1.14 shows a simplified example of a di-hadron (hadron-hadron, or h-h) correlation in p+p collisions. The two-peak structure is characteristic of such measurements, and indicates that the event sample is dominated by di-jet events. The particles within the same jet make up the narrow peak centered around $\Delta \varphi = 0$ and the recoil jet appears as the peak around $\Delta \varphi = \pi$. The away side peak is broadened since kinematically the away side jet can swing along the η direction and $k_{\rm T}$, the initial pair momentum of the colliding partons, can create an imbalance in the jets' energy and cause them to be acoplanar. η , also referred to as pseudorapidity, is defined as $\eta = \ln(\tan(\theta/2))$, where θ is the polar angle with

⁴A trigger is generally a condition required to be met in order to record the event data. For two-particle correlations, it is often a high- $p_{\rm T}$ hadron, jet, or photon.

respect to beam direction. A 2D plot $(\Delta \varphi, \Delta \eta)$ of this correlation in pPb and pp collisions is shown in Fig. 1.10, Sec. 1.3.1. The peaks sit atop a pedestal which is due to initial and final state interactions amongst the beam remnants and the hard-scattered partons. This must be subtracted, and will be discussed in greater detail in Sec. 3.9.7 for pp and pPb collisions. For AA collisions, this subtraction is even more complicated, where flow is no longer a signal, but a background phenomenon that must also be subtracted in correlation analyses.



Figure 1.14: Cartoon illustrating a measurement of two-particle correlations from jets

The STAR experiment performed a hadron-hadron correlation measurement with triggers of $p_{T,t} > 4 \text{ GeV}/c$ and associated partners of 2 $\text{GeV}/c < p_{T,a} < p_{T,t}$. The result, shown in Fig. 1.15 demonstrates that for central Au + Au collisions the near-side jet looks very similar to p+p but the away-side jet completely disappears. This is consistent with a picture in which the near-side jet is usually produced near the surface and the away-side jet is completely absorbed by the medium.

Although hadron-hadron correlations have revealed a great deal about energy loss in the medium, they are limited by the fact that the initial parton momentum is unknown and cannot be used to directly measure the fragmentation function.

1.6 Prompt Photons

Prompt photons can be defined simply as the photons produced immediately in the collision, before final state hadrons are produced. At the lowest order in pQCD, prompt photons are



Figure 1.15: Hadron-hadron correlations measured in p+p, d+Au and Au+Au collisions at STAR. The near side jet peaks around $\Delta \varphi = 0$ in all three systems but the away-side which peaks around $\Delta \varphi = \pi$ in p+p and d+Au, is suppressed in Au+Au [43].

produced via two processes: (i) quark-gluon Compton scattering, $qg \rightarrow q\gamma$, (ii) quarkantiquark annihilation, $q\bar{q} \rightarrow g\gamma$, and, with a much smaller contribution, $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$. In p+p collisions, the Compton-type process dominates the cross section by roughly an order of magnitude over annihilation as a result of the scarcity of antiquarks. Additionally, prompt photons can be produced in higher-order processes, such as fragmentation or bremsstrahlung [44]. The collinear part of such processes has been shown to contribute effectively also at lowest order. The basic Feynman diagrams for these processes (excluding $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$) are shown in Fig. 1.16.

Photons produced during fragmentation, are apply named fragmentation photons. As a result, fragmentation photons are often surrounded by a larger amount of energy and hadronic activity than other prompt photons produced from the initial hard scattering.

Prompt photons, and by extension fragmentation photons, are both included in the definition of direct photons. While the definition of direct photons is not always consistent in the literature, and varies slightly between experiments, we define direct here to mean any photon not produced from hadronic decays. Those photons originating from the decay of a hadronic bound state are defined as decay photons. The two largest sources of decay photons are the two-photon decay channels of the π^0 and η meson. At higher $p_{\rm T}$, decay photons make up the majority of photons produced in the collision.



Figure 1.16: On the left are the leading order Feynman diagrams for direct photon production. The diagram on the right is next-to-leading order. Photons resulting from this diagram are referred to as fragmentation photons.

Together, direct and decay photons make up all the photons observed in a collision, called inclusive photons.

$$\gamma_{\text{inclusive}} = \gamma_{\text{direct}} + \gamma_{\text{decay}} \tag{1.13}$$

1.7 Photons in Heavy Ion Collisions

Direct photons have three very important properties that make them valuable tools in heavyion physics. First, there are relatively few leading order diagrams which contribute to direct photon production. Second, the photon-quark coupling is point-like, and not affected by long-range QCD behavior such as fragmentation in the final state. Third, though a property shared with other high- $p_{\rm T}$ photons, they do not interact with the QGP. Prompt photons are thus extremely valuable tools in heavy-ion physics.

One property that makes them so useful is that they are not expected to interact with the QGP. Photons do not carry color charge, and should therefore be unmodified by strong interactions in a medium, while the plasma is made up of quarks that carry (fractional) charge, For example, the mean free path of a 1 GeV photon in a QGP at T = 200 MeV was calculated to be $\lambda = 480$ fm, much larger than the estimate size of plasma at $r \approx 10$ fm [45]. Thus, in the leading order picture, after prompt photons are produced early in the collision they should propagate through the medium completely unmodified, with no high $p_{\rm T}$ suppression. This has been verified, by measuring the $R_{\rm AA}$ of photons, shown in Fig. 1.17. A measured $R_{\rm AA}$ consistent with 1.0 strongly supports the position that photons are unmodified in the quark gluon plasma.

1.7.1 γ -Jet Correlations

Another important property of leading order prompt photons is that the photon-quark coupling is point-like and therefore not complicated by long-range QCD behavior such as jet



Figure 1.17: The measured nuclear modification factor R_{AA} for photons as a function of PbPb centrality (given by the number of participating nucleons, N_{part}) for five different photon transverse energy (E_{T}) intervals [46].

fragmentation in the final state, unlike hadronic observables. Thus, in the leading order picture, the direct photon exactly balances the away-side parton and resulting jet. Here the photon acts as a reference for the parton from the initial scattering, before any modification in heavy-ion collisons. This means that comparisons between the photon and parton, or jet, as well as large deviations from $\Delta \varphi \approx \pi$ can be used to directly study medium-induced effects on the recoiling parton. γ -jet correlations in CMS are shown in Fig. 1.18 [47].

In conjunction with γ -jet correlations, the γ -jet asymmetry, $x_{j,\gamma} \equiv p_{\rm T}^{\rm jet}/p_{\rm T}^{\gamma}$ can be measured to quantify in-medium parton energy loss. Derived from Fig. 1.18, the jet asymmetry for jets with $\Delta \varphi > 7\pi/8$ relative to the photon were taken. The asymmetry as a function of photon $p_{\rm T}$, as well as the ratio of the number of associated jets per photon in pp and PbPb collisions, $R_{j\gamma}$, is shown in Fig. 1.19 [47].

This procedure from CMS also provides a good example of how these correlations are often used to extract other quantities. The angular correlations are measured, from which a region in large $\Delta \varphi$ is taken (corresponding to the photon and parton being back-to-back). The yields in this region are then reported as a function of fractional momentum, $x_{j,\gamma}$ in order to measure medium effects.



Figure 1.18: The azimuthal correlation of photons and jets in five $p_{\rm T}^{\gamma}$ intervals for 0–30% centrality (top, full circles) and 30–100% centrality (bottom, full squares) PbPb collisions. The smeared pp data (open symbols) are included for comparison. The vertical lines (bands) through the points represent statistical (systematic) uncertainties [47].

1.7.2 γ -hadron Correlations

The leading order picture of prompt photons indicates that the photon and recoiling parton have equal and opposite transverse momenta. Therefore, the measurable quantity, $z_{\rm T} = p_{{\rm T},a}/p_{{\rm T},t}$ with the prompt photon as the trigger, is nothing but the fragmentation variable, $p_{{\rm T},hadron}/p_{{\rm T},parton}$. This explains why prompt γ -h correlations are such a powerful measurement. They provide a source of recoil partons of fixed momentum and their conditional yields as a function of $z_{\rm T}$ in p+p collisions probe the parton fragmentation. By contrast, dihadron and dijet correlations are have the fragmentation function (and therefore any potential medium modifications) folded into the measurement twice, making any observed modifications more difficult to interpret.

When the hadrons roughly opposite the trigger photon are reconstructed as a jet, they are clearly connected to the recoiling parton from the initial scattering in the leading order picture. The hadrons within those jets can then be used to probe the jet fragmentation function. γ -hadron correlations in which a jet is not reconstructed, however, have a distinct advantage over γ -jet correlations: hadrons are more sensitive to in-medium modification. Fig. 1.9 shows a minimum in R_{AA} for charged hadrons at approximately 6GeV, and a plateau begins after 20 GeV/c. It is extremely difficult to measure jets below ≈ 20 GeV/c in heavy ion collisions due to the large background [48]. Selecting jets at higher p_T (or jets with kinematics similar to that in "vacuum", or pp collisions), to avoid this background biases the jet population towards jets that will lose the least energy in vacuum, as discussed in



Figure 1.19: The $\langle x_{j,\gamma} \rangle$ values (top) and $R_{j\gamma}$, the number of associated jets per photon (bottom), in 0–30% centrality (left, full circles) and 30–100% centrality (right, full squares) PbPb collisions. The smeared pp data (open symbols) are added for comparison. The vertical lines (bands) through the points represent statistical (systematic) uncertainties [47].

Sec. 1.3.3. Additionally, triggering on a high $p_{\rm T}$ hadron as a proxy for a jet can bias the measurement towards jets towards the surface of the medium [49]. Similar to $R_{\rm AA}$, the ratio of the conditional yields for γ -h and γ -jet correlations in pp and AA collisions can help quantify medium induced modifications to the parton, in this case, the fragmentation function. Fig. 1.20 shows the direct⁵ photon-hadron correlations measured with the PHENIX detector as a function of $\xi \equiv \ln(1/z_{\rm T})$:



Figure 1.20: Per-trigger yield of hadrons associated with direct photons in Au+Au collisions (closed [black] circles) for direct photon p_T 5–9 GeV/c, compared with p+p baseline (open [blue] squares), in various ξ bins [50].

Similar to the γ -jet measurement in the previous section, the conditional yield at higher $\Delta \varphi$ is measured. This conditional yield as a function of ξ is the experimentally measured fragmentation function. The ratio of this yield in pp and AA collisions, $I_{AA} \equiv Y_{AA}/Y_{PP}$, is a nuclear modification factor which quantifies the difference between the fragmentation functions in AA and p+p collisions. This is shown in Fig. 1.21 [50].

 γ -hadron correlations are an incredibly powerful tool: they provide an observable that probes the parton fragmentation function with objects in the collision (low to intermediate $p_{\rm T}$ hadrons) that are particularly sensitive to medium modifications. Measuring γ -hadron

⁵Direct is used in lieu of prompt at RHIC due to the smaller contribution of fragmentation photons at the lower center of mass energies compared to LHC. Direct here means non-fragmentation prompt photons, or photons produced directly in 2-to-2 scatterings.



Figure 1.21: I_{AA} for three direct photon p_T^{γ} bins [50].

correlations in both pp and PbPb collisions is an important step in elucidating the modifications to the parton fragmentation function due to QGP. However, a full understanding of these phenomena requires measurements of cold nuclear matter (CNM) effects, which should be present in A+A collisions but are difficult to distinguish experimentally from effects due to interactions with the medium.

1.8 Cold nuclear Matter Effects

In order to quantitatively study the properties of the QGP, it is necessary to separate effects which are due to interactions with the medium from those which are intrinsic to the structure and interactions of cold nuclei. The p + p baseline measurements used to calculate the nuclear modification factor R_{AA} can not account for these nuclear effects, since none are present in free protons. For example, ²⁰⁸Pb contains 126 neutrons, so the majority of neucleon-neucleon collisions in PbPb events will involve neutrons. Any isospin dependent effects would be impossible to model in pp collisions due to the absence of initial neutrons in the system.

1.8.1 The Nuclear Parton Distribution Function

The production cross sections for prompt photons and hadrons should be sensitive to the distribution of quarks and gluons inside the nucleus, detailed by the nuclear parton distribution function (nPDF). More specifically, the nPDF is defined as the probability density for finding a parton with a certain longitudinal momentum fraction x at resolution scale Q^2 within a nucleon bound within a nucleus. The relation of the bound-proton PDFs with respect to free proton PDFs f_i^p is often expressed in terms of a nuclear modification factor in the form of:

$$R_i^A(x,Q^2) = \frac{f_i^p / A(x,Q^2)}{f_i^p(x,Q^2)}$$
(1.14)

A typical form of such modifications is shown in Fig. 1.22.



Figure 1.22: Typical form of PDF modifications in a nucleus[51].

The modification in the region where the ratio is less than 1.0 is called "shadowing" at very low x. The "EMC" effect occurs at 0.3 < x < 0.7. The region where the modification is larger than 1.0 is called "anti-shadowing" [51]. The shadowing and antishadowing effects reflect interaction of the scattered parton and the nuclear background color field that lead to a suppression or enhancement of inclusive hadron production in theoretical calculations [52]. The origin of the EMC effect is still not thoroughly understood, but is often attributed to either mean-field modifications or short-ranged correlated pairs [53, 54]. The exact magnitude of these effects on various measurements, as well as an improved understanding of the nPDF's is a currently under investigation in the field. Recently, a major step forward toward this goal has been the inclusion of LHC pPb data, particularly for extracting the gluon PDF.

1.8.2 Nuclei and Fragmentation

Aside from differences between the PDFs in free and bound nucleons, there are potential observable effects of the nucleus as a medium itself. Measurements in p+A collisions showed that particle production at moderate transverse momentum increases faster than the number of binary nucleon-nucleon collisions. This was attributed to the Cronin effect where the scattered parton undergoes multiple scatterings in the nucleus, resulting in a transverse momentum boost, *before* the interaction that ultimately produces the final state particle [55].

Currently, however, an open question in the field is the exact timescale of fragmentation, as both pQCD and lattice calculations are unable to provide estimates. This leaves open the possibility that the parton begins to fragment while still inside the nucleus, potentially modifying the fragmentation process and the final state hadrons of the resulting jet.

The current state of understanding on cold nuclear matter effects modifying the parton fragmentation function is ambiguous: In di-hadron and direct photon-hadron correlations, no significant modification of the jet fragmentation was observed in measurements by the PHENIX collaboration in d–Au collisions at a center-of-mass energy of 200 GeV [56] and the ALICE collaboration in p-Pb collisions at 5.02 TeV [57, 58] at mid rapidity. At forward rapidity, probing a lower-x regime, a strong-modification was observed by the PHENIX collaboration in d-Au collisions [59]. A more recent measurement by the PHENIX collaboration with pp, p–Al, and p–Au data revealed a transverse momentum broadening consistent with a path-length dependent effect [60]. However, a recent ATLAS measurement of the jet fragmentation function in p–Pb collisions showed no evidence for modification of jet fragmentation for jets with $45 < p_{\rm T} < 206 \text{ GeV}/c$ [61]. Measurements of the fragmentation of jets with much lower momentum are necessary to limit the Lorentz boost to the timescales of fragmentation, as such a boost may result in fragmentation outside the nucleus. These measurements would test the Q^2 evolution of fragmentation functions in cold nuclear matter, testing factorization theorems that are neither proven nor expected to hold in general for collisions involving nuclei [62].

1.9 Statement of Purpose

Parton fragmentation may be modified in the nucleus, offering a way to explore the dynamics of QCD in nuclei including elastic, inelastic, and coherent multiple scattering of partons. Moreover, the known spatial dimensions of nuclei provide a filter possibly shedding light on the timescale of the fragmentation process, which remains unknown [63, 64]. Additionally, because photons produced in hard scatterings do not strongly interact, they constrain the parton kinematics from the same scattering before any modification. Thus, measurements of photon-tagged jet fragmentation in pA collisions serve as a powerful tool to study multiple-scattering effects in cold nuclear matter [65], which serve as a control for effects of the quark–gluon plasma (QGP) in nucleus–nucleus collisions, where modifications of the jet spectrum, fragmentation, and substructure have been observed [66].

Experimental data [67] on dijet spectra in p + Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5.02$ TeV, show no significant effect of jet quenching within the experimental errors in the nuclear modification of the dijet asymmetry in transverse momentum. Additionally, since trigger biases in dihadron and dijet measurements prefer surface and tangential configurations for coincident production of hadrons or jets [68], the effect of jet quenching is expected be smaller than in γ -hadron production where the direct photon does not have strong interaction with the hot medium before being detected.

In this work, azimuthal correlations of charged hadrons with isolated photons, γ^{iso} , are analyzed in p–Pb and pp collisions with a center-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}} = 5.02$ TeV. Isolated photons are measured at midrapidity, $|\eta| < 0.67$, and with transverse momenta in the range $12 < p_{\text{T}} < 40 \text{ GeV}/c$, which yields the scaling variable $x_{\text{T}} = 2p_{\text{T}}/\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}} =$ 0.005-0.016. The kinematic range probed in this analysis offers access to a lower Q^2 than other LHC experiments, which is where the largest nuclear effects can be expected, and we cover a similar x_{T} range as RHIC measurements at forward rapidity [59], where cold nuclear matter effects were observed in dihadron collisions.

Understanding the dynamics of quarks and gluons in nucleons and nuclei is a key goal of modern nuclear physics. Proton-nucleus (pA) collisions at high energies provide information about the parton structure of nuclei, parton-nucleus interactions, and parton fragmentation in a nuclear medium [63]. The energy of the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) available for pA collisions is a factor of 25 larger than at the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider (RHIC), and thus it provides unprecedented reach in longitudinal momentum fraction Bjorken-x and Q^2 [69].

Chapter 2

Experimental Apparatus

A Large Ion Collider Experiment (ALICE) is the only experiment at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) dedicated to studying heavy-ion physics. Its detectors measure and identify hadrons, electrons, photons, and muons. The ALICE detectors are optimized for the study of heavy-ion collisions up to the highest energy available and is designed to be simultaneously capable of measuring bulk properties of the collision involving soft hadronic interactions and large cross section physics, and capable measuring rare probes involving small cross section physics. In particular, ALICE was designed to track and identify particles from very low, 100 MeV, up to ≈ 100 GeV, transverse momenta in an environment of extreme particle density. This chapter will first briefly discuss the LHC particle accelerator, followed by a description of the subdetectors and triggering system of ALICE.

2.1 The Large Hadron Collider

The LHC is the largest particle accelerator ever made. Located at CERN near Geneva, Switzerland, it was optimized to collide protons up to a center-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s}=14$ TeV, and heavy ions (including Pb, Ar, and Xe) up to $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}}=5.5$ TeV [70].

The LHC was designed to supply a luminosity of $\mathcal{L} = 10^{34} \text{cm}^{-2} \text{s}^{-1}$ for proton-proton collisions, and a luminosity of $\mathcal{L} = 10^{34} \text{cm}^{-2} \text{s}^{-1}$. The proton-proton luminosity was driven by the search for the Higgs boson, with CMS and ATLAS considered as the high luminosity experiments at the LHC. The LHC was constructed using the existing tunnel of the Large Electron-Positron Collider (LEP), operational until 2000, and consists of 4 major components:

- 1. Dipole magnets that bend the beam on its orbit with a maximum magnetic field of 8.33 T.
- 2. Quadrupole, sextupole, octupole and decapole magnets that focus the beams.
- 3. Acceleration cavities that increase the beam energy.

4. Two beam pipes with an ultra-high vacuum which contain the two beams.

The magnetic field in the dipoles is provided by superconducting magnets which are filled with liquid helium. The helium is cooled down to 1.9 K in order to reach the super-fluid state. To reduce the number of interactions of the beam with the environment or air, an ultra-high vacuum is kept in the beam pipes reaching a quality of 10^{-13} atm over a total volume of 150 m³ [70].

The LHC has eight possible interactions points, four of them are equipped with large detector systems shown in Figure 2.1. ALICE will be described in the next section. The detectors systems of ATLAS (A Toroidal LHC Apparatus) and CMS (Compact Muon Solenoid experiment) were designed as general purpose detectors primarily in pursuit of the Higgsboson and its properties, as well as precision measurements of the Standard Model particles and searches for physics beyond the Standard Model. Although both detectors have not been optimized for heavy-ion collisions, they contribute extensively to the high $p_{\rm T}$ analysis in Pb–Pb collisions, profiting from their large pseudorapidity coverage, excellent high luminosity capabilities, and high momentum resolution. The LHCb (LHC beauty) experiment dedicated its research program to the search for CP-violation in the B-meson system, as well as precision measurements in the charm and beauty quark sector.



Figure 2.1: Overview of the CERN accelerator complex and the injection chains used for the LHC with their respective top energies for protons and ions after the respective accelerator [71].

2.2 A Large Ion Collider Experiment

ALICE's aim is not to find signatures rare particles in pp collisions as is the primary focus of the other three major LHC experiments, but instead to collect as much data as possible from large heavy-ion events. This imposes strong demands on the detector. A Pb–Pb collision typically produces approximately 500-1000 charged particles per pseudo-rapidity unit, and can reach as high as $dN_{ch}/d\eta \approx 2000$ in the most central collisions [72]. Fig. 2.2 shows an overview of the ALICE detector.



Figure 2.2: Schematics of the ALICE detector [73].

As shown in Fig. 2.2, ALICE can be conceptualized as consisting of three major parts:

- 1. The central barrel contained inside the magnet with an acceptance in pseudo-rapidity of $-0.9 \le \eta \le 0.9$ over the full azimuth angle;
- 2. The muon spectrometer at pseudo-rapidity of $-4.0 \le \eta \le -2.4$;
- 3. Various multiplicity detectors at $-3.4 \le \eta \le 5.1$

The central barrel resides within the L3 magnet, a warm solenoid magnet with a magnetic field of B = 0.5 T. The muon spectrometer extends only in the forward region (C side) and contains a dipole magnet (B = 0.67 T) which bends the muons away from the interaction

vertex in the horizontal plane. Lastly, the multiplicity detectors are arrays of scintillator counters, with one in each of the forward regions.

2.2.1 Inner Tracking System

Closest to the interaction point, in the middle of the central barrel, is the Inner Tracking System (ITS) covering the pseudorapidity window $|\eta| < 0.9$. The ITS is used for triggering and high-resolution tracking and consists of six concentric layers of silicon detectors surrounding the beam pipe: two layers each of Silicon Pixel Detectors (SPD), Silicon Drift Detectors (SDD), and Silicon Strip Detectors (SSD).

A schematic overview of the ITS is given in Fig. 2.3. The main purposes of the ITS are to accurately measure the position of the collision vertex and secondary vertices from weakly decaying particles (in particular strange hadrons and B and D mesons, which have typical decay lengths of a couple of cm), measure the $p_{\rm T}$ and position of charged particle tracks – often complementing TPC tracking information – and, in the case of the SPD, to provide triggering input for the entire detector.

This detector system has a very fine granularity, resulting in a high tracking and vertexing resolution even in extremely high multiplicity environments. The resolution for each subsystem is summarised in Table 2.1.



Figure 2.3: Schematics of the Inner Tracking System and nearby detector components, modified from [73]. The V0 detector is only shown on the C side.

The ITS is a silicon based detector. Silicon is a semiconductor meaning it has a valence band and a conduction band separated by a band gap. The basic operating principle is as

Detector	$r\varphi$ precision (μ m)	z precision (μ m)
SPD	12	100
SDD	35	25
SSD	20	830

Table 2.1: Coordinate resolution in azimuthal $r\varphi$ and longitudinal (z) directions for each subsystem in the ITS [74].

follows: a pn junction is used where a reverse bias is applied that depletes the active area of charge carriers. When a charged particle hits the detector, it will create electron-hole pairs along its trajectory that will in turn generate a current pulse, as shown in Fig. 2.4. The current will then traverse the electric field and eventually be collected at electrodes connected to a current amplifier. For the purposes of charged particle tracking with the ITS, the only relevant information is whether a particle has hit the detector. This is ensured by reading out only if the pulse is above a certain threshold. The advantages of using a semiconductor are that this creates a fast signal, and one can achieve a very high tracking resolution while maintaining a low material thickness, since the electron diffusion length is only a few μ m. The material thicknesses of each ITS layer ranges from 0.83 to 1.26 X/X_0 % [74], with the SPD layers being the thinnest, and one of the SDD layers being the thickest.



Figure 2.4: Basic principle of a semiconductor detector. When a charged particle traverses the detector, it excites electrons from the valence band to the conduction band, which creates electron-hole pairs. The applied electric field will cause these to drift towards the metal contacts, which generates a current pulse that can be detected [75].

Each subdetector of the ITS uses a different technology. The SPD is built of pixels of

silicon diodes, each measuring $50 \times 425 \ \mu \text{m}^2$. These are read out by 1200 chips per layer, each covering 8192 cells, totalling 9.8×106 cells per layer. The two SPD layers are located 3.9 and 7.6 cm from the beam axis, respectively, and extend 282 mm in the longitudinal direction.

The SDDs are built of 260 drift cells distributed over the two layers, where the drift time of charge carriers is measured in order to precisely determine where the track has interacted with the cell. Each cell has 256 collection anodes mounted to it along the z axis with a spacing of 294 μ m. The drift regions are 35mm long and extend in the φ direction. To determine the $r\varphi$ coordinate, the drift velocity is monitored by MOS injectors in the substrate that are triggered during gaps in the LHC bunch crossing schedule so they do not interfere with collisions. The position is determined by integrating the velocity over the time measured at the anode. The effective cell length is $\leq 202\mu$ m. These detectors are able to measure the number of collected charge carriers, which is proportional to the energy deposited per unit length, dE/dx, and therefore can be used for PID. The two SDD layers are located 15.0 and 23.9 cm from the beam axis and have lengths of 443 and 593 mm in the z direction.

Finally, the SSDs each consist of a double layer of silicon strips placed at an angle of 35 mrad (≈ 2) relative to each other. When a particle crossing one of the SSDs yields a signal in both strip layers, the result will be a detection at the crossing point. The number of collected charge carriers is measured, again providing dE/dx information in the SSD. The strips have a width of 95 μ m. However, due to the arrangement of the strips, the effective resolution is better than what the width alone might predict in $r\varphi$, but worse in z. In total, 1.15×106 strips are used in the inner layer and 1.46×106 strips in the outer layer. The inner and outer SSD layers are located at 38 and 43 cm from the beam axis, respectively, and extend 86 and 98 cm in the z direction.

2.2.2 V0 Detector

The V0 detector is made up of two circular arrays of scintillator counters, with one at each of the forward regions of the ALICE detector. The array on the A side (V0A; opposite to the muon arm) is placed 300 cm from the collision vertex and covers the pseudorapidity region $2.8 < \eta < 5.1$. In order to accommodate the muon absorber, however, the V0C array is instead placed only 90 cm from the vertex, covering $-3.7 < \eta < -1.7$ (this is why V0C is visible in Fig. 4.2, but not V0A). Each array consists of 4 layers with 8 scintillators each, each covering a circular segment spanning 45 in azimuth. The resulting granularity is, while not fantastic, is sufficient for the main purpose of the v0 detector: Triggering and multiplicity measurements.

2.2.3 Time Projection Chamber

The Time Projection Chamber (TPC) is the largest tracking detector in ALICE. It as a gaseous detector that relies on the ionization of a gas for the detection of charged particles. A charged particles travels the gas, they create a trail of ionization. The electric field applied through the volume of the TPC causes the electrons (ions) to drift towards the

anode (cathode). In the ALICE TPC, thin wires with an applied voltage serve as anodes, resulting in a very strong magnetic field near the anode, which drops off as the distance from the anode increases. Electrons sufficiently accelerated in this field will give rise to secondary ionizations and a subsequent chain reaction known as avalanche multiplication. The detector system can then detect these induced voltage pulses at the cathode readout plane, but the voltage pulse will not stop until the ions with a much slower drift velocity than electrons are collected at the cathode, making the detector relatively slow. This process is illustrated in Fig. 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Principle of avalanche multiplication in a gas detector [76].

If there is insufficient voltage to cause such an avalanche, the energy deposited at the electrodes is proportional to the number of initial ionisations alone, and this is proportional to the energy deposited per unit length, dE/dx. This provides PID information. Consequently, the voltage of the anodes are lowered and placed such that they can be in state called "proportional mode".

The ALICE TPC has a cylindrical geometry surrounding the ITS. It has an inner radius of 85 cm, an outer radius of 250 cm, and an overall length of 500 cm. A longitudinal electric field is applied over the cylinder, divided in the center by a cathode plate. A voltage of 100 kV is applied between the center and endcaps; the resulting field strength within the detector volume is 400 V/cm. At the endcaps are Multi-Wire Proportional Chambers (MWPCs), arrays of anode wires operating in proportional mode. When a charged particle from the collision traverses the gas, electron-ion pairs will be created along its trajectory. Idealy, the field is longitudinal with minimal space charge distortions such that the electrons will be projected onto the endcaps, giving precise information about the (r, φ) coordinates of the trajectory. The drift velocity is carefully monitored using a laser system, which also detects inhomogeneities in the electric field. The laser system produces planes of tracks in the detector perpendicular to the electric field that make it easy to measure drift time as well as deviations caused by distortions. With a well determined drift velocity, the z coordinate is obtained by measuring the arrival time of the electrons. For the most frequently used TPC gas mixture – 85.7% Ne, 9.5% CO₂, and 4.8% N₂ – this results in an average drift velocity of 2.65 cm/ μ s for the electrons, or an overall drift time of 94 μ s for the longest drift distances. The endcaps are divided into 18 sectors, with four readout chambers each – two inner readout chambers (IROCs) and two outer readout chambers (OROCs). The wire density is higher for the IROCs as they are closer to the beam pipe, and the voltage applied is slightly lower. There are no anode wires between the sectors, resulting in gaps in the detector acceptance. The readout chambers have three layers of wires. The innermost wires are thin anode wires spaced 2.5 mm from each other. The middle layer consists of thicker cathode wires, where the ions released during avalanches are collected. The signal is read out from cathode pad planes, with a size in $(r, r\varphi)$ space ranging from 4×7.5 mm² in the IROCs to $6 \times 15 \text{ mm}^2$ in the outermost OROC sector. This results in a total number of 159 radial clusters [77].

The operation of the TPC is usually a delicate balance. If the voltage is too high in the normal operational mode, photons released in the de-excitation of gas ions may trigger additional avalanches that skew the initial signal. Another issue has to do with the recombination of ions and electrons at the electrodes, where gas atoms may again enter an excited and prolong the avalanche. To prevent this, a molecular component – usually CO_2 or an organic molecule – is added as a quencher to the gas. Unfortunately, at the high interaction rates delivered in Run 2, unexpectedly large space-charge distortions were observed at very specific regions of the TPC. They appeared at the boundaries between certain IROCs and deflect the ionization electrons towards these boundaries, leading to a bias in the measured space-point position and effectively decreasing the active readout area. It was suspected that insufficient insulation of some wires in this area could cause strong electric fields leading to amplification and therefore columns of ions drifting back from in between the readout chambers. After the TPC was brought to the surface at the beginning of LS2 indeed tips of anode wires sticking out of the ledges were found on all affected chambers near the expected radii [78]. A reduction of the distortions in the hot spots by a factor of about 4 was achieved with the special voltage settings in 2018 compared to 2015. These space charge distortions are shown in Fig. 2.6.

For the pp and p–Pb data used in this analysis, the TPC was not read out or was compromised for several runs. In order to maximize the statistics for the pp and p–Pb, ITS-only tracking was used, a first in ALICE for two-particle correlations. The performance of ITS-only tracking vs. the standard TPC+ITS tracking is discussed in detail in Sec. 4.5.1.



Figure 2.6: Measured space-charge distortions in $r\varphi$ near the central electrode are shown for Pb–Pb runs with high interaction rates in 2015 (upper plot) and 2018 (lower plot). For both runs the TPC was filled with argon. Note the different z-axis scales. [79]

2.2.4 Electromagnetic Calorimeter

The Electromagnetic Calorimeter (EMCal) and Di-Jet Calorimeter (DCal) were mainly designed to measure high $p_{\rm T}$ objects. Originally, the calorimeter system in ALICE was a layered lead-scintillator sampling calorimeter attached to wavelength shifting fibers for light collection [80], covering 107 in azimuth and $|\eta| < 0.7$ in pseudorapidity. However, in order to enable the study of di-jet-events using full jets (rather than jets reconstructed with charged particle tracking alone), the calorimeter system was extended in 2010 to also include the DCal. The DCal is approximately opposite in φ and uses the same design as the EMCal. The EMCal ond DCal are made up of 12288 and 5377 towers (also called cells), respectively. Each tower has a cross-sectional area approximately twice the Moli'ere radius of $\Delta \eta \times \Delta \varphi = 0.0143 \times 0.0143$ with a depth of 24.6 cm that corresponds to approximately 20 radiation lengths. The calorimeters are organized into modules comprised of 2×2 cells. These modules are further organized into 10 supermodules that are made up of up to 12×24 modules in the EMCal. Fig. 2.7 (left) shows the EMCal made up of these supermodules, while (right) shows the various components that make up a single module.



Figure 2.7: Left: The array of Super Modules shown in their installed positions on the support structure. Right: Exploded view drawing of EMCal module showing all components. Adapted from [81].

The wavelength shifting fibers are wired such that the scintillation light from each cell is read out by a $5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^2$ avalanche photodiode. The relative energy resolution of the calorimeter is $\sigma/E = 1.7\% \oplus 11.3\%/\sqrt{E} \oplus 4.8\%/E$ for the energy range of interest for this analysis (roughly 10-50 GeV/c).

2.2.5 Time of Flight Detector

The working principle of the TOF detector is to measure the time-of-flight from the interaction point of a particle in order to determine its velocity. Combined with the momentum information, one can extract the mass of the particle. The arrival time measurement is achieved by an array of Multi-gap Resistive-Plate Chambers (MRPCs). MRPCs are thin gaseous detector cells that have a high and uniform voltage of 6500V applied to them [82, 83]. These are divided into two half-cells, each further divided into five smaller modules blocked by resistive glass plates. The field is sufficiently strong enough such that avalanche multiplication can occur, and thus a particle traversing the cell gives rise to a detectable signal. The glass plates block the avalanches, in order to reduce the time jitter, which scales with the propagation distance. The signals from each gap sum up to the total signal, and using multiple gaps increases the signal strength. The achieved time resolution is about 40 ps.

The TOF detector has full azimuthal coverage and covers the pseudorapidity region of $|\eta| < 0.9$. The inner radius of the TOF is 370 cm with an active length of 741 cm. A total of 157,000 cells are arranged into 122×13 cm² strips and put in 18×5 modules (in (φ, z) space). The strips overlap each other to achieve full coverage within each module. In order



Figure 2.8: Working principle of a TOF detector cell. A charged particle entering the cell will give rise to avalanches in the gas, which are blocked by glass plates mounted inside the cell. The resulting electrons will be picked up at the anode, which divides the cell into two half cells. Adapted from [84].

to minimize the path length of particles coming from the collision, the modules are tilted so that each strip is facing the interaction point perpendicularly.

2.3 Central Barrel Tracking

A tracking algorithm must be used in order to reconstruct the particle tracks from hits in the detector. ALICE uses a Kalman filter algorithm. A Kalman filter uses a parametrisation of the track and optimises trajectories through the addition of additional space points. The algorithm is initiated with a seed, usually consisting of a few clusters in the outer layers of the TPC (the exception of course being the use of ITS-only tracking). An initial approximation of the track is made with the assumption that the track originates from the collision vertex, and is further extrapolated from hits in the SPD. The process is repeated by removing this constraint to account for the possibility that the track actually originates from a secondary vertex. The track information is continually improved by propagating the track *inwards* and adding additional space points within 4 standard deviations of the best guess of the trajectory while accounting for multiple scattering and energy loss inside detector material. After each iteration, the parameters of the trajectory as well as the covariance matrix of the parametrisation are updated to improve accuracy. If more than one detector hit satisfies the selection criteria, multiple different propagations are tested, and the tracks with the lowest χ^2 are selected at the end.

As the track is propagated from the outer edge of the TPC inwards, the tracking is further improved by adding hits from the ITS once the inner edge of the TPC is reached. For tracks where the primary vertex constraint has been lifted within the TPC, the same constraint is initially applied to ITS tracks, but repeated without the constraint as well: the higher precision of the ITS makes it possible to find secondary vertices that are much closer to the primary vertex. For tracks where the primary vertex constraint has already been lifted in the TPC, the ITS tracking is done once without imposing the constraint.

Once the track propagation is completed in both the TPC and the ITS, the Kalman filter algorithm is reversed by using track parameters from the first procedure as an initial guess, but this time starts from the innermost layer of the ITS and propagates *outwards*. The second iteration is applied in order to remove outliers from the initial track propagation. Once this iteration reaches the outer edge of the TPC, there is an option to incorporate hits from the other detector subsystems such as the Transition Radiation Detector (TRD), and eventually the TOF (as well as others), but this option is not used in this analysis. The main analysis of this thesis uses ITS-only tracking due to the space charge distortions of the time projection chamber discussed in Sec. 2.2.3. This results in tracks with fewer space points as input to the Kalman filter track reconstruction, but the performance was found to be comparable to the traditional ITS+TPC Hybrid tracking low multiplicity pp and p–Pb, Sec. 4.5.1.

2.4 Triggering System

ALICE is capable of operating at an event rate of a few kHz. The LHC bunch crossing rate, however, is 40 MHz. Even though not all bunch crossings result in a collision, an extensive triggering system is required to reduce the event rate and ensure all particles detected in an event are in fact from the same collision. This is needed despite the that fact that during pp collisions, the accelerator is actually tuned such that the luminosity at ALICE is $\mathcal{L} \approx 10^{30} - 10^{31} \text{cm}^{-2} \text{s}^{-1}$, much lower than at ATLAS or CMS with a luminosity of $\mathcal{L} \approx 10^{30} - 10^{31} \text{cm}^{-2} \text{s}^{-1}$. This reduces pile-up, but also the effective collision rate [85].

The V0 and SPD detectors are the most important detector subsystems for triggering. The trigger input is handled by the Central Trigger Processor (CTP) that sends a command to all active detectors once it receives a successful trigger. There are three levels of triggers: L0, L1, and L2, and events are only accepted if the highest level, L2, triggers successively. The L0 trigger is simply synchronised with the LHC bunch crossing clock and includes the fastest inputs processed within 1.2 μ s after the collision. Additional inputs that take longer than 1.2 μ s and up to 6.5 μ s are handled by the L1 trigger. The L2 trigger then handles all the slower inputs, with the restriction that it must be completed before the TPC needs to be read out, less than 88 μ s after the collision.

The signals used by the trigger depend on the trigger configuration. One important configuration is minimum bias (MB), that selects against non-collisions. The MB trigger requires a hit in the both the V0A and V0C detectors. In order to reduce beam-gas events, additional requirements on the V0 timing information and on the correlation between the number of tracklets and clusters in the SPD are enforced. MB events are used in this

analysis in the event mixing as well as in the ITS only tracking validation. Another trigger configuration is EG1, as well as EG2. These triggers require a hit in the EMCal up to a certain threshold before tracks can be read out for the event. For EG1, this threshold is 11 GeV/c, and 5 GeV/c for EG2.

Once the CTP receives a successful trigger, the CTP will begin a series of read-out operations for each active detector until eventually the trigger input is recorded locally at a Local Data Concentrator (LDC). During this processing, the read-out system will of course be busy, and a signal will be sent to the CTP that blocks triggering until the detectors are ready again. Some of the data from this read-out process are duplicated and sent to the High Level Trigger, where it is processed and decided whether the event should be stored permanently or rejected. This is the final triggering stage. If accepted, the data are compressed by rejecting irrelevant information and the remaining event data sent to Global Data Concentrators (GDCs) through the Data Acquisition (DAQ) system. The whole event is built from detector readouts in the GDCs, and is stored in first in Transient Data Storage. Some of the data is also processed online through data quality monitoring and detector algorithms to further reject bad quality events. For run two, the data quality monitoring is manual, and if there is a deterioration in quality, the shift leader may decide to stop a run until the problem is resolved. After all checks are passed, the data, several TB to PB, will be sent to the GRID for final storage, post-processing, and to be copied to tape.

Chapter 3

Data Analysis

3.1 Analysis Summary

This analysis uses the data collected during the $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5$ TeV p–Pb run in 2013 and during the $\sqrt{s} = 5$ TeV pp run in 2017. The EMCal trigger was used to select events with a high-momentum calorimeter cluster, a photon $p_{\rm T}$ range of 12–40 GeV/c.

The signal for this analysis, is "prompt" photons, which include "direct photons" and "fragmentation photons". At leading order in perturbative QCD, the direct photons are produced in hard scattering processes such as quark-gluon Compton scattering $(qg \rightarrow q\gamma)$ or quark-antiquark annihilation $(q\bar{q} \rightarrow g\gamma)$, whereas the fragmentation photons are the product of the collinear fragmentation of a parton $(q\bar{q}(gg) \rightarrow \gamma + X)$. At LHC energies, Compton scattering and gluon fusion $(gg \rightarrow q\bar{q}\gamma)$ dominate due to the high-gluon density in the proton at small values of Bjorken-x.

Beyond the simplistic leading order picture, the direct and fragmentation components have no physical meaning and cannot be factorized; the sum of their cross sections is the physical observable. For example, the separation between the NLO direct photons and LO fragmentation is arbitrary. However, it is still possible to simplify comparisons with theoretical calculations by applying an isolation criteria. The isolation variable used is the sum of the transverse momentum of the charged particles that are inside an angular cone of radius $R = \sqrt{(\Delta \phi)^2 + (\Delta \eta)^2} = 0.4$ around the photon direction, after subtracting the underlying event.

The main background for this analysis are photons from meson decays, which we will call "decay photons" or γ^{decay} . The challenge faced in this measurement arises mainly from the small cross-section of the signal compared to that of the decay photon background (about 1% at 10 GeV/c increasing to about 4% at 30 GeV/c, according to next-to-leading order calculations [86]).

This measurement exploits the difference between the electromagnetic shower profiles of prompt photons and of photon pairs from neutral-meson decays. The clusters that pass the isolation and shower shape selections are referred to as isolated γ candidates or " γ^{iso} candi-

dates".

The main background within the γ^{iso} candidate population are from multi-jet events where one jet typically contains a π^0 or η that carries most of the jet energy and is misidentified as a photon because it decays into a photon pair that is collinear with respect to the EMCal cell granularity ($\Delta \eta \times \Delta \phi \approx 14.3 \times 14.3 \text{ mrad}^2$), that is, the two photons are close enough to deposit most of their energy in the same cell and appear as a single shower. Another prominent source of background is very asymmetric neutral meson decays.

The signal purity of the γ^{iso} selection is measured by using the "template-fit method", in which the measured shower-shape distribution is fit with the sum of signal and background templates with the relative normalization as the single free parameter¹. The background template is mostly data-driven, calculated with an anti-isolated sideband (described in Section 3.7), but a Monte-Carlo based correction is applied to account for biases such as the correlation between shower shape and isolation selections. The signal template is obtained from photon-jet simulation. The purity of our γ^{iso} selection is measured to be around 20% at 12 GeV/c and increases to about 55% at 20 GeV/c and above.

Next, the angular correlation of the γ^{iso} candidates with charged particles is measured. The γ^{decay} -hadron correlation function is measured by inverting the shower-shape cut to select merged-clusters from meson decays, and is called the *Background Region* correlation function. Both the signal and background region photon-hadron correlations are corrected for geometrical pair acceptance effects using the mixed-event technique. Afterwards, the γ^{decay} -hadron correlation is normalized using the measured purity and subtracted from the normalized main γ^{iso} candidate correlations in a process labelled "correlated background subtraction".

After this correlated background subtraction, the uncorrelated background, estimated by the zero-yield-at-minimum (ZYAM) method [89] and checked by using a control region at large $|\eta^{\text{hadron}} - \eta^{\gamma}|$ is subtracted from the main γ^{iso} candidate correlation function. Finally, the away-side of the resulting correlation function is integrated to determine the number of correlated hadrons per γ^{iso} , i.e. to measure the conditional yield of hadrons. This analysis is performed with photons with $12 < p_{\text{T}} < 40 \text{ GeV}/c$, and in intervals of charged particle p_{T} and $z_{\text{T}} \equiv p_{\text{T}h}/p_{\text{T}}^{\gamma^{\text{iso}}}$.

One of the novel aspects of this analysis is the use of ITS standalone tracking. This approach was developed in order to bypass the serious space-charge distortions that compromised the TPC during the high-luminosity p–Pb data taking in 2013^2 . The use of large hadron $p_{\rm T}$ bins makes the significantly poorer momentum resolution of ITS-only tracking acceptable in this analysis. Furthermore, the ITS-only tracking allowed the 2017 pp run to operate in the CALO mode that yielded a much larger sample than would have been possible otherwise.

¹Note that this is an standard way to estimate QCD background since at least the Tevatron days. The same exact method is used in the CMS γ^{iso} and γ^{iso} -jet measurements in pp and PbPb data, for example in [87, 88].

²For details, see https://alice.its.cern.ch/jira/browse/ATO-351, https://alice.its.cern.ch/jira/browse/PWGPP-349, https://alice.its.cern.ch/jira/browse/PWGPP-314

The performance of the ITS-standalone tracking (fake rate, efficiency and momentum smearing) was validated by measuring the charged particle spectrum and comparing it with published ALICE measurements at the same center-of-mass energy. These studies showed an agreement between the ITS-standalone measurement and the published data to within $\approx \pm 5\%$ of the corresponding published data for the range $0.5 < p_{\rm T} < 10 \text{ GeV}/c$, which is the relevant range in this analysis.

One of the main considerations of the larger analysis strategy was to minimize the use of Monte Carlo simulations. By using an isolation variable constructed using only charged particles, the correlations between isolation and shower-shape variables due to the opening angle of neutral-meson decays has been reduced, at the expense of a slightly lower purity. In the template fit analysis, checks were performed that are independent of any input from simulations, suggesting the template fit is not sensitive to the detailed simulation of the exact shower-shape distributions. Moreover, the analysis measures per-trigger quantities such that there is no need to correct for the efficiency of the γ^{iso} selection.

While an effort was made to collect and use the largest data samples available by pioneering a high-rate data taking mode with ITS+EMCal, the measurement still turns out to be dominated by statistical uncertainties.

3.2 Datasets

The datasets used in this analysis include the high-luminosity runs of the 2013 p–Pb run (13d,e,f) and the 2017 pp run (17q) that were collected with EMCal triggers, which are listed in Table 3.1.

Dataset	Trigger Strings
p–Pb	CEMC7EG1-B-NOPF-CENTNOTRD, CEMC7EG2-B-NOPF-CENTNOTRD,
pp	CEMC7EG2-B-NOPF-CALO, CDMC7DG2-B-NOPF-CALO,
	CEMC7EG2-B-NOPF-CENT, CDMC7DG2-B-NOPF-CENT

Table 3.1: EMCal triggers used in this analysis.

The EMCal gamma trigers (EG1, EG2, DG1, DG2) are based on the summed energy in 2×2 adjacent tiles (a tile is composed of an EMCal module, 2×2 adjacent cells). The trigger thresholds were 7 and 11 GeV/c during the 2013 p–Pb run and 5 GeV/c during the 2017 pp run.

Due to the 2-in-1 magnet design of the LHC, which requires the same magnetic rigidity for both colliding beams, the beams had different energies during the p–Pb run ($E_{\rm p} = 4$ TeV, $E_{\rm Pb} = 4$ TeV×Z, where Z = 82 is the atomic number of lead). In the lead nucleus, the energy per nucleon was therefore 1.56 TeV = $(Z/A) \times 4$ TeV, where A = 208 is the nuclear mass number of the lead isotope used. This energy asymmetry results in an average nucleon–nucleon center of mass collision energy of $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5$ TeV and a rapidity boost of this frame by ±0.465 units relative to the ALICE rest frame in the direction of proton beam. Around halfway through the 2013 p–Pb run, the beam directions were flipped, yielding similar integrated luminosities in both beam configurations.

During the 2013 p–Pb run period, the TPC suffered from space-charge distortions³ that affect tracking performance, leading to a very drastic drop in efficiency for tracks with $p_{\rm T} > 4$ GeV/c. We bypass this issue by using ITS-only tracking as detailed in Section 3.8. For the 2017 pp data, the TPC was also inactive due to the high luminosity of the runs considered in this analysis. We use the 17q period, during which all six layers of the ITS were active.

The average number of inelastic collisions per bunch crossing, μ , is 0.020–0.060 for the 2013 p–Pb data set and in the range 0.015–0.045 for the 2017 pp dataset ⁴.

3.3 Monte Carlo simulations

We use Monte Carlo (MC) simulations to obtain the signal shower-shape distributions for the template fits (Section 3.7), separate set of corrections to the background templates (Section 4.4.1), and to study tracking performance (Section 3.8).

The simulations of hard processes are based on the PYTHIA event generator [90]. In PYTHIA, the signal events are included via $2 \rightarrow 2$ matrix elements with $gq \rightarrow \gamma q$ and $q\bar{q} \rightarrow \gamma g$ hard scatterings, defined at the leading order, followed by the leading-logarithm approximation of the partonic shower. The soft underlying events in pp collisions as well as fragmentation are included with the default PYTHIA models.

For the simulation of p–Pb events, the pp samples are embedded into p–Pb inelastic events generated with DPMJET. The boost of $\Delta y = +0.465$ in the direction of the proton beam is reproduced.

Table 3.2 shows the MC simulations used in this analysis. Each sample is simulated with the detector configuration appropriate for the runs used in this analysis. Being anchored to a data taking period means that the detector response and beam conditions of the period were also replicated in the MC simulation.

Name	Configuration
17g6a3	p–Pb, 5 TeV, PYTHIA8 Jet-Jet +DPMJET anchored to 13def
17g6a1	p–Pb, 5 TeV, PYTHIA8 Gamma-Jet +DPMJET anchored to 13d,e,f
13b2	p–Pb, 5 TeV, DPMJET anchored to LHC13b,c
18b10a(b)_calo	pp 5 TeV, Pythia8 Gamma-Jet anchored to 17p/q
18l2a(b)	pp 5 TeV, Pythia8 Jet-Jet anchored to $17p/q$

Table 3.2: Monte Carlo simulations used in this analysis.

³For more information on the problems with space-charge distortions due to high-luminosity in p–Pb run, see: https://alice.its.cern.ch/jira/browse/PWGPP-314.

⁴This information can be found in http://aliqaevs.web.cern.ch/aliqaevs/data/2013/LHC13d/ pass4/global_properties.pdf and http://aliqaevs.web.cern.ch/aliqaevs/data/2017/LHC17q/ cpass1_pass1/global_properties.pdf

3.4 Event Selection

The following event selection criteria is used to ensure good event quality and uniform acceptance:

- The run passes Quality Assurance (QA) for EMCal and ITS.
- At least one EMCal cluster with $p_{\rm T} > 12 \text{ GeV}/c$.
- At least one of the EMCal clusters match the triggers from Table 3.1.
- Valid vertex ($|z| \neq 0.0$) and 0 < |z| < 10 cm

We use the same criteria on the DCal (used in the 17q dataset), we use EMCal in text for brevity. The number of events that pass our selection in each sample is shown in Table 3.3. We report the events selected for each trigger separately, as well as the logical OR combination. In p–Pb events, the number of events is dominated by the EG1 trigger (11 GeV/c threshold), and by the EG2 trigger (5 GeV/c) in pp collisions.

Table 3.3: Number of events that passed our full event selection for each of data taking period used in this analysis. The numbers are also shown separately for EG1 (DG1) and EG2 (DG2) triggers.

Dataset	$\mathrm{N}^{\mathrm{EG1} \mathrm{EG2}}$	N^{EG1}	N^{EG2}
13d 13e	134024	133326	12528
	198108	196745	22409
13f	340607	338198	38353
13f_new	241870	240074	30310
Dataset 17q	N ^{EG2 DG2}	N^{EG2}	N^{DG2}
	406934	301086	119498

3.5 Calorimeter Cluster Reconstruction

3.5.1 Definition

EMCal clusters are formed by a clustering algorithm that combines signals from adjacent towers. We use calorimeter clusters defined with the "V1" algorithm. This algorithm starts from a "seed" cell, found from a local-maximum scan, and adds "neighbor" cells to the cluster if they are above a given threshold. The cluster definition is exclusive, i.e. once a cell is assigned to a cluster, it is not considered for other clusters. The minimum energy for the seed and neighbor were set to 500 and 100 MeV respectively; these values are several times larger than the standard deviation of the electronic noise⁵.

 $^{^{5}}$ Some photon analysis use a 50 MeV threshold, but 100 MeV has been found to improve cell time measurements. The 100 MeV threshold has been used for example in [91].

3.5.2 Corrections

We apply several corrections at the cell level, implemented within the "EMCal Correction Framework,"⁶ before the clustering algorithm is run over the data and simulations. The following corrections are applied:

• "CellEnergy"

This performs an energy calibration of cells, with coefficients obtained with $\pi^0 \to \gamma \gamma$ mass measurements.

• "CellBadChannel"

This removes cells that have been declared hot or dead for a given run period.

• "CellTimeCalib"

Applies maximum thresholds to the cell time measurements to minimize spread between cells.

• "CellEmulateCrosstalk".

This correction, described in detail in [92], modifies the simulated cell energies to emulate the cell cross-talk that has been observed in data. This is applied to all the simulations described in Table 3.2.

3.5.3 Cluster Selection Cuts

The following selection is applied on the resulting clusters⁷:

- Cluster $p_{\rm T}$ cut: $12 < p_{\rm T} < 40 \ {\rm GeV}/c$.
- Cluster pseudorapidity: $|\eta| < 0.67$ The cluster pseudorapidity is corrected for the position of the primary interaction vertex.
- Number of cells cut: $N_{cell} \ge 2$ This requirement removes clusters that are likely dominated by noise.
- Exoticity cut: $E_{\rm cross}/E_{\rm cluster} > 5\%$

We remove "exotic" or "spiky" clusters likely coming from slow neutrons or highlyionizing particles hitting the avalanche photo-diode of a cell by a requirement on the ratio of the summed energy around the leading cell to the total cluster energy.

• Cluster time cut: |t| < 20 [ns] We require a cluster time measurement of |t| < 20 ns to remove out-of-bunch pileup.

⁶http://alidoc.cern.ch/AliPhysics/master/_r_e_a_d_m_eemc_corrections.html

⁷This event selection also closely follows previous and concurrent isolated-photon spectra analyses in pp and p–Pb data. A thank you to Alwina Liu for her work on obtaining the optimal selection of cuts for this analysis. Please see her UC Berkeley Thesis on Isolated Photon Jet Correlations.

- Number of local maxima cut: $N_{LM} < 3$ This cuts suppresses background and improves the MC simulation description of the background [93].
- Distance seed-cell to bad-channel ≥ 1 cells.

Figures 3.1 and 3.2 show the distribution of the variables used in the cluster selection and the effect of sequential selection ("cut flow") for the p–Pb and pp data respectively. Table 3.4 shows a summary of the effect of sequential selection on the number of selected clusters in both pp and p–Pb data.



Figure 3.1: Distribution of variables used in the cluster selection of p–Pb data. The red vertical lines represent the cuts used. The cluster cuts get applied sequentially, i.e. the clusters cut with a given variable do not appear in the next.


Figure 3.2: Distribution of variables used in the cluster selection in pp data. The red vertical lines represent the cuts used. The cluster cuts get applied sequentially, i.e. the clusters cut with a given variable do not appear in the next.

Table 3.4: Number of clusters, with $12 < p_{\rm T} < 40 \text{ GeV}/c$, that pass our selection in 2013 p–Pb and 2017 pp data. The cuts are applied in a cumulative fashion, (see text).

Selection	p–Pb data	pp data	
$\overline{ \eta < 0.67}$	714834	385220	
$E_{\rm cross}/E_{\rm cluster} > 5\%$	613560	323750	
$N_{\text{cell}} \ge 2$	613560	323750	
$N_{LM} < 3$	443102	231490	
$ t < 20 \; [ns]$	441639	171470	
Distance-to-bad channel ≥ 1	441639	171470	
ISO < 1.5 GeV/c	137895	58638	
$0.1 < \sigma_{\rm long}^2 < 0.3$	40027	16628	

3.6 Isolated Prompt Photon Selection

⁸Photons are observed in their final state as a reconstructed cluster in the calorimeter. A key challenge of this measurement is the relatively small cross section of prompt photons compared to decay photons. In order to reduce the background of decay photons, and to identify prompt photons, a combination of isolation and electromagnetic shower profile selections are made. To select against photons from neutral-meson decays or fragmentation processes, a shower profile selection and isolation requirement are applied to these clusters.

The primary background for this measurement are photons from the 2-body decay channel of neutral mesons π^{0} 's. A π^{0} with a higher $p_{\rm T}$ will decay with a smaller opening angle between the two decay photons. As the opening angle becomes smaller, the electromagnetic showers from the decay photons get closer together in the EMCal until they begin to overlap. For this reason, photons from π^{0} decays begin to merge into a single cluster in the EMCal above approximately 6 GeV/c. This cluster, made up of two showers from decay photons, will therefore tend to have a more elongated shower profile than a cluster resulting from a single, ideally prompt, photon. Thus, in order reject clusters produced by two photons from a meson decay, and select clusters from single photons, we select clusters using variables that encode the shape of the calorimeter shower.

A variable that encodes the shape of a cluster's electromagnetic shower profile for this purpose is σ_{long}^2 . The σ_{long}^2 variable is defined as the square of the larger eigenvalue of the energy distribution in the $\eta - \varphi$ plane:

$$\sigma_{\text{long}}^2 = (\sigma_{\varphi\varphi}^2 + \sigma_{\eta\eta}^2)/2 + \sqrt{(\sigma_{\varphi\varphi}^2 - \sigma_{\eta\eta}^2)/4 + \sigma_{\varphi\eta}^2}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where $\sigma_{ij}^2 = \langle ij \rangle - \langle i \rangle \langle j \rangle$ are the covariance matrix elements; the integers i, j are cell indices in η and φ axes; $\langle ij \rangle$ and $\langle i \rangle$, $\langle j \rangle$ are the second and the first moments of the cluster position cell. The position is weighted by max (log($E_{\text{cell}}/E_{\text{cluster}}$) - $w_0, 0$). Following previous work [94], the cutoff in the log-weighting is chosen to be $w_0 = -4.5$. Cells that contain less than $e^{-4.5} = 1.1\%$ of the total cluster energy are not considered in the σ_{long}^2 calculation. Thus, σ_{long}^2 discriminates between clusters belonging to single photons, having a σ_{long}^2 distribution which is narrow and symmetric, and merged photons from neutral meson decays, which are asymmetric and have a distribution dominated by a long tail towards higher values.

Most single-photon clusters yield $\sigma_{\text{long}}^2 \approx 0.25$, shown later in Figs. 3.11 and 3.12 where the signal is displayed in blue. Consequently, a cluster selection of $\sigma_{\text{long}}^2 < 0.30$ is applied irrespective of p_{T} . Simulations indicate that this results in a signal efficiency of about 90% with no significant p_{T} dependence.

Fig. 3.3 shows an example of a cluster with an elongated shower profile with a large σ_{long}^2 , and a narrow, symmetric cluster with a smaller σ_{long}^2 .

⁸Credit: Alwina Liu



Figure 3.3: Cartoon of a narrow EM shower profile with a small $\sigma_{\text{long}}^2(\text{left})$, and an elongated shower profile with a larger σ_{long}^2 .

3.6.1 Photon Isolation Requirement

At leading order in pQCD, prompt photons are produced in $2\rightarrow 2$ processes surrounded by very little hadronic activity, in contrast to fragmentation photons and high $p_{\rm T} \pi^0$'s found within a jet. Beyond leading order, the direct and fragmentation components cannot be factorized. As a result, the sum of their cross sections becomes the physical observable.

Despite this, the contribution from fragmentation photons can be suppressed by enforcing an isolation criteria, where the energy surrounding a photon must be less than a certain threshold. Theoretical calculations can also be simplified through the use of an isolation requirement. [95]. This also has the benefit of suppressing the background from decays of neutral mesons often found within jets.

The simplest definition of isolation is defined as the scalar sum of the transverse momentum of charged particles within an angular radius, $R = \sqrt{(\Delta \varphi)^2 + (\Delta \eta)^2}$, around the cluster direction. This measurement uses R = 0.4, which is a common value used in various jet measurements.

$$p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso,raw} = \sum_{\rm track \in \Delta R < 0.4} p_{\rm T}^{\rm track}$$
(3.2)

This does not, however, take into account the energy arising from the underlying event, described in the following section.

3.6.2 Underlying Event Estimation for Photon Isolation

The underlying event (UE) is defined as the sum of all processes that make up the final hadronic state in a collision, excluding the leading order hard scattering. When the two nuclei, Lorentz contracted into discs tiny fraction of a femtometer thick, collide, a small fraction of the incident partons suffer hard perturbative interactions as the discs overlap initially. Most of the incident partons, however, lose some energy but are not deflected by any large angle. Most of these interactions are soft and involve small transverse momentum transfer. In the language of fields and particles, as the two discs of strongly interacting transverse color fields and associated color charges collide, some color charge exchange occurs between the discs. Longitudinal color fields are produced, which fill the space between the two receding discs, reducing the energy in the discs themselves. The fields then decay into $q\bar{q}$ pairs and gluons. These processes are made up of multi-parton interactions, initial and final state radiation, and also include measured beam fragments. Essentially, the underlying event is made up of all the particles not directly associated with the initial hard scattering of the collision.

Here we describe the method used to estimate the underlying event for the purposes of correcting the isolation requirement (not to be confused with the later section 3.9.7, where the contribution from the underlying event to the azimuthal correlation measurement is described).

We use the jet area/median method⁹ which estimates the underlying event energy density, ρ , from the median of the distribution of the transverse momentum densities of the jets in the event [96]. Jets are reconstructed by running the $k_{\rm T}$ reconstruction algorithm over all charged particles in the event, using a resolution parameter of R = 0.3. The $k_{\rm T}$ algorithm is used here in place of the more standard anti- $k_{\rm T}$ as it groups particles with the lowest momentum first to construct the jet. This makes the $k_{\rm T}$ algorithm more sensitive to the softer objects in the event, and therefore more suitable for studying the underlying event. The transverse momentum density of each jet is simply the momentum of the jet divided by its area, determined by the sum of the voronoi cells of each particle within the jet. A voronoi cell is the region for each "seed", or particle, that consists of all points in the same plane that are closer to that seed than to any other, an example of which is shown in Fig. 3.4.

This median calculation is described in Eq. 3.3:

$$\rho = \operatorname{med}\left\{\frac{\sum_{i \in J'_k} p_{T,i}}{\sum_{i \in J'_k} A_i}\right\}$$
(3.3)

where $p_{T,i}$ is the transverse momentum, and A_i the Voronoi area of the particle *i* within the jet, J'_k , reconstructed for UE estimation purpose. The median is determined from all jets in the event with the important exception of the two leading (highest moment) jets in the event, as those are most often associated with the hard scattering of the collision. This therefore assumes that most of the charged particles in the event is made up of soft particles, and that most of charged particles originating from the hard scattering of the collisions are reasonably contained within the leading jets of the event [96].

⁹From the FASTJET software packace::VoronoiAreaSpec http://www.fastjet.fr/repo/doxygen-2.4. 5/classfastjet_1_1VoronoiAreaSpec.html



Figure 3.4: An example 20 points and their Voronoi cells



Figure 3.5: Distribution of the median charged-particle transverse momentum density, ρ , in pp and p–Pb data, for a minimum-bias selection (left panel) and in photon-triggered events (right panel).

The charged-particle density, ρ , is calculated for each event. Figure 3.6.2 shows the distribution of ρ for minimum bias and gamma-triggered events in pp and p–Pb. Average values are 3.2 GeV/c in photon- triggered events in p–Pb and 1.6 GeV/c in pp collisions, demonstrating the a larger underlying event activity in p–Pbcompared to pp.

The mean and standard deviation for each distribution is shown in Table 3.5. The difference in UE-density in p–Pb is expected due to the increased number of nucleon-nucleon collisions. The UE-densities shown here are still about a factor of 50 lower than in central Pb-Pb collisions.

Table 3.5: Median transverse momentum density mean and standard deviation in minimumbias and and photon-triggered events in pp and p–Pb data, calculated with negligible statistical uncertainties.

	pp minbias	pp γ -trigger	p–Pb minbias	p–Pb γ -trigger
$\langle \rho \rangle$	$0.49~{ m GeV}/c$	$1.51 \ { m GeV}/c$	$1.56 ~{ m GeV}/c$	$3.19~{ m GeV}/c$
$\sigma_{ ho}$	$0.47~{ m GeV}/c$	$0.85~{ m GeV}/c$	$1.32 \ { m GeV}/c$	$1.60~{ m GeV}/c$

3.6.3 UE Correction to Isolation Variable

For each cluster in the event, the underlying event is subtracted using the measured chargedparticle density ρ that is calculated event-by-event as described in Section 3.6.2, and given in Equation 3.4. The result is an average subtraction for the isolation cone of R = 0.4 is about 1.6 GeV/c and 0.8 GeV/c for p–Pb and pp collisions, with a standard deviation of 0.9 GeV/c and 0.4 GeV/c, respectively.

$$p_T^{\text{iso}} = p_T^{\text{iso,raw}} - \rho \times \pi (0.4)^2.$$
 (3.4)

For photons near the edge of the detector, the isolation energy requirement is scaled to account for any missing area in the isolation cone¹⁰. A check on on this scaling procedure was also done in Section 4.9.

Figure 3.6 shows the isolation distribution before and after underlying event subtraction for p–Pb and pp collisions. The distributions have a positive tail that decreases exponentially. The difference between the p–Pb and pp distribution at low $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso}$ values can be attributed to the effect of enhanced soft-particle production in p–Pb collisions, i.e. a larger underlying event due to the presence of the pPb nucleus. The underlying event subtraction modifies the isolation distribution only slightly at high $p_{\rm T}$. At low $p_{\rm T}$, however, the distributions show a negative tail after subtraction, which arises from an over-subtraction of the underlying event. This occurs due to region-to-region fluctuations in the underlying event, where a cluster contains an energy density that is smaller than the median calculated according to Section 3.6.2. In both cases, this tail falls by more than three orders of magnitude by

¹⁰The final isolated photon-hadron correlations are normalized to the number of reconstructed photons. As a result, the γ^{iso} efficiency was not studied in detail.

 $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso}=-3~{\rm GeV}/c,$ indicating that over-subtraction is a small effect for photons above 12 ${\rm GeV}/c.$



Figure 3.6: Cluster isolation before and after underlying event subtraction in p–Pb (left panel) and pp (right panel) collisions.

The left panel of Figure 3.7 shows the distribution of cluster isolation after UE subtraction for photon-jet and dijet simulations of p–Pb data (see Table 3.2). The distributions exhibit different behavior: whereas the dijet simulation shows a prominent exponential tail at large $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso}$ values, the photon-jet simulation shows a more Gaussian-like shape that is mostly symmetric with the exception of a very small fraction of events that have large $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso}$ values. In both cases, however, the negative tail falls rather sharply, as it arises from region-to-region fluctuations of the UE just as in data.



Figure 3.7: Isolation distribution of clusters that pass our selection in p–Pb photon-jet and dijet simulations, and corresponding cumulative distribution. Two vertical lines at $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} = 1.5$ GeV/c (green) and $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} = 5.0$ GeV/c are shown in the right panel for reference.

The cumulative distributions (Figure 3.7, right panel) show that a $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} < 1.5 {\rm ~GeV}/c$ selection keeps about 90% of the signal and rejects about 60% of the background. This relatively loose photon isolation criteria is used in order to reduce the dependence of the results on the details of the simulation of the detector noise, tracking resolution, and the underlying event.

3.6.4 Remaining Background after Isolated Photon Selection

This isolation cut of $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} < 1.5 \ {\rm GeV}/c$ is used in conjunction with the shower-shape cut of $0 < \sigma_{\rm long}^2 < 0.3$ to complete the isolated-photon selection or " $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ selection". The population of clusters that pass this selection are labelled " $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ -candidates" (rather than simply "prompt photons") because there is still a significant fraction of remaining background. Some other sources of background not yet mentioned arise from charged-to-neutral fluctuations of jet fragmentation that leads to low observable $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso}$ selection arise from multi-jet events where one jet typically contains a π^0 or η which carries most of the jet energy, and is therefore surrounded by relatively less energy within the jet. The pair is also frequently misidentified as a single photon because it decays into a pair of photons that are collinear with respect to the EMCal cell granularity, or are sufficiently asymmetric that the softer partner is missed. The first indication of this is shown in Figure 3.7, where approximately 40% of the dijet cross section (expressed as a cumulative probability as a function of cluster isolation, shown in blue) is within $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} < 1.5 {\rm GeV}/c$.

Figure 3.8 expands on this. The left panel shows the isolated photon differential cross section as a function of $p_T^{\gamma^{\text{iso}}}$ in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV measured by the ALICE detector. The right panel of Figure shows the differential cross section of charged jets as a function of p_T^{jet} . The cross section for an isolated photon at $p_T=20$ GeV/c is roughly 2nb GeV/c⁻¹. In contrast, the cross section for charged jets at $p_T=20$ GeV/c is roughly 2×10^{-3} mb GeV/c⁻¹, approximately three orders of magnitude larger. The stark difference in magnitude between the isolated photon and charged jet cross sections speaks to the rarity of isolated photons in these collisions and the abundance of background and illustrates the need to measure the purity of our γ^{iso} -candidate selection.

Of course, jets containing a neutral meson with a large fraction of its total momentum make up only a fraction of the total jet cross section, and recoil partons produced from the same hard scattering as prompt photons will contribute to the total charged jet cross section.

3.7 Purity

The isolation and shower shape selections remove the bulk of the neutral meson decay background, but a substantial fraction of the γ^{iso} candidates are still background photons. It is therefore necessary to quantify the ratio of true signal photons in our candidate sample



Figure 3.8: (Left) Differential cross section as a function of $p_{\rm T}^{\gamma^{\rm iso}}$ in $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV pp collisions [97]. (Right) Differential cross section of charged jets for various reconstruction algorithms [98].

in order to properly subtract it. The estimate of the ratio of true signal photons in our γ^{iso} sample is called the *purity*.¹¹

3.7.1 The Template Fit Method

The purity of the isolated photon sample is determined with a two-component template fit, a method used by the CMS collaboration in [99]. The distribution of the shower shape variable for the isolated cluster sample is fit to a linear combination of a signal distribution and the background distribution. The shape of the signal distribution is determined by a photon-jet simulation (see Table 3.2) and the shape of the background distribution is determined from data using an anti-isolated sideband¹² with an additional correction computed from a dijet simulation.

The shape of the background distribution of the shower-shape for isolated clusters is estimated with a *sideband* technique: the shower shape distribution of clusters from isolated decay photons is estimated with clusters that are anti-isolated but pass all other selection criteria. This method assumes that the correlation between the isolation variable and shower shape variable can be corrected for; the procedure for doing so is described below. The signal and sideband regions defined using the isolation variable are illustrated in Figure 3.9.

For simplicity, the same definitions are used for pp and p–Pb data. The lower bound of the sideband region is defined as ISO = 5 GeV/c; according to photon-jet simulations, less

¹¹For a more rigorous discussion of the Purity calculation, please see Alwina Liu's UC Berkeley Thesis.

¹²The inversion of an isolation cut to estimate QCD background is a standard technique in several measurements at the LHC and previous hadron colliders.



Figure 3.9: Isolation variable distribution of clusters with $p_{\rm T}$ between 12 and 16 GeV/c in p–Pb data (left panel) and pp data (right panel). The green shaded are represents the signal region (ISO < 1.5 GeV/c); the red represent the sideband (5 < ISO < 10 GeV/c) used to estimate the background template.

than 1% of prompt photons are beyond this range. The upper bound is chosen such that the sideband is as narrow as possible, to minimize a possible bias to the shower-shape distribution due to a positive correlation with ISO, while still containing a number of clusters comparable to the signal region. A more rigorous study on the sensitivity of our purity estimate on the choice of sideband region is shown in Section 4.4.3.

Figure 3.10 summarizes the signal and background templates used in the template fit. The distributions are quite different, which is key for the stability of the template fit. The background shape in the σ_{long}^2 variable shows a peak in the single-shower region but a "bump" that reflects a π^0 peak. In both cases, the peaks in the single-shower region that are observed in the background templates come mostly from collinear $\pi^0 \to \gamma\gamma$ decays.

The background template is corrected for a bias due to correlations between the showershape and isolation variables [100]. This correlation leads to clusters in the isolation sideband having a somewhat higher hadronic activity than the true isolated background. Consequently, a background template constructed from this sideband region has an increased number of background-like clusters and purity values obtained using this systematically overestimate the true purity. A correction for this bias, $R(\sigma_{long}^2)$, is determined using dijet simulated events which also contain the correlation between trigger photon shower-shape and isolation cut. The ratio of the shower-shape distributions of clusters in the signal (Iso, $p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} < 1.5 \text{ GeV}/c$) region and sideband (Anti-iso, $5.0 < p_{\rm T}^{\rm iso} < 10.0 \text{ GeV}/c$) region is constructed via

$$R(\sigma_{\rm long}^2) = \frac{\rm Iso_{MC}(\sigma_{\rm long}^2)}{\rm Anti-iso_{MC}(\sigma_{\rm long}^2)}.$$
(3.5)



Figure 3.10: Normalized signal (blue) and background (yellow) distributions used as input for the template fit. These distributions correspond to clusters with $p_{\rm T}$ in the 15–20 GeV/c range.

This ratio of shower shape distributions is applied as a multiplicative correction to the background template:

$$B^{\text{corr.}}(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2) = \text{Anti-iso}_{\text{data}}(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2) \times R(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2).$$
(3.6)

This background template correction results in an absolute correction on the purity of 8%–14% depending on the cluster $p_{\rm T}$. An example of a fit with and without the correction is shown in Figure 3.11. The correction greatly improves the Chi^2 of the fit.



Figure 3.11: An example of the template fit with and without the background template correction in p–Pb for clusters with $12 < p_{\rm T} < 15 \text{ GeV}/c$. The goodness of fit (b(indicated by a lower χ^2) is better after the correction and the purity is significantly lower.

3.7.2 Fit Results

The distribution of isolated clusters is fit with a linear combination of the signal and background templates. The MINUIT [101] package is used for χ^2 minimization and the MI-GRAD package for uncertainty estimation. The only free parameter in the fit is the number of signal clusters, N_{sig} , because the overall normalization, N, is fixed to the total number of isolated clusters:

$$N^{\text{observed}}(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2) = N_{\text{sig}} \times S(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2) + (N - N_{\text{sig}}) \times B(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2), \qquad (3.7)$$

where $S(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2)$ and $B(\sigma_{\text{long}}^2)$ are the normalized signal and background templates. Examples of template fits are shown in Figure 3.12. The peaks observed in the background templates originate mostly from collinear or very asymmetric $\pi^0 \to \gamma \gamma$ decays. Photons from η decays also contribute to the peaks in the background template.

The final purities for isolated, single photons in pp and p–Pb are shown in Fig. 3.13. The purities in the pp and p–Pb datasets are compatible within the uncertainties. It is important to note that as described later in Section 3.9.3, an error function fit to the purity is used in the final correlation analysis, not the values in the four bins in Fig. 3.13. The Weights(σ_{long}^2) function for different p_T ranges is shown in Appendix 4.11 and the evaluation of the systematic uncertainty associated with this correction is described in Section 4.4.1.



Figure 3.12: σ_{long}^2 distribution of isolated clusters (black) and template fit results for p-Pb data in various $p_{\rm T}$ ranges. The stacked histograms (yellow for background, blue for signal) show the predicted counts corresponding to the best fit. The bottom panels show the normalized residuals of the fit, with the statistical uncertainty on the isolated cluster data and the background template added in quadrature. The gray shaded region indicates the signal region for the isolated-photon selection. See text for additional details. 64



Figure 3.13: Purity of the γ^{iso} sample as a function of transverse momentum for pp (red) and p–Pb (blue) data. The error bars represent statistical uncertainties only. The red shaded area represents systematic uncertainties in pp, while the blue empty boxes represent systematic uncertainties in p–Pb. The smooth lines correspond to a three-parameter error function fit to the data.

3.8 Charged Particle Tracking

¹³Charged particles are measured in the range of $0.1 < p_{\rm T} < 8 \text{GeV}/c$. The detectors usually responsible for measuring the charged hadrons in this analysis are the ALICE Inner Tracking System (ITS) and Time Projeciton Chamber (TPC). During the 13def and 17q periods, however, the TPC was either not read out or compromised due to space-charge distortions, mentioned in Sec. 2.2.3. As a result, this analysis relies on the ALICE software for ITSonly tracking for charged particle reconstruction, a novel approach for this flavor of analysis. As a cross-check, the charged-particle $p_{\rm T}$ -spectrum using ITS-only tracking is compared to the normal TPC+ITS tracking in the data-taking period when the TPC was active and free of space-charge distortions (the low-luminosity 13b data-taking period at 5 TeV p– Pb minimum-bias data). We also checked the tracking performance against published ALICE measurements [102] using the same dataset. A more thorough comparison to published ALICE data is done in Sec. 4.5.1.

The combined effect of tracking efficiency, fake rate, and track momentum smearing corrections are calculated using MC simulations, and validated by the comparison to the established hybrid-tracking method in ALICE. The comparison to hybrid tracking also estimates systematic uncertainties arising from mis-modeling the tracking performance. The Monte Carlo simulations used for this section is a DPMJET simulation anchored (matching luminosity and simulating detector effects) to LHC13b,c and LHC17l3b datasets, and a pp PYTHIA8 simulation anchored to LHC17p, see Table 3.2.

The data used to benchmark the simulation, and for the final closure test were events sampled from the minimum bias LHC13b period as well as the datasets used in [102]. Only events with the minimum bias trigger that also pass the vertex and pileup selections described in Section 3.4 are used. The tracks reconstructed from the ITS ("ITS-only tracks"), are compared with tracks reconstructed from information obtained from both the TPC and ITS ("TPC+ITS tracks", or "hybrid" tracking). Here, ITS-only tracks are reconstructed in a *stand-alone* way and are not simply the ITS-segment of a ITS+TPC track. A table detailing the cuts applied to ITS-only tracks is shown later in Table 4.5.

3.8.1 Efficiency and Fake Rate

The tracking efficiency is calculated as the ratio of the number of reconstructed primary particles¹⁴, $N_{\text{prim,rec}}(p_{\text{T}})$, to the number of generated primary particles, $N_{\text{prim,gen}}$. The truth-to-reconstructed matching is done following the standard ALICE method.

$$\epsilon(p_{\rm T}^{\rm true}) = \frac{N_{\rm prim, rec}(p_{\rm T}^{\rm true})}{N_{\rm prim, gen}(p_{\rm T}^{\rm true})}.$$
(3.8)

¹³Credit to Dhruv Dixit for his work on validating the ITS-only tracking. Please see his UC Berkeley Thesis for more details.

¹⁴No special tuning of the particle type composition is performed. This typically only matters at low $p_{\rm T}$ and enforces a small (percent level) correction to the out-of-the-box results.

Shown in Eq. 3.8, the simulated or "truth" transverse momentum, $p_{\rm T}^{\rm true}$, is used in both the numerator and denominator in order cancel effects of efficiency from bin-migration due to momentum smearing.

The numerator of Eq. 3.8 is restricted for charged particles with generated pseudorapidity in the range $|\eta^{\text{true}}| < 0.8$ and azimuth $0 < \varphi^{\text{true}} < 2\pi$. Therefore, the correction factor accounts for both geometrical acceptance, detector inefficiencies, and dead channels.

Fake tracks are defined as reconstructed tracks that do not match to a truth particle. The fake rate is calculated by taking the ratio of the number of fake tracks to the total number reconstructed tracks. It is parametrized as a function of the reconstructed transverse momentum of the track, $p_{\rm T}^{\rm reco}$:

$$fakerate(p_{T}^{reco}) = \frac{N_{unmatched}(p_{T}^{reco})}{N_{allreco}(p_{T}^{reco})}.$$
(3.9)

Figure 3.14 shows the efficiency and the fake rates for the TPC+ITS and ITS only tracks. In both cases the efficiency grows with $p_{\rm T}$ up to about 1 GeV/c where it dips then a plateau value with no significant $p_{\rm T}$ dependence. The efficiency starts at about 57% for the TPC+ITS tracks and at 70% for ITS-only tracks at 150 MeV and plateaus at 84% and 88% respectively. The lower efficiency for the TPC+ITS tracks compared to ITS-only tracks is expected since the former requires a matching between ITS and TPC track segments, which has some inefficiency. This study shows that the matching efficiency is high at large $p_{\rm T}$ but leads to substantial differences at low $p_{\rm T}$.

The fake rate for the TPC+ITS tracks is less than one percent over the entire range shown. However, the fake rate is larger in the ITS-only tracks. It is below 5% up to 5 GeV/c, and it grows roughly linearly and reaches 15% at 10 GeV/c. The effect of this on the final correlation analysis is discussed in Sec. 4.5.2. The higher fake rate is due to the much lower number of clusters associated with ITS-only tracks (maximum of 6) than to TPC+ITS tracks (minimum of 70).



Figure 3.14: Efficiency and fake rate for combined TPC+ITS tracking (filled circles) and ITS-only tracking (open circles) obtained with p–Pb simulation. The error bars represent statistical uncertainty only.

3.8.2 Resolution, Response Matrix and Bin Migration

The main difference between TPC+ITS and ITS-only tracking lies in the much poorer momentum resolution of the latter. This is driven by having fewer tracking layers and therefore space points used to reconstruct tracks, and having a smaller $\int Bdl$, as the TPC covers up to z = 258 cm but the ITS only to z = 48 cm.

Figure 3.15 shows the momentum resolution as a function of $p_{\rm T}^{\rm true}$ for TPC+ITS and ITSonly tracks. The momentum resolution of both increases with $p_{\rm T}$; however, the resolution for TPC+ITS never exceeds a relative 2% below 20 GeV/*c*, while the ITS-only tracking resolution is about a factor of 7 worse and reaches ~15% by 10 GeV/*c*. In both cases the resolution curves have the expected shape: the growth at low momentum is due to multiplescattering and the linear growth at higher $p_{\rm T}$ arises from the number of hits and intrinsic hit resolution, as well as the track bend at the measurement planes.



Figure 3.15: The relative $p_{\rm T}$ resolution for TPC+ITS tracking and ITS only tracking. The error bar represents statistical uncertainty only.

The tracking response matrix is defined as the correlation between the reconstructed and generated transverse momentum. This matrix is filled only for reconstructed tracks with a true match; fake tracks are explicitly excluded. Figure 3.16 shows the response matrix, its one-dimensional projections, and the ratio of true to reconstructed spectra. The ratio of the true to reconstructed spectra is used to correct for bin migration effects, where a track is placed in the wrong $p_{\rm T}$ bin due to the finite momentum resolution of the detector:

bin migration(
$$p_{\rm T}^{\rm reco}$$
) = $\frac{N_{\rm prim, reco}(p_{\rm T}^{\rm true})}{N_{\rm prim, reco}(p_{\rm T}^{\rm reco})}$. (3.10)

The effect of momentum smearing on tracks is clearly visible in the projection plots, where the reconstructed spectrum is significantly harder at high $p_{\rm T}$. The ratio of truth to reconstructed $p_{\rm T}$ is very close to unity in the TPC+ITS case, as expected. On the other hand, the ratio deviates significantly from unity in the ITS-only case; it reaches 0.9 at 6 GeV/c and drops quickly, reaching 0.5 at about 13 GeV/c. The quick drop at high $p_{\rm T}$ comes



Figure 3.16: Left panel: correlation matrix between true $p_{\rm T}$ and reconstructed $p_{\rm T}$ of tracks reconstructed with TPC+ITS (upper row) and ITS-only (bottom row). Middle panel: projections of the response matrix into the true and reconstructed $p_{\rm T}$. Right panel: ratio of true to reconstructed spectra. This ratio used as part of the bin-by-bin correction factors.

mainly from the linear degradation of the relative momentum resolution combined with the fast drop of the true $p_{\rm T}$ spectrum.

The bin migration (b), along with the tracking efficiency (ϵ) and the fake rate (f) are used to correct (Eq. 3.11) for the charged hadron tracks; all of them are shown together in Figure 3.17. The figure shows that the correction factors are similar for tracks from pp or p–Pb collisions. We concluded that the multiplicity in p–Pb is low enough such that it does not affect tracking performance.

$$w = \frac{1}{\epsilon}(1-f)b \tag{3.11}$$



Figure 3.17: The efficiency, fake rate, and momentum smearing correction factors for pp and p–Pb data.

3.8.3 Angular Dependence of Tracking Efficiency

The 2D φ - η efficiency is calculated in a similar way to the $p_{\rm T}$ efficiency described in Equation 3.8, but instead of being functions of $p_{\rm T}^{\rm true}$, the efficiency is a function of the true azimuthal angle and pseudorapidity, $\varphi^{\rm true}$ and $\eta^{\rm true}$ respectively. Only tracks with $p_{\rm T}^{\rm true} > 1$ GeV/c are considered to avoid tracks with sharp bends in the magnetic field that would obscure the impact of dead regions.

Figure 3.18 shows the resulting efficiency for TPC+ITS and ITS-only tracks. While the TPC+ITS 2D φ - η distribution looks uniform, this is not the case for the ITS-only distribution, which has visible dips in the efficiency at various φ . The efficiency is close to unity for most of the phase space covered. There are no big η variations, but there are large φ variations. The efficiency holes at $\varphi = -0.8$ and -0.2 are very visible and reach values close to zero. These are attributed to ITS-staves that are completely dead. Any variations in φ in the γ^{iso} -hadron analysis are corrected for using the event mixing technique described in Section 3.9.5



Figure 3.18: Tracking efficiency as a function of φ^{true} and η^{true} for TPC+ITS (left) and ITS-only (right) tracks.

3.9 Photon Hadron Correlations

In this study, the exact cross section of isolated photons is not the observable, nor is the cross section of charged hadron production in a given event. The quantity of interest is the number partner particles associated with trigger photons, relating to the leading order picture of back-to-back prompt photon and parton. Therefore, instead of quoting the absolute yield of pairs, it is useful to divide by the number of triggers to obtain the conditional yield (also called per-trigger yield) of associated hadrons. This quantity is typically plotted as a function of the azimuthal angle between the trigger and partner particle, $\Delta \varphi$:

$$\Delta \varphi \equiv \phi^{\text{cluster}} - \phi^{\text{track}} \tag{3.12}$$

The $\Delta \varphi$ distribution of cluster-track pairs, divided by the number of triggers is defined as the trigger normalized correlation function, C:

$$C \equiv \frac{P}{T},\tag{3.13}$$

where T is simply the number of triggers, and P is the number of cluster-track pairs. At a given $\Delta \varphi$, such distributions reflect the structure of jets. Di-hadron correlation functions typically contain a large, very narrow peak at $\Delta \varphi = 0$, arising from the correlation of particles within the same jet, and a broader peak centered at $\Delta \varphi = \pi$ arising from the correlation between, particles in two jets in the event, shown in Fig. 1.14.

Enforcing an isolation requirement will heavily suppress the near side peak, however. The near side peak is further removed after the decay photon hadron correlation is subtracted,

Sec. 5.1, likely removing the remaining contribution of background jets to the isolated photon triggers. This becomes particularly important for the underlying event estimate detailed in Section 3.9.7

Equation 3.13 is closely related to Eq. 1.12. The former can be thought of as an ingredient to the latter; Eq. 3.13 refers to the correlation function over the full range of $\Delta \varphi$, while Eq. 1.12 refers to the yields, often the result of integrating C at large $\Delta \varphi$.

3.9.1 Signal Correlation Function

Section 3.5.3 introduced isolated prompt photons as the primary photon signal for this measurement. However, as detailed in Section 3.7, there is a substantial amount of background contributing to γ^{iso} -andidates and a subsequent contribution to the γ^{iso} -hadron correlations. In this section, we the disentangle the signal of this measurement from what is initially measured.

We directly measured the trigger-normalized correlation of isolated cluster in the photon signal region of the shower shape variable with associated hadrons. This correlation function is denoted $C_{\rm SR}$. This quantity will be made up of the true signal correlation function, $C_{\rm S}$ – the correlation of isolated prompt photons and associated hadrons from the recoiling parton– as well as the true background correlation, $C_{\rm B}$, predominantly arising from the correlation between decay photons that pass the cluster selection and hadrons. We call this background the correlated background, as it arises from the correlation of background photons and the hadrons from the same hard scattering in the event. To separate what is initially measured, $C_{\rm SR}$, and the true signal, $C_{\rm S}$, we begin by taking a look at the ingredients of $C_{\rm SR}$. First, we denote the number of trigger clusters in the shower signal region, also called the number of $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ candidates, $T_{\rm SR}$. We can write $T_{\rm SR}$ as:

$$T_{\rm SR} = T_{\rm S} + T_{\rm B}.\tag{3.14}$$

Here we define $T_{\rm S}$ as the number of "true" signal triggers (i.e. the number isolated prompt photon triggers) and $T_{\rm B}$ as the background, namely decay photons that pass our $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ selection. Similarly, the $\Delta \varphi$ distribution of signal region cluster-track pairs, $P_{\rm SR}$ can be written as:

$$P_{\rm SR} = P_{\rm S} + P_{\rm B}.\tag{3.15}$$

Now, following the notation of Equation 3.13, we can write the trigger-normalized correlation functions for shower signal region clusters as:

$$C_{\rm SR} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm SR}} P_{\rm SR}. \tag{3.16}$$

These quantities are directly measured. Similarly, we can write the true signal and true background correlation functions:

$$C_{\rm S} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm S}} P_{\rm S} \tag{3.17}$$

$$C_{\rm B} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm B}} P_{\rm B} \tag{3.18}$$

The goal of this formalism is to write the true signal correlation function $(C_{\rm S})$ in terms of quantities that are measured – $C_{\rm SR}$ and the measured purity, p. To this end, the next step is to write the measured quantity, $C_{\rm SR}$, in terms of true signal and true background correlation functions:

$$C_{\rm SR} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm SR}} P_{\rm SR} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm SR}} (P_{\rm S} + P_{\rm B})$$
 (3.19)

$$C_{\rm SR} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm SR}} (T_{\rm S}C_{\rm S} + T_{\rm B}C_{\rm B})$$
 (3.20)

Where we have substituted Eq. 3.15 into Eq. 3.16, followed by using Equations 3.18 and 3.18 to substitute out $P_{\rm S}$ and $P_{\rm B}$, respectively. $T_{\rm S}$ and $T_{\rm B}$ are not directly measured, however they can be expressed in terms of measurable quantities. The purity is defined as the fraction of true signal in our $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ clusters, or in other words, $p \equiv T_{\rm S}/T_{\rm SR}$ (see Section 3.7). Substituting this into Eq. 3.14 and solving for $T_{\rm B}/T_{\rm SR}$, one obtains: $T_{\rm B}/T_{\rm SR} = 1 - p$. This a natural result of the definition of purity: If p is the fraction of the true signal making up the $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ candidates, 1 - p must be everything else, i.e. background. To summarize:

$$p \equiv T_{\rm S}/T_{\rm SR} \tag{3.21}$$

$$1 - p = T_{\rm B}/T_{\rm BR}$$
 (3.22)

Substituting p into Equation 3.20:

$$C_{\rm SR} = pC_{\rm S} + (1-p)C_{\rm B} \tag{3.23}$$

Finally, we can solve for $C_{\rm S}$ in terms of $C_{\rm SR}$ and p:

$$C_{\rm S} = \frac{C_{\rm SR} - (1-p)C_{\rm B}}{p}$$
(3.24)

Equation 3.24 shows $C_{\rm S}$ in terms of the measured quantities, $C_{\rm SR}$ and the purity. It also includes, however, a term for the background correlation function $C_{\rm B}$, that cannot be determined from $C_{\rm SR}$ and the purity alone. The correlation function $C_{\rm B}$ is described in more detail in Section 3.9.2.

3.9.2 Decay Photon Hadron Correlations

There is a large fraction of γ^{decay} background within the isolated photon sample, and a subsequent γ^{decay} -hadron correlation present in the measured correlation function. The correlation between hadrons and background photons within the γ^{iso} sample correspond to the C_{B} term in Eq. 3.24. While the equation gives us the scale of this background, 1 - p, it does not offer information on the shape of this $\Delta \varphi$ distribution. To understand the shape, we take advantage of the fact that the most prominent source background photons within the γ^{iso} population are photons from neutral meson decays. Outside of the γ^{iso} selection, these photons tend to have more asymmetric shower profiles, and thus larger values of σ_{long}^2 . Therefore, in order to select on clusters arising from decay photons, an inverse shower shape selection is applied which we define as the shower background region, BR:

$$\sigma_{\text{long}}^2(\text{BR}) > 0.4 \tag{3.25}$$

In order to approximate $C_{\rm B}$, a $\gamma^{\rm decay}$ hadron correlation function is measured by taking the correlation of clusters in the shower background regions with associated hadrons in the event. This shower background region correlation function, much like Eq. 3.16 is defined as $C_{\rm BR}$:

$$C_{\rm BR} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm BR}} P_{\rm BR},\tag{3.26}$$

with $T_{\rm BR}$ as the number of clusters in the shower background region, and $P_{\rm BR}$ as the $\Delta \varphi$ distribution of shower background region clusters and hadrons.

The underlying physics process that dictates the number and distribution of correlated pairs is independent of the opening angle of the neutral-meson decay, which is what drives the shower-shape, the approximation $C_{\rm BR} \approx C_{\rm B}$ can be made.¹⁵ In other words, the shower background region correlation function is a good approximation of the correlated background that contributes to the shower signal region correlation function, $C_{\rm SR}$. Therefore, Eq. 3.24 can be re-written:

$$C_{\rm S} = \frac{C_{\rm SR} - (1-p)C_{\rm BR}}{p}$$
(3.27)

As a result, the true signal correlation function, $C_{\rm S}$, is finally written in terms of measurable quantities: The shower signal region correlation function, $C_{\rm SR}$, the purity, p, and the newly defined shower background region correlation function (or $\gamma^{\rm decay}$ correlation), $C_{\rm BR}$. Thus, hadrons are correlated with clusters in the shower background region to directly measure the $\gamma^{\rm decay}$ -hadron correlation functions. This $\gamma^{\rm decay}$ -hadron correlation function is then subtracted from the the shower signal region correlation function to obtain the signal correlation. This scaling, however, must be done carefully due to the $p_{\rm T}$ dependence of the purity.

¹⁵Here again we take advantage of trigger normalized quantities. The number of isolated photons in the shower background region vastly outnumber the number of isolated photons within the shower signal region. By focusing on the associated yield of hadrons per each photon, which is not correlated with σ_{long}^2 , this very useful approximation can be made.



Figure 3.19: A 3-parameter error function is fit to the purity values measured in pp (left) and p–Pb (right) data. The width of the band represents the uncertainty on the fit.

The next few sections describe corrections to the correlation functions. Unless explicitly stated, these corrections (appropriate purity weighting, acceptance corrections, and charged particle tracking corrections) are applied to both the $C_{\rm SR}$ and $C_{\rm BR}$ before the two are finally subtracted in Sec. 5.1.

3.9.3 Photon Purity Weighting

Equation 3.27 shows the background correlation function, $C_{\rm B}$, approximated by the $\gamma^{\rm decay}$ correlation function, and scaled by 1 - p according to its relative contribution measured correlation function. The purity is a $p_{\rm T}$ dependent quantity, rising quickly with $p_{\rm T}$, correlations using a low- $p_{\rm T}$ cluster have a higher fraction of background than high- $p_{\rm T}$ clusters (see Figure 3.13). As a result, measuring the $\gamma^{\rm decay}$ -hadron correlation function for all clusters and scaling by the mean of the purity would lead to an underestimation of the background at low $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$, and an overestimation at high $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$. This has a non-trivial effect on the corresponding $z_{\rm T}$ bins, which include clusters with a wide range of $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$. Additionally, Equation 3.27 includes an overall scale of 1/p in order to obtain the correct conditional yield of hadrons after the subtraction in the numerator, and will yield similar complications if applied correlations using clusters over the full $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$ range.

In order to avoid these complications, clusters are weighted by the purity corresponding to their exact $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$ when constructing the correlation functions. In order to capture the quickly rising behavior of the purity at low $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$, the purity is fit to a 3-parameter error function. This fit to the purity is shown in Figure 3.19. The $p_{\rm T}^{\rm cluster}$ becomes an input to this function, and precise purity weighting is applied precisely to each cluster.

According to Equation 3.27, the overall purity weights will be 1/p and (1-p)/p for shower signal and shower background region clusters, respectively.

3.9.4 Track Efficiency, Fake Rate, and Bin Migration Weights

In order to correct for the tracking efficiency, fake rate, and bin-migration we apply a trackby-track weighting according to:

$$w_{\text{tracking}}(p_{\text{T}}^{\text{track}}) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \times (1 - f) \times b.$$
(3.28)

Here ϵ is the track efficiency, f is the fake rate, and b is the bin-to-bin migration correction. These are described in Section 3.8. The corrections are estimated independently for pp and p-Pb data although the performance is very similar. The weights are applied to the measure charged hadrons as the correlation functions are being constructed, analogous to how the purity weighting is applied to the photons in the correlations functions.

3.9.5 Pair-Acceptance Correction with Event Mixing

Initially, the raw two particle correlations consist of a combination of true physical correlations and detector effects. The detector effects result from inefficiencies and limited acceptance in the detectors. The study of trigger normalized yields of associated hadrons eliminates the need to correct for isolated cluster efficiency, and Section 3.8 outlines the charged tracking efficiency correction.

Correlations are constructed through pairs of clusters and charged tracks. This results in a convolution of acceptance effects from the limited acceptance of EMCal and ITS, which we call pair acceptance effects. These effects are corrected by using the event mixing technique. Event mixing is a data driven approach to correcting for detector acceptance effects¹⁶. By constructing observables with particles from different events, we remove true physics correlations from the correlation functions, isolating detector effects from limited acceptance in η and detector inhomogeneity in η and φ .

Cluster-track pairs in same event correlation functions obviously share the properties of the event, and such properties often affect detector response. In order to make the mixed-event correlations as analogous as possible to the to same-event correlation functions, events that are as similar as possible with respect to these event properties are used for event mixing. The two most important event properties for this measurement are produced particle multiplicity and the z-coordinate of the reconstructed primary vertex (i.e. the position of the primary interaction vertex along the beam direction)¹⁷.

The goal of event mixing is to isolate detector effects by completely removing true physics correlations. To this end, γ -triggered events are not mixed with other γ -triggered events. Triggering on a high $p_{\rm T}$ photon will result in an enhancement of away-side hadrons due to the recoiling jet. Due to the limited acceptance of the EMCal, this enhancement will be

¹⁶Event mixing is also used for estimating combinatorial background.

¹⁷In Lead-Lead collisions, the event-plane angle which determines the anisotropic distribution of final state particles, or v_2 , is also one of the most important event properties to match in Event mixing. However, because this measurement focuses on smaller systems, pp and p–Pb, this effect can be neglected

concentrated in a small area of the ITS, approximately 180° opposite the EMCal trigger. Mixing only with triggered events will result in a "pseudo" recoiling jet signal that would suppress the true signal in the same-event correlation function when the event mixing correction is applied. Instead, γ -triggered events are mixed with minimum bias events to avoid this bias, and to sample the full acceptance of the ITS properly. For this analysis, depending on the $z_{\rm T}$ bin, each γ -triggered event was mixed with up to 300 minimum-bias events.

Traditionally, events are often placed into bins of multiplicity (V0 amplitude, sum of V0A and V0C) and primary vertex z-position, and then mixed within these bins. This has the advantage of conceptual simplicity, but is not very efficient and requires a large amount of cpu time. Instead of bins, the mixing in this analysis is carried out by using a stable matching algorithm [103]. Generally, this algorithm is used to pair two sets of populations, where members from both populations have a well defined and ordered preference list. Here, the two populations are γ -triggered and minimum bias events. The use of this algorithm avoids the need for binning in multiplicity and primary vertex, and is much faster than the standard binning method.

The stable matching algorithm first creates a preference list made up of all other events based on how close events are in multiplicity and z-vertex. After each event has a preference list, the algorithm loops over all events, with a nested loop that iterates over each event's preference list. The algorithm then pairs pairs the current event to the first unpaired event on that list. As the loop iterates, if an event towards the end of the main loop has an already-paired event high on it's preference list, the algorithm loops through the alreadypaired event's preference list and decides if the paired event should stay paired to its current match, or switch to the new event. If the latter is chosen, the previously matched event is "unpaired" and added back into the loop. A stable state is met when all paired events have a match that is higher on their preference list than any remaining unpaired events in the loop. Such a stable state is guaranteed to eventually be met according to [103].

The pseudo code below follows this description, using γ to denote a γ -triggered event, and M_B to denote a minimum-bias event. The *unrequested* state refers to a M_B event on a γ -event's preference list that has not yet been requested for pairing.

procedure GALESHAPLEYPAIRING

while \exists free γ with an unrequested M_B on γ 's list do M_B = first unrequested MinBias Event on γ 's list. if M_B is free then (γ, M_B) become paired else some pair (γ', M_B) exists if M_B prefers γ to γ' then γ' becomes free (γ, M_B) become paired else





Figure 3.20: Difference in V0 multiplicity (upper row) and longitudinal vertex position (bottom row) between paired events in pp (left column) and p–Pb right. The pairing algorithm results in sharp peak near zero for these difference distributions, particularly in the longitudinal vertex difference. As described in the text, in the correlation analysis we apply a further selection to cut the large tails observed in these distributions.

The difference distributions for z-vertex and multiplicity between a γ -triggerd and minimum bias events in p–Pb data are shown in Figure 3.20. The resulting distributions show a sharp peak that is below $\Delta z < 0.5$ cm and also a long tail. Less than 6 % of the distribution lies beyond $\Delta z > 2$ cm. The multiplicity difference, however, does not have as sharp a peak near Δ Multiplicity = 0. About 20% of pairs have a multiplicity difference above 40, and cuts at $\Delta V_z > 2$ cm and Δ Multiplicity > 40 were applied to pairs before calculating correlation functions as a precaution. Skimming p–Pb events with particularly high multiplicities before pairing had a similar effect on the tail of the distribution. However, both skimming events before pairing and applying the previously mentioned cuts after the pairing process had no visible effect on the mixed-event correlation.

Figure 3.21 shows the V0 multiplicity distributions for pp and p–Pb data in γ -triggered events. This shows that a multiplicity matching requirement of Δ Multiplicity < 40 is indeed very tight.



Figure 3.21: V0 multiplicity distribution, i.e. the sum of V0A and V0C amplitudes , in pp (left) and p–Pb (right) gamma-triggered data.

Ideally, the mixed event distribution should be flat in $\Delta \varphi$ and have a trapezoidal shape in $\Delta \eta$, because the limited acceptance in η increases the likelihood to reconstruct pairs with a small $\Delta \eta$ (i.e., due to the convolution of two uniformly distributed functions). However, the use of ITS-only tracks and holes in the ITS acceptance result in deviations from a flat distribution in $\Delta \varphi$.

The correlation function corrected by pair-acceptance effects is then given by:

$$C(\Delta\varphi, \Delta\eta) = \frac{S(\Delta\varphi, \Delta\eta)}{M(\Delta\varphi, \Delta\eta)},$$
(3.29)

where $S(\Delta \varphi, \Delta \eta)$ is the same-event correlation, and $M(\Delta \phi, \Delta \eta)$ is the mixed-event correlation. $S(\Delta \phi, \Delta \eta)$ is given by:

$$S(\Delta\varphi, \Delta\eta) = \frac{1}{N_{\rm trig}} \frac{d^2 N_{\rm same}}{d\Delta\varphi d\Delta\eta},\tag{3.30}$$

with N_{trig} as the number of trigger particles and N_{same} as the number of same event clustertrack pairs and $d^2 N_{\text{same}}/d\Delta\varphi d\Delta\eta$ is found by pairing trigger particles with tracks from the same event. The mixed-event distribution, $M(\Delta\varphi, \Delta\eta)$, is given by

$$M(\Delta\varphi,\Delta\eta) = \alpha \frac{d^2 N_{\text{mixed}}}{d\Delta\varphi d\Delta\eta},$$
(3.31)



Figure 3.22: Left Mixed Event correlation for a single $z_{\rm T}$ bin for gamma-triggered, signal region clusters and hadrons from minimum bias events. Middle 2D Correlation for signal region clusters and hadrons from the same events. Right Signal region correlation function corrected for detector acceptance effects.

where α is the normalization constant that sets the maximum value of the mixed event correlation to 1, and N_{mixed} is the number of mixed event cluster-track pairs. The term $d^2 N_{\text{mixed}}/d\Delta\varphi d\Delta\eta$ is obtained by pairing trigger particles from γ -triggered events with tracks from minimum bias events matched in z-vertex and multiplicity.

Same event correlation functions are divided by the mixed event correlation function within the same $z_{\rm T}$ bins, shown for a single $z_{\rm T}$ bin in Figure 3.22. This procedure is carried out identically for clusters in the signal and background shower-shape regions. The triangular shape in $\Delta \eta$ is due to the limited acceptance of the ITS and EMCal in psuedorapidity. A useful analogy is the integration of two intersecting square waves that result in a clear triangular signal. The round shape in $\Delta \varphi$ is more subtle, however. It is due to the inefficiencies and holes in the ITS, i.e. due to imperfections in the tracking system. This is further discussed in Section 4.2.1.

3.9.6 Fully Corrected $C_{\rm SR}$ and $C_{\rm BR}$

The fully-corrected $C_{\rm SR}$ and $C_{\rm BR}$ correlations are shown in Figures 3.23 and 3.24. The shown $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ -hadron correlations are the difference between the scaled- $C_{\rm SR}$ and the scaled- $C_{\rm BR}$, which are shown in blue and red respectively. While the statistical precision of both $C_{\rm SR}$ and $C_{\rm BR}$ is high in all $z_{\rm T}$ bins and datasets, this gets diluted in the subtraction. That is, the low-purity leads to the subtraction of two comparable numbers, which results in a large statistical uncertainty.









3.9.7 Underlying Event Estimation

As mentioned in Section 3.6.2, the underlying event corresponds to all the activity in the event that does not directly relate to the hard scattering in the initial collision. In particular, low $p_{\rm T}$ hadrons that are not physically correlated with hadronization of the scattered parton make up a large portion of the underlying event. This background is referred to as the *the uncorrelated background*. The first step in this measurement is to form the correlation function between the trigger photon and all charged hadrons in the event. Next, the large contribution from hadrons in underlying event must be subtracted.

We used the zero-yield at minimum method no normalize the uncorrelated background. As the name suggests, this method assumes zero true signal at the minimum of the correlation function, which is a better approximation for high $p_{\rm T}$ jets than for soft ones. The distribution of hadrons arising from the underlying event in pp and in p–Pb collisions is conveniently isotropic in φ . Therefore, the distribution of $\Delta \varphi$, the angle between the trigger photon and the charged hadrons from the underlying event, will be flat in $\Delta \varphi$. As result, the contribution from the underlying event as a flat pedestal in $\Delta \varphi$.

In dihadron and dijet measurements, the minimum usually occurs near $\Delta \varphi = \pi/2$. This is because a struck parton is kinematically unlikely to scatter at 90 degrees from another parton in the initial collision. An illustration of this method for *dihadron* measurements is shown in Figure 1.14.

The isotropic nature of hadrons in the underlying event tells us the shape of the background is a pedestal, while the ZYAM assumption indicates the overall hight of the pedestal. Once the shape and magnitude of the underlying event contribution is understood, this background can be subtracted from the correlation functions.

In this analysis we used a modified version of the ZYAM method. One of the most prominent features of Figure 1.14 is a near side peak made up of the autocorrelation of charged hadrons within a jet. The triggers in this analysis, however, are isolated prompt photons that by construction have little to no surrounding hadronic activity. Therefore, the near side jet peak shown in Figure 1.14 is completely absent in isolated prompt photonhadron correlations. While some surrounding hadronic activity could be present, either due to fragmentation photons from a jet, or by decay photons within a jet, the latter is subtracted away by subtracting the decay-photon hadron correlation.

As a result, the minimum of the γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function spans a much larger region in $\Delta \varphi$ than in the dihadron case. We modified the standard ZYAM method by taking the average value of the correlation function in the region of $0.4 < \Delta \varphi < \pi/2$ to estimate the underlying event pedestal. A minimum $\Delta \varphi$ of 0.4 is used in order to avoid the region of the isolation cone used in the photon isolation calculation – avoiding an artificially low pedestal estimate. The maximum of $\pi/2$ is used to avoid the tail of the away side jet peak.

This larger region in $\Delta \varphi$ has the advantage of higher statistical precision in the underlying event estimate. The magnitude of the underlying event is estimated for both SR and BR correlation functions, and subtracted as a constant in $\Delta \varphi$. In order to show the effect of pedestal subtraction on the correlation functions in pp and p–Pb data, the correlation functions in both systems are overlaid in Figure 3.25 . By construction, the points at small $\Delta \varphi$ are consistent with zero as demonstrated by the dark grey bands. Additionally, the plots demonstrate the larger underlying event in p–Pb data, as well as the agreement in away side yields in the two systems after pedestal subtraction. This also shows visually the fraction of signal to background, particularly at low $z_{\rm T}$ in p–Pb collisions.

After the pedestal subtraction, one can begin to see the similarities between the correlation functions in pp and p–Pb.



bands represent the ZYAM estimates, while the dark gray bands represent the near side average after subtraction. The Figure 3.25: Correlation functions in pp (red) and p–Pb (blue) before and after pedestal subtraction. The light grey red and blue colored bands represent the away side average after pedestal subtraction

Chapter 4

Checks and Systematics

4.1 Summary of Systematic Uncertainties

The measurement is ultimately dominated by statistical uncertainties. Consequently, efforts to reduce the systematic uncertainties of the measurement were tempered such that they are smaller than the statistical uncertainty.

The sources of systematic uncertainties of the γ^{iso} -hadron measurement are summarized in Table 4.1, and listed below:

• Purity

The uncertainty of the purity measurement is propagated to the correlation function, following Equation 3.27. The resulting uncertainty on the correlation function is a relative $\pm 18\%$ for pp data and $\pm 12\%$ for p–Pb data. As described in Section 4.4.1, a large fraction of the purity total uncertainty is either statistical uncertainty or systematic uncertainties that arise due to limited data sample. Therefore, the purity uncertainty in pp and p–Pb data are largely uncorrelated. As a conservative approach, they are taken to be totally uncorrelated.

• Underlying Event:

As described in Sec. 3.9.7, the uncertainty of the UE subtraction originates from statistical fluctuations in the ZYAM estimate. It propagates directly to the per-trigger yields. It ranges from 7% to 15% depending on the $z_{\rm T}$ bin and data. This uncertainty is fully correlated in φ for a given $z_{\rm T}$ bin, but totally uncorrelated among $z_{\rm T}$ bins, and totally uncorrelated between pp and p–Pb datasets.

• Tracking performance:

To estimate the systematic uncertainty of the charged-particle $p_{\rm T}$ measurement with ITS-only track reconstruction, MC simulation studies were performed compared with the published $p_{\rm T}$ spectra that used the ALICE standard tracking (i.e. including TPC) in pp and p–Pb collisions at 5 TeV [102]. As described in Section 3.8, the combined uncertainty due to track efficiency, fake rate, and bin-to-bin migration corrections
amounts to $\pm 5\%$ added in quadrature with the total systematic uncertainty of the reference $p_{\rm T}$ spectra, which ranges from a relative 1.6 (2.1%) to 1.9% (2.5%) in the range $0.5 < p_{\rm T} < 10 \text{ GeV}/c$ for pp (p–Pb) collisions [102].

Systematic uncertainties due to secondary-particle contamination and from modelling of the particle-type composition in MC simulations are small (< 2%) for the range $0.5 < p_{\rm T} < 10 \text{ GeV}/c$. These were already estimated in [102] for pp and p–Pb data sets and already included in the systematic uncertainty estimate described above. The tracking performance between pp and p–Pb datasets is very similar, but as a conservative approach the systematic uncertainties are taken to be completely uncorrelated.

• Acceptance mismatch due to boost:

As described in Section 4.7, our PYTHIA8 study of γ^{iso} -hadron correlations show that the impact of an acceptance mismatch between pp and p–Pb data that arises from the boost of $\Delta y = 0.47$ amounts to a $\approx 5\%$ effect irrespective of z_{T} . This estimate is subject to PDF uncertainties, which are the ones that dictate the shape of the differential crosssection of photons and associated hadrons in pseudorapidity. We chose to not apply any correction for this effect, and assign a $\pm 5\%$ systematic uncertainty on the pertrigger hadron yields. This systematic uncertainty is taken to be completely correlated with z_{T} . We assign this systematic uncertainty to our p–Pb measurements only.

• Luminosity, trigger, photon, and vertex reconstruction:

The observable is normalized per measured photon. Therefore the uncertainties related to overall normalization of the $\gamma^{\text{iso}} p_{\text{T}}$ spectra (such as luminosity scale, vertexing efficiency, trigger efficiency and photon reconstruction efficiency) cancel completely. Consequently, a systematic uncertainty associated with these sources is not applied to the measurement.

• Photon energy scale, resolution and material budget:

While the measurement is by construction insensitive to overall normalization, it is sensitive to bin-migration or scale uncertainties that affect the shape of the photon $p_{\rm T}$ spectra. A large integration window over the photon $p_{\rm T}$ range (12–40 GeV/c) reduces this potential systematic, however. Additionally, the high precision EMCal ensures that these effects are small in general; for a 12 GeV cluster the resolution $\sigma_E/E = 4.8\%/E \otimes 11.3\%/\sqrt{E} \otimes 1.7\%$ yields $\sigma_E/E = 3.6\%$, and at 40 GeV this yields $\sigma_E/E = 2.4\%$. The EMCal energy scale has been studied with beam-test data [104] and comparison of $\pi^0 \to \gamma\gamma$ events in data and simulation [105], and has an associated uncertainty of 0.8%.

The uncertainties due to photon energy scale, resolution, and material budget have been estimated for the isolated photon cross-section measurement with 7 TeV pp and 5 TeV p–Pb data and are less than 3% in the $p_{\rm T}$ range covered in this analysis [106, 93]. The effects on the per-trigger correlation functions would be even smaller due the insensitivity to the photon-cross section. Given that this level of uncertainty is much smaller than other sources of systematic uncertainties for our measurement, they are neglected.

Table 4.1 presents as summary of all uncertainty estimates for our γ^{iso} -hadron correlation measurement.

4.2 Event Mixing

Event mixing is used in the analysis in order to correct for the pair acceptance of photonhadron pairs, as the convolution of the EMCal acceptance with the $\eta - \varphi$ dependent efficiency of the standalone ITS tracking is non-trivial. It can be corrected for, using the data driven method outlined in Sec. 3.9.5.

Because this correction is data-driven, a systematic from any mis-modeling of the detector performance avoided. In theory, there should be a statistical uncertainty on the event mixing that would propagate as an uncertainty on the final analysis. For this reason, a very large number of MB events are mixed with gamma triggered events such that the statistical uncertainty on the mixed event correlations is negligible, and thus is not propagated into the analysis. Furthermore, for the high $z_{\rm T}$ bins in the correlation and fragmentation function analysis, MB events where at least one track with a $p_{\rm T}$ of 14 GeV/c are chosen to be in an event pool (this $p_{\rm T}$ requirement roughly corresponds to the $z_{\rm T}$ bin for a photon at 40 GeV/c). This provides very good statistics, even in the normally statistics limited bins at higher $z_{\rm T}$.

Typically, an analysis that uses mixing to estimate uncorrelated background also introduces a systematic uncertainty attributed to the choice of the mixed event normalization. However, because the mixing is used as a pair acceptance correction, the normalization is set such that the highest value of the mixed-event correlation is set to 1.0, and no uncertainty is applied to this normalization.

The overall shape of the event mixing distribution was initially difficult to understand. While the EMCal acceptance is limited in φ , the ITS has full azimuthal coverage. When taking hadron-photon pairs and plotting $\Delta \varphi$, one would expect a flat distribution in the absence of any physics effects, as seen in previous event mixing analyses that use ITS+TPC hybrid tracking [107]. The mixed event correlations in this analysis, however, are far from uniform in $\Delta \varphi$, and in fact show an enhancement at $\approx \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, the accuracy of the shape of the mixed-event correlation was initially uncertain.

Two cross checks are done to validate the overall shape of the mixed event correlations. To check that the non-uniformity in $\Delta \varphi$ arises from the φ -dependent efficiency of the ITS-only tracking. The second check applies the slower but more standard binned-mixing technique as a check to ensure that the novel use of the Gale-Shapley algorithm to pair events did not introduce any major features to the mixed event correlations.

Statistical Uncertainty $19\%-40\%$ $30\%-49\%$ $16\%-23\%$ $29\%-39\%$ Photon Purity 18% 18% 12% 12% $29\%-9\%$ Photon Purity $8\%-15\%$ 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% Tracking performance 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% Acceptance mismatch $ 5\%$ 5% Photon Energy Scale $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ Photon Energy Resolution $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ Material budget $ -$ Luminosity scale $ -$ Vertex efficiency $ -$ Trigger corrections $ -$ Photon reconstruction efficiency $ -$		Low $z_{\rm T}$ pp data	High $z_{\rm T}$ pp data	Low $z_{\rm T}$ p–Pb data	$High z_T p-Pb d$
Photon Purity 18% 18% 12% 12% Underlying Event 8% - 15% 7% - 10% 9% - 9% Underlying Event 8% - 15% 7% - 10% 9% - 9% Tracking performance 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% 5.6% Acceptance mismatch $ 5.6\%$ 5.6% 5.6% Acceptance mismatch $ 5.6\%$ 5.6% 5.6% Photon Energy Scale $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ Photon Energy Resolution $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ Naterial budget $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ Luminosity scale $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ Vertex efficiency $ -$ Dubton reconstruction efficiency $ -$ Trigger corrections $ -$ Total Systematic Uncertainty 21% 20% - 22% 15% - 16% 16% - 16% Total Uncertainty 28% - 47% 34% - 54% 22% - 28% 31% - 47%	Statistical Uncertainty	19%-40%	30%-49%	16%-23%	29% - 39%
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Photon Purity	18%	18%	12%	12%
Tracking performance 5.6% <t< td=""><td>Underlying Event</td><td>8% - 15%</td><td>7%-12%</td><td>7%-10%</td><td>6-%6</td></t<>	Underlying Event	8% - 15%	7%-12%	7%-10%	6-%6
Acceptance mismatch - - 5% 5% 5% Photon Energy Scale <1%	Tracking performance	5.6%	5.6%	5.6%	5.6%
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Acceptance mismatch	Ι	I	5%	5%
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Photon Energy Scale	$<\!1\%$	$<\!1\%$	$<\!1\%$	<1%
Material budget $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ $<1\%$ <td>Photon Energy Resolution</td> <td>$<\!1\%$</td> <td>$<\!1\%$</td> <td>$<\!1\%$</td> <td>$<\!1\%$</td>	Photon Energy Resolution	$<\!1\%$	$<\!1\%$	$<\!1\%$	$<\!1\%$
Luminosity scale -	Material budget	$<\!1\%$	$<\!1\%$	<1%	<1%
Vertex efficiency -	Luminosity scale	I	I	I	I
Trigger corrections -	Vertex efficiency	I	I	I	I
	Trigger corrections	I	I	I	I
Total Systematic Uncertainty $21\%-24\%$ $20\%-22\%$ $15\%-16\%$ $16\%-16\%$ Total Uncertainty $28\%-47\%$ $34\%-54\%$ $22\%-28\%$ $31\%-47\%$	Photon reconstruction efficiency	I	I	I	I
Total Uncertainty 28%-47% 34%-54% 22%-28% 31%-47%	Total Systematic Uncertainty	21%-24%	20%-22%	15%-16%	16% - 16%
	Total Uncertainty	28%- $47%$	34%- $54%$	22%- $28%$	31%-47%

4.2.1 Toy Monte Carlo for Validating Event Mixing

Given a perfect detector with limited acceptance, the mixed-event correlation function is expected to be flat in $\Delta \varphi$. This is because the minimum bias tracks detected by an idealized version of the ITS will have a flat distribution in φ . While the EMCal has a limited acceptance in φ , the $\Delta \varphi$ distribution will be flat, as any trigger cluster will be correlated with tracks that are homogeneously spaced in φ . In other words, minimum bias tracks are just as likely to be near a trigger photon as they are to be opposite the trigger photon. Additionally, the shape in $\Delta \eta$ is expected to be triangular. Both the EMCal and ITS have a limited acceptance in η , and the convolution of two square distributions yields a triangular shape. This is shown in the left panel of Figure 4.1, where trigger photons are constrained in φ and η according to the EMCal acceptance, and tracks are limited in η corresponding to a perfect ITS with full azimuthal coverage.



Figure 4.1: Toy Monte Carlo mixed-event correlation function. (Left) Photons are produced randomly within $0^{\circ} \leq \varphi \geq 107^{\circ}$ and $-0.67 \leq \eta \leq 0.67$ to roughly match the ALICE EMCal acceptance. Tracks are produced randomly for all values of φ (between 0° and 360°) and $-0.8 < \eta < 0.8$ to match the acceptance of an ideal ITS. (Right) Photons are generated in the same range as the left panel, however tracks have the additional constraint of excluding the range $25^{\circ} < \varphi < 45^{\circ}$ and $245^{\circ} < \varphi < 270^{\circ}$ in order to roughly approximate holes in the charged particle tracking efficiency, relative to the EMCal acceptance.

However, this flat distribution cannot be assumed, seen previously in Figure 3.22 and now in right panel of Figure 4.1. Dead areas or spots with a lower overall tracking efficiency accumulate over years of use at the LHC, and if large enough they can effect the pair efficiency and therefore the mixed event correlations. This is shown in Figure 4.1. Both track and trigger photon $\Delta \eta$ and $\Delta \varphi$ are constrained according to their respective detector acceptances, however additional holes in the φ distribution of tracks are placed according to 2D tracking efficiency plot, see Fig. 3.18, Sec. 3.8.

4.2.2 Binned Event Mixing

In order to ensure that the shape of the mixed event correlations arising from the Gale-Shapley matching algorithm, a more standard binned event mixing method was compared.

Typically, events are binned according the their event topology, centrality, z-vertex, and second order event plane angle (in PbPb), and then added to larger pools of events according to these bins. While it depends on the analysis, very common bin sizes are 5%, 2cm for centrality and z-vertex. The Gale-Shapley pairing algorithm is novel for this use case, and thus a check was carried out in which the mixed event correlation function was calculated using the standard binning method for event mixing.



Figure 4.2: 10 Mixed-Event correlation using the traditional binning method (left). The Gale-Shapley Mixed Event Correlation (right). The major features presented in the Gale-Shapley-Paired Mixed event correlation are reproduced in this low-statistics binned mixing check.

The major features of the Gale-Shapley mixed event correlation are reproduced in the binned event mixing correlation. These include the trapezoidal shape in $\Delta \eta$, attributed to the finite acceptance of the EMCal and ITS in $\Delta \eta$, as well the non-uniformity in $\Delta \phi$, particularly the enhancement around $\Delta \varphi \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$, which Fig. 4.1 showed are the result of efficiency holes in the ITS.

4.3 Underlying Event Estimation

The underlying event must be corrected for in two separate steps in this analysis. One is the pedestal in the correlation functions, attributed to correlating soft particles in the underlying event with the trigger isolated photon. The second is in the estimation of the underlying event density used in the isolation criteria. This section discusses checks on both corrections.

4.3.1 Large $\Delta \eta$ Check

The ZYAM assumption is incredibly useful, as it indicates the overall magnitude of the background arising from the underlying event. It is, however, an assumption that must be checked. To check that the pedestal estimate using the ZYAM assumption truly corresponds to the amount of uncorrelated background, it is compared with another reasonable background estimation method.

As a check on the ZYAM procedure, one can take advantage of the fact that the UEestimation is independent of $\Delta \eta$ and that the genuine correlations due to hard scatterings decrease as $\Delta \eta$ increases. To this end, a region that is dominated by UE is selected, and then extrapolate back to the region that would normally contains both UE and hard scattering contribution. The UE level is estimated by projecting the measured yield in $0.8 < |\Delta \eta| < 1.4$ onto the $\Delta \varphi$ axis. To minimize bias from the isolation cut as well as the away side jet peak, the uncorrelated background is estimated from the projection in the region $0.4 < \Delta \varphi < 1.4$. This $(\Delta \varphi, \Delta \eta)$ region is illustrated in Figure 4.3. This region is chosen because particles from the same hard scattering are very unlikely to have a small $\Delta \varphi$ and large $\Delta \eta$ in the absence of flow effects. This is because the nearside jet peak arises from autocorrelation of particles within a jet, i.e. it is sensitive only to the individual characteristics of a single parent parton and its fragmentation process. Therefore, the near side jet peak is observed as a sharp peak at small $\Delta \varphi$ and $\Delta \eta$. The away side jet ridge, however, is the result of correlating particles between jets, and is therefore sensitive to the $k_{\rm T}$ asymmetry of the two colliding partons: The partons in the initial system do not necessarily have $0 p_{\rm T}$. Both partons can have an initial transverse momentum, $k_{\rm T}$, that makes up a component of their overall momentum fraction of the nucleon, Bjorken-x, and the resulting scattering becomes more spread out in $\Delta \eta$. For this reason, a region in small $\Delta \varphi$ and large $\Delta \eta$ will be dominated by the underlying event, as it avoids the away-side ridge, and the sharp near side jet peak.

The statistical uncertainty in the UE estimate method is taken as a systematic uncertainty for $\Delta \varphi$ correlations as it is completely correlated bin-to-bin in $\Delta \varphi$. Figure 4.4 shows the two UE estimates compared with the isolated photon-hadron $\Delta \varphi$ correlations for only 2 $z_{\rm T}$ bins in order to show detail. The full detail of the two UE estimates is shown in Tables 4.2 for pp and p–Pb data. The two estimates are consistent within uncertainties for almost all $z_{\rm T}$ bins in both pp and p–Pb data. For the only case where a significant disagreement is observed, which is for the lowest $z_{\rm T}$ bin in p–Pb data, the difference is summed in quadrature as an additional systematic uncertainty.

4.3.2 Checks on UE Estimate with Standard ALICE Tracking

As discussed in Section 3.8, the TPC had space-charge distortions during the 2013 p–Pb run that resulted in a drop in efficiency for tracking beyond 4 GeV, which limits the ability to use it for the correlation measurements. However, the TPC tracks can still be used for low $p_{\rm T}$ tracking, which is the relevant region for underlying-event and isolation measurements.



Figure 4.3: The 2D region used to calculate the uncorrelated background. The $\Delta \varphi$ region is chosen to avoid the away side jet peak, as well as the isolation region of R=0.4. The $\Delta \eta$ region is chosen assuming that genuine correlations from hard-scatterings decrease as $\Delta \eta$ increases. The large $\Delta \eta$ is projected onto the $\Delta \varphi$ axis, and then averaged within region of $0.4 < \Delta \varphi < 1.4$. ZYAM is estimated in the region $0.4 < \Delta \varphi < 1.4$, but for the full $\Delta \eta$ range $(-1.2 < \Delta \eta < 1.2)$.



Figure 4.4: Projections of the γ^{iso} -hadron correlations in p–Pb collisions in 2 z_{T} bins after correlated subtraction with UE estimates plotted. The grey points represent the large $\Delta \eta$ region ($0.8 < |\Delta \eta| < 1.2$) projected onto the $\Delta \varphi$ axis. The blue band represents the region used to calculate ZYAM and the green band represents the region of large $\Delta \eta$ points used to calculate the Large $\Delta \eta$ estimate.

Table 4.2: Summary of UE-pedestal estimates with ZYAM and the $\Delta \eta$ method for various $z_{\rm T}$ bins, as well as the difference between LE and ZYAM estimates. The background estimate is shown in units of pairs per trigger. The uncertainty quoted is statistical only.

$z_{\rm T}$ interval	ZYAM	Large $\Delta \eta$	Difference
pp			
0.06 - 0.08	0.480 ± 0.007	0.472 ± 0.015	0.008 ± 0.016
0.08 - 0.11	0.347 ± 0.006	0.346 ± 0.012	0.000 ± 0.014
0.11 - 0.14	0.219 ± 0.005	0.209 ± 0.010	0.009 ± 0.011
0.14 - 0.19	0.131 ± 0.004	0.129 ± 0.008	0.002 ± 0.008
0.19 - 0.25	0.063 ± 0.002	0.058 ± 0.005	0.005 ± 0.006
0.25 - 0.34	0.030 ± 0.002	0.025 ± 0.003	0.005 ± 0.004
0.34 - 0.45	0.013 ± 0.001	0.015 ± 0.003	0.002 ± 0.003
0.45 - 0.60	0.006 ± 0.001	0.005 ± 0.002	0.001 ± 0.002
p–Pb			
0.06 - 0.08	1.142 ± 0.006	1.190 ± 0.013	0.047 ± 0.014
0.08 - 0.11	0.855 ± 0.005	0.864 ± 0.011	0.010 ± 0.012
0.11 - 0.14	0.557 ± 0.004	0.566 ± 0.009	0.009 ± 0.010
0.14 - 0.19	0.318 ± 0.003	0.317 ± 0.007	0.001 ± 0.007
0.19 - 0.25	0.151 ± 0.002	0.159 ± 0.005	0.009 ± 0.005
0.25 - 0.34	0.062 ± 0.001	0.062 ± 0.003	0.000 ± 0.003
0.34 - 0.45	0.022 ± 0.001	0.021 ± 0.002	0.001 ± 0.002
0.45 - 0.60	0.007 ± 0.000	0.006 ± 0.001	0.001 ± 0.001

Figure 4.5 shows the ρ and isolation distributions measured with ITS-only and TPC+ITS tracks in p–Pb data. The ρ distributions are very similar; the mean is 3.129 GeV and 3.202 GeV for ITS and TPC+ITS ρ values respectively. While the ITS tracking resolution is poorer, the smearing effects are relative small at low momentum.

There are some differences in the isolation distribution that can be attributed to the worse momentum resolution for the ITS-only tracks as the isolation is sensitive to higher $p_{\rm T}$ tracks where the momentum resolution worsening is more significant. For simplicity the same threshold of 1.5 GeV/c is used for the $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ candidates for both the ITS-only and ITS+TPC tracks. The ITS+TPC tracks leads to a better rejection of the background, which leads to an increased photon purity. This is shown in Figure 4.6.

The main results (correlation function) were checked in p–Pb data by performing the analysis with isolation variable, UE estimate, and corresponding purity values calculated separately for ITS-only tracks and for ITS+TPC tracks. As shown in Figure 4.7, the results are consistent. A slightly better statistical uncertainty is obtained when including TPC (a relative uncertainty of 22% to 41% depending on $z_{\rm T}$ vs 24% to 51% for the ITS case), which an be attributed to the corresponding higher purity. However, these slightly better statistical uncertainties do not change the main result of this study. For consistency with pp results



Figure 4.5: Transverse momentum density (left panel) and isolation distributions (right panel) determined with ITS tracks (in blue) and TPC+ITS tracks (in orange) in p–Pb data.



Figure 4.6: Comparison of purity obtained in p–Pb collisions with isolation variable obtained with ITS-only tracks (purple) and with ITS+TPC tracks (cyan). The error bars represent statistical uncertainty only.

(where one cannot use ITS+TPC tracks because the TPC was not read out), results for ITS-only tracks was chosen for the final analysis.



Figure 4.7: Comparison of fragmentation function measurement in p–Pb collisions with isolation variable obtained with ITS-only tracks (blue) and with ITS+TPC tracks (red).

This study comparing ITS-only tracking and ITS+TPC tracks serves as a check against possible biases due to worse momentum resolution or fake rate of the ITS-only tracking. Because consistent results are obtained with the standard ITS+TPC tracking, no additional systematic uncertainty is assigned for the tracking performance on UE-estimate and isolation variables.

4.4 Purity

4.4.1 Systematic Uncertainties of the Purity Measurement

¹There are two assumptions underlying the template fit procedure. The first is that the signal template from simulations is correct. The second is that the shape of the background estimated from the anti-isolated sideband, with the correction estimated from simulations, reflects the shape of the background in the signal region. In other words, the assumption is that the correlation between the shower shape and isolation variables can be corrected for via an Monte-Carlo simulation tuned to match the real detector response. The dominant sources of systematic uncertainty on the purity calculation are described in this section and can be summarized as follows: the signal template, the sideband region selection, and

 $^{^1\}mathrm{Please}$ see Alwina Liu's UC Berkley Thesis for a more thorough discussion of systematics on the purity measurement

the background template correction. The effect of varying the cluster selection requirements were investigated, but it was found that the variations on the purity measurements are much smaller than the other sources of systematic uncertainties investigated here. Therefore, they are neglected.

4.4.2 Signal Template

The systematic uncertainty on the purity calculation arising from imperfections in the signal template is estimated by using a data-driven template fit. To this end, the range of the χ^2 fit to the background-dominated region of the shower-shape distribution is restricted (0.4–1.5 for σ_{long}^2) and the background template is used to fit the isolated data with the normalization as the only free parameter. In order to factorize the effect of the MC-correction to the background template, that correction is not applied here. Once the background normalization is determined, the signal is considered to be the integral of the isolated data minus the integral of the background, both in the signal region of the shower-shape variable.

Figure 4.8 shows the results obtained with this method in pp and p–Pb data. There appears to be some systematic pattern in the residuals, which can be attributed to the decision of not applying the MC-correction to the background template for this study.

The results agree with the nominal results within a few percent, indicating that the measurement is not particularly sensitive to the details of the modeling of the shower shape. As a conservative estimate, the full difference between the nominal results is taken as a systematic uncertainty in the signal template.



Figure 4.8: Template fit results of background-only template method for pp and p–Pb data.

4.4.3 Sideband variation in the background template

To estimate the shower-shape distribution for the γ^{decay} background in the template fit, a sideband in the cluster isolation variable is used. Only the shape of this distribution is relevant, as the overall background normalization in the signal region (i.e. the purity) is measured with the template fit. As in any analysis using a sideband technique, nominally a sideband as close as possible to the signal region and as narrow as possible is used.

To calculate the systematic uncertainty on the purity due to this selection, the full range of purities reached by narrow bands of anti-isolation that fall within 5–10 GeV/c is considered. Converting the full extent to a systematic uncertainty is a matter of dividing by $\sqrt{12}$ (i.e, the 1 σ for a uniform distribution). This results in an absolute uncertainty on the purity of 0.7–5.8%, depending on the collision system and cluster $p_{\rm T}$ range.

4.4.4 Background template correction

Due to correlations between the isolation and shower shape, the template extracted from the anti-isolated sideband does not exactly reflect the shape of the background in the signal region. Clusters in the isolation sideband have more associated hadronic activity than those in the true isolated background and thus emphasize the non-signal region of the shower-shape distribution. Consequently, using the isolation sideband instead of the true isolated background yields systematically higher purities. It should be noted that a similar observation was made for example by the CMS collaboration in their template-fit purity measurements in [99])

A dijet MC simulation is used to correct this bias, as described in Equation 3.6. However, this correction is only valid to the extent that the dijet MC reproduces the data. To estimate the systematic uncertainty on this correction, a double ratio is used to check to how well the dijet MC describes the background-dominated region in data[106]:

Double ratio =
$$\frac{\text{Iso}_{\text{data}}/\text{Anti-iso}_{\text{data}}}{\text{Iso}_{\text{MC}}/\text{Anti-iso}_{\text{MC}}}$$
 (4.1)

In the signal region of the shower shape distribution $(0.0-0.3 \text{ for } \sigma_{\text{long}}^2)$, this double ratio will be far from unity, as the data have prompt photons and the dijet MC do not. However, away from that region, where background dominates, the double ratio should be flat (i.e. have no slope) if the dijet MC reproduces the background shower-shape of the data. It should be noted that for this analysis, only the shape is important and overall normalization is irrelevant. Therefore, at a minimum the variation in the double ratio is expected to be smooth. Thus the double ratio is fit to smooth functions (linear and exponential) in a shower shape range away from the signal region and extrapolated the fit back into the signal region. A similar procedure was used isolated-photon purity measurements with the ABCD method [93].

These linear fits to the double ratio were done in two fit ranges: 0.5–1.5 and 0.5–1.75 for σ_{long}^2 . In all cases, it was found that the slopes were consistent with 0 within the fit

uncertainties and thus concluded that the dijet MC was consistent with the data. Therefore, an additional double-ratio correction is not needed to the weights function in Equation 3.6. It was also found that the double ratio fits with the different fit ranges gave purities consistent with each other. So in order to minimize the amount of extrapolation, the fit in the largest reasonable fit ranges for each of the variables was done (the larger of each of the ranges described at the beginning of this paragraph).

The uncertainty on double ratio fit is then taken and propagated to a purity uncertainty. This purity uncertainty was then taken to be the systematic uncertainty on the background correction. It varies between 1.2-3.4% (absolute) depending on cluster $p_{\rm T}$ and collision system.

4.4.5 Summary of Systematic Uncertainties on Purity Measurement

Tables 4.3 and 4.4 give the full estimates of the systematic uncertainties on the purity in both collision systems. No single source of systematic uncertainty dominates across $p_{\rm T}$ ranges or collision systems.

Table 4.3: Summary of the systematic uncertainties on the purity as measured with σ_{long}^2 in p–Pb collisions. All values are in absolute percentage. "Stat." refers to the statistical uncertainty; "Signal" refers to the signal template uncertainty; "Anti-iso" refers to the uncertainty due to the sideband selection; "Bkg" refers to the uncertainty due to the background template correction; "Total" is the sum of the previous three columns in quadrature.

pT(GeV/c)	Purity	Stat.	Signal	Anti-iso	Bkg	Total syst
12.0-15.0	20.7	1.1	1.1	0.8	1.5	2.0
15.0-20.0	34.2	1.2	2.0	1.6	1.2	2.8
20.0-25.0	47.6	1.7	1.9	1.1	1.7	2.7
25.0-40.0	54.6	1.8	2.3	2.4	2.1	3.9

Table 4.4: Summary of the systematic uncertainties on the purity as measured with σ_{long}^2 in pp collisions. All values are in absolute percentage. "Stat." refers to the statistical uncertainty; "Signal" refers to the signal template uncertainty; "Anti-iso" refers to the uncertainty due to the sideband selection; "Bkg" refers to the uncertainty due to the background template correction; "Total" is the sum of the previous three columns in quadrature.

pT(GeV/c)	Purity	Stat.	Signal	Anti-iso	Bkg	Total syst
12.0-15.0	20.1	1.7	2.0	1.2	2.9	3.7
15.0-20.0	31.7	2.0	2.5	1.5	2.4	3.8
20.0-25.0	47.3	2.9	0.8	3.0	2.8	4.2
25.0-40.0	48.5	3.5	5.9	4.0	3.4	7.9

4.5 Tracking

In order to select good-quality tracks emerging from the primary vertex while maintaining a high efficiency, each track is required to satisfy the cuts summarized in Table 4.5. A set of standard cuts are applied to all tracks, and additional track cuts are applied depending separately for TPC+ITS or ITS-only tracks.

Common Cuts	
track η	$ \eta < 0.8$
track $p_{\rm T}$	$p_{\rm T} \ge 0.150 \ { m GeV}/c$
SetMaxDCAToVertexXY	$2.4 \mathrm{~cm}$
SetMaxDCAToVertexZ	$3.2~\mathrm{cm}$
SetDCAToVertex2D	TRUE
TPC+ITS Cuts	
SetMinNClustersTPCPtDep	70.+30./20.*x, 20.0
SetMinNClustersTPC	70
SetMaxChi2PerClusterTPC	4
SetMaxChi2PerClusterITS	36
SetMaxFractionSharedTPCClusters	0.4
SetMaxChi2TPCConstrainedGlobal	36
SetRequireTPCStandAlone	TRUE
SetRequireTPCRefit	TRUE
SetRequireITSRefit	TRUE
SetRequireSigmaToVertex	FALSE
SetAcceptKinkDaughters	FALSE
ITS–Only Cuts	
SetRequireITSPureStandAlone	TRUE
SetMinNClustersITS	4
SetMaxChi2PerClusterITS	36

Table 4.5: Summary of the cuts used in Track Selection.

4.5.1 Comparison to Published Data

A closure test was preformed to validate the MC corrections used for the tracking efficiency, fake track rate, and momentum smearing². A "folding" of the published spectrum was preformed instead of unfolding the measured ITS-only spectrum because the former is a unique transformation and avoids the need for systematic studies of the stability of the unfolding procedure. This allows us to test the response matrix with higher precision.

²Credit to Dhruv Dixit. Please see his UCB Thesis for more details and insight.

The published data has a total uncertainty (quadrature sum of statistical and systematic uncertainties) that ranges from 1.8% at 1 GeV/c, reaches 4.8% by 10 GeV/c and grows quickly to about 20% at 15 GeV/c, where it is dominated by the statistical uncertainty.

The ratio of the published data to the smeared published data is shown to illustrates the impact of the momentum smearing, which is less than a 2% effect for TPC+ITS tracks but it reaches up to twice that in the ITS-only case above 7 GeV/c. The closure-test ratios from TPC+ITS tracking are consistent with unity within uncertainties, which is expected. The ratios with ITS-only tracking are within $\pm 5\%$ of unity in the range between 0.85–10 GeV/c and within $\pm 8\%$ of unity in the range between 0.5–0.85 GeV/c, which is the range used for the γ^{iso} -hadron analysis. This difference from unity is used as a systematic uncertainty on the tracking.

The statistically-significant deviation from the published data with ITS-only tracking at high $p_{\rm T}$ could be due to several reasons including improper modeling of a rapid deterioration of the momentum resolution and underestimation of fake rate. Further work would be needed to understand and correct these and other effects at high $p_{\rm T}$, but that lies beyond the scope of this work.

Apart from the effect of φ -dependent acceptance holes, the measured azimuthal angle distribution of tracks is expected to be uniform in minimum-bias data. Thus the track φ spectrum is measured and then corrected for the φ -dependent efficiency and checked whether the distribution is flat. The level of flatness gives us a sense of the systematic uncertainties associated with mis-modeling of the φ -dependent efficiency.

After applying the φ efficiency, the holes are corrected, and a distribution which is flat within $\pm 2.5\%$ is obtained. The TPC+ITS remains flat after the efficiency correction, as expected. This shows that the dead channels in the ITS are well-described in the simulation.

4.5.2 Summary of the ITS-only Tracking Performance Studies

³This section summarizes the findings of the studies on ITS-only tracking performance:

1. Tracking Efficiency:

The ITS-only tracking efficiency is 75% at 150 MeV/c and grows to 85% at 1 GeV/c and above.

2. Fake rate:

The fake rate of ITS-only tracking is about 10 times worse than for TPC+ITS tracks, but still less than 20% below 10 GeV/c, which is the relevant range for the analyses presented in this work.

3. Momentum resolution:

The momentum smearing effects are significant for ITS-only tracking. The bin-to-bin correction factor due to smearing effects for ITS-only tracking is 0.7 at 10 GeV/c and 0.5 at 15 GeV/c. The smearing effects for ITS+TPC tracking are negligible.

³Please see Dhruv Dixit's UCB Thesis for more details.



Figure 4.9: Result of closure test comparing measured data and published data, for TPC+ITS tracking (top) and ITS-only tracking (bottom). The red curves show the ratio of the reference spectra to the smeared reference spectra. The blue curves show the ratio of the fake-subtracted measured data and the smeared reference spectra. Ideally the blue curve would be flat at unity. The error bar represents statistical uncertainty only for the blue curve, and the quadrature sum of statistical and systematic uncertainties for the red curve. Additionally, the dashed lines from 0.5 to 0.85 GeV/crepresent an 8% band around 1.0, while the dashed lines from 0.85 to 10.0 GeV/crepresent a 5% band around 1.0.

4. Description of φ holes

The efficiency as a function of φ shows inhomogeneity not present in the TPC+ITS tracking that are attributed to dead staves in the ITS. These are concentrated in specific η and φ regions. These are well described in the simulation.

These studies validate the MC corrections for tracking efficiency, fake rate and momentum smearing by comparing with published data. The combined systematic uncertainty on tracking performance is estimated to be a relative $\pm 5\%$ for ITS-only tracks with $0.5 < p_{\rm T} < 10$ GeV/c.

4.6 Neutral Energy in Isolation Variable

In this analysis, the isolation variable was constructed using only charged-particles. In principle, neutral particles could have been added as well in the isolation definition. However, that would have limited the acceptance the measurement. For example, the recent ALICE isolated photon measurement [93] restricted the pseudorapidity of the γ^{iso} to $|\eta| < 0.27$ to ensure a good containment of the isolation cone that has a radius of R = 0.4 (the EMCal acceptance is $|\eta| < 0.67$). An acceptance limitation would have a large impact of this analysis in terms of statistical precision, so a "charged-only" isolation was chosen. This is not different than several ALICE jet analyses that report "charged-only" jets rather than "full-jets".

PYTHIA8 events are used to estimate the impact on the isolation variable of including neutral-particles. Figure 4.10 shows the comparison of the prompt-photon hadron correlations according to PYTHIA8 when using no isolation requirement; with an isolation variable based on charged particles (used in this analysis); and with an isolation variable based on both charged-particles and neutral particles. In all cases, the charged-particles and neutral particles are final-state particles and have $p_{\rm T} > 150 \text{ MeV}/c$ and $|\eta| < 0.8$. No significant difference between the selection of 1.5 GeV/c based on charged particles and the selection based on 2.0 GeV/c based on charged and neutral particles was observed. Therefore, the charged ISO < 1.5 GeV/c selection is sufficient to suppress the near-side peak in the correlation functions coming from fragmentation photons, and that using neutral-particles in the isolation variable would not yield any significant improvement.

4.7 Impact of Acceptance Difference Between pp and p–Pb due to Boost

The impact of the acceptance difference between pp and p–Pb data that arises due to the boost in p–Pb data was estimated. The boost in p–Pb data arises due to the energy difference between the proton and lead beam, and it amounts to a rapidity difference of $\Delta y = 0.47$ in the proton-going direction. That means that in p–Pb collisions, the lab acceptance for photons



Figure 4.10: Correlation function between prompt photons and hadrons from PYTHIA8 for various $z_{\rm T}$ bins. Three selections on the prompt photons based on isolation are presented: no isolation (blue); ISO < 1.5 GeV/c that considers only charged-particles (orange); and ISO < 2.0 GeV/c that considers both charged and neutral particles (green). In all cases, the uncorrelated background has been subtracted using the ZYAM method. The error bar represent statistical uncertainty only.

that is $-0.67 < \eta < 0.67$ corresponds to $-0.2 < \eta < 1.14$ in the center-of-mass frame, whereas the charged-particle acceptance of $-0.8 < \eta < 0.8$ corresponds to $-0.33 < \eta < 1.27$ in the center-of-mass frame.

PYTHIA8 events are used to estimate what is the difference between γ^{iso} -hadron correlations with the acceptance of γ^{iso} and charged particles $-0.20 < \eta < 1.14$ and $-0.33 < \eta < 1.27$ instead of the nominal ranges of $-0.67 < \eta < 0.67$ and $-0.8 < \eta < 0.8$. This is shown in Figure 4.11. The boosted acceptance results in about a 5% lower γ^{iso} -hadron correlation signal compared to the nominal acceptance, irrespective of z_{T} range. For illustration purposes, the impact of a boost of $\Delta y = 1.0$ is also plotted in Figure 4.11. This shows a decrease of about 15% with respect to the nominal acceptance, irrespective of z_{T} range.

The chosen integration window (dashed lines) in the figure above makes it clear what effect this may have on the final away side yields. The effect of the acceptance mismatch in this analysis is limited due to the relatively small boost of $\Delta y = 0.47$. Additionally, the limited acceptance of EMCal and ITS means that even with the boost in p–Pb, the data are still well within the mid-rapidity region where the cross-sections do not change drastically. As a result of this study, a 5% correction is applied and a 3% uncertainty is propagated to the final analysis⁴.

4.8 Isolated-photon Efficiency Effects

Because the correlation functions are normalized per photon trigger, the photon efficiency cancels. In principle, a bias may be introduced if the photon efficiency varied rapidly within the photon $p_{\rm T}$ range being used (12–40 GeV/c) but this section will show that such bias is negligible.

The efficiency of the isolated-photon selection is shown in Figure 4.12. The efficiency is rather independent of $p_{\rm T}$ in the range relevant for this analysis. Less than 1% variation is observed between the high and low ranges of the energy distribution of the photon triggers (77.7% at 12 GeV/c and 78.5% at 40 GeV/c). This level of variation has a negligible impact in this correlation analysis.

4.9 Check for Effects of Isolation Cone Coverage

In this analysis⁵, only clusters with $|\eta| < 0.67$ (Section 3.5) are used, with an isolation variable constructed with tracks with $|\eta| < 0.8$ (Section 3.8) and a cone size of R = 0.4 (Section 3.6.1). The isolation cone is thus fully contained in the tracking acceptance only for clusters with $|\eta| < 0.4$; the isolation cone for clusters with $0.4 < |\eta| < 0.67$ is only partially

⁴The 5% difference in p–Pbdue to the boost was initially going to be applied as an uncertainty. The correction to the final analysis, however, was trivial, involving a simple scaling factor to the p–Pbdata. As a result, the correction was applied and a slightly smaller uncertainty was assigned.

⁵Credit Alwina Liu. Please see her UCB Thesis for more detail.



The nominal result ($\Delta y = 0$, in blue) is compared with results obtained with a kinematic selection that mimics the boost of p–Pb data (orange). For illustration purposes, the impact of a boost that is larger than the one of p–Pb data $(\Delta y = 1.0 \text{ in green})$ is shown. The dashed lines at $\varphi = \frac{7\pi}{8}$ indicates the integration window used to obtain the away Figure 4.11: Correlation function between isolated prompt photons and hadrons from PYTHIA8 for various $z_{\rm T}$ bins. side yields.



Figure 4.12: Isolated-photon efficiency obtained with p–Pb simulation.

covered in pseudorapidity. Note that the tracking acceptance covers the full azimuthal angle so this is not an issue in azimuth.

To check for possible biases due to partial containment of the isolation cone in pseudorapidity, all measured clusters were split into two categories, $|\eta| < 0.4$ and $0.4 < |\eta| < 0.67$, and the purity in each sample was studied. In principle, if the bias introduced by the lack of total coverage of the isolation cone would lead to higher background in the $0.4 < |\eta| < 0.67$ region (background might appear less-isolated than in reality, and might pass the selection), it should thus lead to a lower purity. This study is performed in p–Pb data, which has better statistical precision than the pp data and would allow us to better constrain small biases. Both sets of measurements are compatible within statistical uncertainties. Thus, the potential bias due to incomplete coverage of isolation cone is negligible and any systematic uncertainty to this source is not assigned to the measurement. This observation may be explained by noting that the azimuthal angle is fully covered, and that most of the energy in the isolation cone is within small angles of the neutral-mesons which dominate the background in the isolated photon sample (the background is primarily high-z neutral mesons in jets).

4.10 Cluster Selection Variations

This section studies the impact of variations in the cluster selection (Section 3.5) on the purity measurement. It should be noted that the purity by itself is not a physical quantity. It is entirely cut-dependent, where a higher purity often results in a lower efficiency. As a result, the variations in this analysis are not used to estimate an uncertainty on the purity.

The variations studied are listed below.

- Impact of the number-of-local maximum (NLM) criteria for clusters was studied. The NLM < 3 selection was used in previous isolated photon analyzes (e.g. Ref [93, 106]), where it was found to help to improve the simulation description of the background shower-shape. The purity measurement was done with and without this selection in pp and p–Pb data. No significant difference is observed.
- Varying the distance-to-bad channel cut from the nominal ≥ 1 to ≥ 2 was studied. This change would remove about 20% of the γ^{iso} candidates. Once again, no significant difference is observed in the purity measurement.
- Study on the effect of the purity measurement with and without cluster time selection. No significant difference is observed.
- An exoticity cut with a threshold of 5% (nominal) and a variation of 3%. No significant difference is observed.
- Purity measurement was studied with different isolation thresholds. The nominal threshold of 1.5 GeV/c is varied by ± 0.2 GeV/c. As expected the higher (lower) isolation threshold results in a lower (higher) purity. However, the difference with respect to the nominal result is small compared to the statistical and systematic uncertainties. This indicates that the purity measurement has only a weak dependence on the choice of isolation threshold.

Given that the impact of these cluster variations on the purity measurement is small compared to the estimated systematic uncertainties (described in Section 4.4.1), no additional systematic uncertainty due to cluster selection is assigned.

4.11 MC-based Correction for Background Template

Figure 4.13 shows the weight correction⁶ (see Eq. 3.6) applied to the anti-isolation showershape distribution, which is obtained from dijet MC simulation. As described in more detail in Section 3.7, only the shape of this correction is relevant as the normalization is fixed by the template fit. The systematic uncertainty associated with this correction is obtained with a double-ratio using data in the background-dominated region ($\sigma_{long}^2 > 0.4$), as described in more detail in Section 4.4.1, but is a $\approx 3\%$ (abs.) effect on the purity.

⁶Credit Alwina Liu. Please see her UCB Thesis for more details.



Figure 4.13: MC-based correction applied to the background shower-shape template for p–Pb collisions in various $p_{\rm T}$ ranges.

4.12 Checks on Error Function Fits to Purity

The purity is fit to a 3-parameter error function, shown in Figure 3.13, in order to capture the quickly rising behavior at low photon- $p_{\rm T}$ and to avoid bin-edge effects. The use of an error function was chosen as it best represents the data as shown in Figure 4.14

It is important to note that the uncertainty on the fit is not propagated as an uncertainty on correlation analysis. The uncertainty arising from the purity is discussed in detail in Section 4.4.1. The fit is used in order to enable a cluster-by-cluster weighting when constructing the decay- γ^{iso} hadron correlation, followed by the correlated subtraction. The error function agrees well within the purity uncertainties, seen in Section 3.9.3 as well as in the last panel in Figure 4.14.

Additionally, a check was performed to study the effect that shifting the bin-centers horizontally would have on the fit. A comparison was made between using the linear center of the bins as the bin-center and using the mean $p_{\rm T}$ for the photon-bin (this essentially shifts the



Figure 4.14: Various functions fit the purity in pp. While there is no simple physics-motivated reason to use the error-function, it was the only function to simultaneously capture the quick rise at low $p_{\rm T}$ as well as the plateau at high $p_{\rm T}$.



Figure 4.15: Comparison of two different bin-centers for used in the purity-error function fit. Blue indicates the fit using the linear center of the bin $p_{\rm T}$ bin-width. The red represents using the mean $p_{\rm T}$ for that $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ $p_{\rm T}$ -bin. The left panel shows the comparison for pp, while the right panel shows the comparison for p–Pb. The x-axis is the $\gamma^{\rm iso}p_{\rm T}$ in units of GeV/c. While a small difference is observed, it is well within the uncertainties on the purity, as well as in the the fits' confidence intervals.

bin centers towards lower values of $p_{\rm T}$ due to the quickly falling photon $p_{\rm T}$ spectrum). This comparison is shown for pp and p–Pb in Figure 4.15. There is a shift in the fit after shifting the bin centers, as expected, but it is extremely small compared to the overall uncertainty on the purity and is therefore neglected when considering final systematics uncertainties.

4.13 Smearing The Signal Template Shape

As part of the investigation into evaluating the template fit systematic uncertainty, studies were performed on "smearing" of the signal-shape template. That is, for each cluster the measured σ_{long}^2 is smeared by multiplying it by some random number drawn from a Gaussian centered at unity with a given standard deviation "smearing width".

A rather significant deterioration of the χ^2 with increasing smearing width is observed, which indicates that smearing beyond $\approx 3\%$ is strongly disfavoured by the data. To account for the deterioration of the χ^2 from the smearing, the statistical error of the purity is multiplied by a scaling factor of $\sqrt{\chi^2/\text{dof}}$. A trend of decreasing purity with increasing smearing width can be accounted for by the artificial worsening of the goodness-of-fit.

The error on the constant fit to the resulting purity values and deviation of its central value from the nominal result (smearing width equal to zero) is below absolute 1% difference. This is much smaller than the signal-template uncertainty based on the background-only template fit described in Section 4.4.1. The same conclusion holds for all $p_{\rm T}$ ranges in both the pp and p–Pb data.

4.14 Check on Sensitivity to $\Delta \varphi$ Binning

Here, the impact of binning on the final correlation functions is quantified. The bin size could affect the ZYAM estimate and the shape of the correlation peak. This is studied by doubling the number of $\Delta \varphi$ bins, which allows integrating the correlation in exactly the same window as reported in the nominal results ($\Delta \varphi > 7\pi/8$). Figure 4.16 shows the study. The main conclusion of the study does not change: in every $z_{\rm T}$ bin, the pp and p–Pb data are compatible within uncertainties (as quantified in the figure by the χ^2 and corresponding p-value). PYTHIA8 describes the data within uncertainties.

4.15 Checking Sensitivity to Beam Flip

The final results should not depend on the orientation of the beam, (for a detector with an acceptance/efficiency that is roughly symmetric about z = 0). Figure 4.17 shows results two using two run periods that differ in the beam configuration and have roughly similar integrated luminosity, as well as the nominal results. No significant difference is observed between the different datasets.

4.16 Correlations including $\Delta \varphi = 0$

Figure 4.18 shows the correlation results down to 0 radians. The first bin is contained within the isolation requirement and therefore is biased, which is why is not reported in the main results.

4.17 Comparing ITS only tracking to ITS+TPC Tracking

This section compares results obtained using hybrid (ITS + TPC) tracks in the triggered data (p–Pb). Other than the change in the appropriate tracking corrections, the analysis chain is identical to the one that uses the ITS-only tracking. Figure 4.19 shows the correlation functions for p–Pb that uses hybrid tracks and pp which only uses ITS tracks. This will allow us to compare R_{pPb} to the ITS-only result.

Figure 4.20 shows the fragmentation studies in p–Pb data with ITS only tracks and Hybrid tracks. It can be seen in the ratio of ITS Only/Hybrid that the hybrid tracks have a significantly lower yield at high $z_{\rm T}$, which roughly corresponds to tracks with high $p_{\rm T}$. This is unsurprising as there are issues with TPC charge distortions.



Figure 4.16: Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data. The purple band represents the uncertainty from the underlying event estimate in pp and p-Pb. The error bars represent statistical uncertainty only. The green line is the γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function obtained with PYTHIA 8.2. The key difference with the nominal results is the number of $\Delta \varphi$ bins is doubled here.



Figure 4.17: Comparison of final correlations functions for p–Pb (red) and Pb–p (blue) collisions.

4.18 Checking Sensitivity to $z_{\rm T}$ binning

This section looks into the impact of varying the number of $z_{\rm T}$ bins. Figure 4.18 shows the resulting fragmentation function in 6 $z_{\rm T}$ bins. The major results of the analysis, that pp and p-Pbcorrelation functions agree remains unchanged.

4.19 Checking sensitivity to pile up cut in pp

A stringent pile up cut is applied to the pp dataset, as mentioned in Sec. 3.4. Figure 4.22 shows the correlation functions in only 6 $z_{\rm T}$ (instead of the nominal 8 bins for this analysis) bins to compensate for the loss of statistics in pp after applying the cut.

Figure 4.23 shows the resulting fragmentation function in 6 zt bins with the pile up cut applied to the pp data. The figure shows no significant change as a result of this cut.



Figure 4.18: Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data. Identical to Figure 5.1 with the exception that the correlation functions down to $\Delta \varphi = 0$ are shown.







Figure 4.20: Left: Comparison of final correlations functions for p–Pb Hybrid tracks (blue) and pp ITS only tracks (red). Right: Comparison of final correlations functions for p–Pb Hybrid tracks (red) and p–Pb ITS only tracks (blue).



Figure 4.21: Results with variation of numbers of $z_{\rm T}$ bins.



Figure 4.22: Fully-corrected γ^{iso} -hadron correlation function in pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data with the pile up cut in pp only. The correlations have been rebinned to 6 $z_{\rm T}$ bins to compensate for the loss in statistics after applying the cut.



Figure 4.23: The fragmentation functions with the pile up cut applied to pp, resulting from the correlation functions shown in Fig. 4.22.

4.20 Checking maximum track $p_{\rm T}$ cut

This section explores the effect of varying the maximum $p_{\rm T}$ cut on the final away-side yields in pp and p–Pb and the effect of this variation on the final ratio is shown in Figure 4.24.



Figure 4.24: Left: The away side yields in pp with a maximum $p_{\rm T}^{\rm Track}$ cut of 10, 8, and 6 GeV/c. Right: The Ratio of p–Pb to pp with a maximum $p_{\rm T}^{\rm Track}$ cut of 10, 8, and 6 GeV/c

Chapter 5

Results and Discussion

5.1 Correlation Functions

The final γ^{iso} -hadron correlations are reported in z_{T} bins for each trigger-photon p_{T} bin, where z_{T} is the ratio of the associated hadron, p_{T}^{h} , to isolated photon transverse momentum, $z_{\text{T}} = p_{\text{T}}^{\text{h}}/p_{\text{T}}^{\gamma^{\text{iso}}}$. The fully subtracted azimuthal correlations as a function of $\Delta\varphi$, the azimuthal angle between the photon and the hadron, are shown in Fig. 5.1 for pp and p–Pb data. With the measured γ^{iso} constraining the parton kinematics, the distribution of away-side associated hadrons with momentum fraction z_{T} represents the fragmentation function of the parton. The systematic uncertainties are discussed in detail in Chapter 4. The darker colored bands at zero represents the uncertainty from the uncorrelated background estimate. The vertical bars indicate the statistical uncertainty only. The final correlation functions in each collision system demonstrate similar behavior: both show a signal consistent with zero at small $\Delta\varphi$, and a rising away-side peak at large $\Delta\varphi$ arising predominantly from the hard-scattered parton opposite to the trigger photon.


The vertical bars represent The dashed green line represents the $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ -hadron correlation function obtained with PYTHIA 8.2 Monash Tune. "p" is the p-value for the hypothesis that The different panels represent three different $z_{\rm T}$ bins. The correlation functions are projected The darker bands at zero represents the uncertainty from the underlying event estimation Figure 5.1: $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ -hadron correlation functions for pp (red) and p-Pb (blue) data at $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5.02$ TeV as measured by < 1.6.in pp and p–Pb. The underlying event was estimated over the range $0.4 < |\Delta \varphi|$ statistical uncertainties only. The boxes indicate the systematic uncertainties. the pp and p–Pb data follow the same true correlation function. < 1.2. the ALICE detector. over the range $|\Delta\eta|$

Agreement within uncertainties between pp, p–Pb, and the PYTHIA 8.2 Monash Tune is observed. By measuring associated hadrons, correlations can be observed at much larger angles than would otherwise be possible for hadrons within a reconstructed jet. A χ^2 test between pp and p–Pb data and a p-value is calculated in each z_T bin for the null hypothesis that pp and p–Pb data follow the same true correlation function. In each bin, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected, indicating that there is no significant difference between the correlation functions in the two collision systems. This conclusion is limited by the statistical precision of the available data.

5.2 Parton Fragmentation Function

As discussed in Sec. 1.7.2, the correlation functions from Fig. 5.1 are then integrated in the region $|\Delta \varphi| > \frac{7\pi}{8}$ for each $z_{\rm T}$ bin in order to obtain the $\gamma^{\rm iso}$ -tagged fragmentation function shown in Fig. 5.2. This range approximately corresponds to the azimuthal angle consistent with the commonly used radius of R = 0.4 for jet measurements.

The statistical uncertainty on the away-side yields in each $z_{\rm T}$ bin is calculated from the statistical uncertainty in the fully subtracted correlation functions, along with the statistical uncertainty arising from the uncorrelated background subtraction. A maximum charged hadron $p_{\rm T}$ of 10 GeV/c and a photon trigger $p_{\rm T}$ up to 40 GeV/c could result in a potential bias of the associated $z_{\rm T}$ spectrum. However, by repeating the analysis in different photon trigger $p_{\rm T}$ bins, it was found that any such effects are negligible compared to other uncertainties. The two largest sources of systematic uncertainty are from the purity and the single track correction factors; for the chosen $p_{\rm T}^{\rm track}$ interval, there is no strong $p_{\rm T}$ dependence for the uncertainty of the charged tracking efficiency.

The ratio of the fragmentation functions in p–Pb and pp collisions is shown in the lower panel of Fig. 5.2. The fit yields a constant factor of $0.84 \pm 0.11(\text{stat}) \pm 0.19(\text{sys})$, with a reduced χ^2 of 0.84. Thus, within total uncertainties, ranging from 22–40% for different $z_{\rm T}$ bins the p–Pb to pp ratio is consistent with unity.

5.3 Integrated Statistical Uncertainty on Fragmentation Function Ratio

For the purpose of giving a single number to quantify how similar pp and p–Pb fragmentation functions are, an integrated statistical uncertainty on the ratio of the two was calculated ¹. First, the fragmentation function in pp was integrated, and the statistical errors were added in quadrature. The summed statistical uncertainty was then divided by this integral to obtain the relative uncertainty. The same was done for the p–Pb fragmentation function.

¹The p-value calculated from the two distributions only indicates that the null hypothesis, pp and p–Pb are the same, cannot be rejected



Figure 5.2: γ^{iso} -tagged fragmentation function for pp (red) and p–Pb data (blue) at $\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}}$ = 5.02 TeV as measured by the ALICE detector. The boxes represent the systematic uncertainties while the vertical bars indicate the statistical uncertainties. The dashed green line corresponds to PYTHIA 8.2. The χ^2 test for the comparison of pp and p–Pb data incorporates correlations among different z_{T} intervals. A constant that was fit to the ratio including statistical and systematic uncertainties is shown as grey band, with the width indicating the uncertainty on the fit.

Then, the two relative uncertainties were added in quadrature and the ratio of the integrals was taken. This is shown in equation 5.1 below,

$$I = \sum_{i} y_{i} \cdot z_{i}$$

$$\delta_{\text{abs.}} = \delta_{0} \oplus \delta_{1} \oplus \dots \delta_{n}$$

$$\delta_{\text{rel}} = \frac{\delta_{\text{abs.}}}{I},$$
(5.1)

where I is the integral of the fragmentation function, y_i is the conditional yield of associated hadrons in z_T bin i, and z_i is the width of z_T bin i. Additionally, n is the number of z_T bins, and δ_i is the statistical uncertainty of the $i_{\text{th}} z_T$ bin. δ_{rel} is the relative statistical error on the fragmentation function. Taking the ratio of the integrals and summing the uncertainties from pp and p–Pb in quadrature:

$$\delta_{\text{ratio}} = \frac{I_{\text{p-Pb}}}{I_{\text{pp}}} \cdot (\delta_{\text{rel,pp}} \oplus \delta_{\text{rel,p-Pb}}), \qquad (5.2)$$

yields a total integrated statistical uncertainty on the ratio, δ_{ratio} of 13%. Thus, modifications to the fragmentation function in p–Pb are constrained to be less than 13%. This measurement probes the transverse momentum fraction range of $x_{\text{T}} = 2p_{\text{T}}/\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}} = 0.005-0.016$. This x_{T} range is similar to RHIC measurements at forward rapidity [59].

This measurement marks the first study of photon-tagged fragmentation in p–Pb collisions at the LHC. A precise measurement of Q^2 in heavy ion collisions is not possible without reconstructing all particles in the event. Nonetheless, among the LHC experiments, ALICE is uniquely configured to measure low- p_T charged particles. In the context of jet constituents and total jet p_T , ALICE is capable of measuring hard scatterings with a lower Q^2 than other LHC experiments. Previous data have shown that, at sufficiently high Q^2 there is no fundamental difference in the scattering off a nucleon or off a nucleus [52, 108]. Thus, the kinematic range of this study is of particular interest for studying cold nuclear matter effects, as they are expected to be largest at lower Q^2 [52].

The agreement between pp and p–Pb in this kinematic range constrains modifications to the parton fragmentation function to be less than the integrated uncertainty of 13% on the p–Pb/pp ratio for $0.005 < x_{\rm T} < 0.016$, and partons with approximately $12 < p_{\rm T} < 40 {\rm GeV}/c$. This region in $x_{\rm T}$ is particularly important to keep in mind when comparing the measurement to CNM calculations and nPDFs.

5.4 Insensitivity to Parton Distribution Function

Section 1.4 detailed the factorization of the hadronic cross section into the product of the parton distribution function (PDF) and the fragmentation function (FF). One of the goals of this study is to better understand the modification of the fragmentation function in p–Pb collisions. A very important question for the fragmentation function in p–Pb collisions compared to pp collisions is: How do we know if modifications to the observed γ -tagged associated yields are due to the PDF, and not in fact modifications to the fragmentation function?

To answer this question, the prompt photon and hadronic cross sections need to be understood, particularly the nPDFs present in both cross sections. Because the main observable is the conditional yield of hadrons per photon, modifications to the cross production cross sections cancel. Coupled with the fact that photons are not otherwise be affected by nuclear effects [46], this measurement helps elucidate the impact of cold nuclear modification on the parton fragmentation function. Equation 5.4 shows the factorized inclusive cross section of prompt photons in heavy ion collisions adapted from [109], and Eq. 5.4 shows the hadron cross section (shown in section 1.4, but displayed here again for convenience):

$$\sigma^{A+B\to\gamma+X} = \int dx_a dx_b dz \sum_{a,b} f_a(x_a) f_b(x_b) \hat{\sigma}^{a+b\to\gamma+X'}$$
(5.3)

$$\sigma^h = \sum_{a,b,c} \int dx_a dx_b dz f_a(x_a) f_b(x_b) d\hat{\sigma}(p_a, p_b, p_c) D_c^h(z).$$
(5.4)

The sum is over the flavor of incoming partons a and b with f_a , (x_a) and f_b , (x_b) being the nPDFs of the incoming partons. The nPDF is simply the nuclear parton distribution function and applies to nucleons that make up a larger nucleus, in this case lead. In Eq. 5.4, $\hat{\sigma}^{a+b\to\gamma+X'}$ is the prompt photon production cross section in parton-parton collisions, and can be further factorized into σ_{dir} and σ_{frag} as done in [110]. The hadron cross section sums over an additional parton flavor c to include the outgoing parton's fragmentation function, $D_c^h(z)$, that produces the final state hadrons. It is important to note that Eq. 5.4 is not the inclusive cross section of charged hadrons (such a cross section would include significant contribution from the underlying event, which is subtracted in this measurement), but instead corresponds to hadrons produced from the scattered parton. What's important about these two equations is that the underlying form of the nPDFs in both equations, $f_a(x_a)$ and $f_b(x_b)$, is identical in this factorization scheme.

Ignoring detector effects, the measured yield of prompt photons should be directly proportional to the product of Luminosity and the cross section:

$$Y = \mathcal{L} \times \sigma \tag{5.5}$$

The same logic applies to the yield of charged hadrons. The observable in this study, the conditional yield of charged hadrons associated with isolated prompt photons, is essentially the ratio of measured yields, and by extension the ratio of cross-sections described in Eqs. 5.4 and 5.4.

$$\frac{Y^h}{Y^\gamma} \approx \frac{\sigma^h}{\sigma^\gamma} \tag{5.6}$$

Where the luminosity is cancelled. Because the terms $f_a(x_a)$ and $f_b(x_b)$ are shared between the two cross sections, when the ratio of these two cross-sections is taken, the contribution from the nPDFs is cancelled. As the conditional yield observable in these study is directly proportional to the ratio of these two cross sections, the nPDF are not expected to significantly contribute to the final measurement.

Thus, the answer to the question posed at the beginning of this section is: The observable per-trigger hadrons yields is largely insensitive to modifications to the PDF to the extent that factorization holds. Factorization in this case has not been proven, and as discussed in the next section there are effects that do not necessarily cleanly fit into this factorization scheme.

5.5 Comparison to Theory

The level of agreement of the ratio with unity constrains the modification of the fragmentation function. However, careful comparison to relevant theory calculations can provide valuable insight on the specific cold nuclear matter (CNM) effects. Calculations of the γ hadron spectra in p–Pb for the same kinematic range as this study were performed in [111]. The paper includes two models, one based on modified nuclear PDFs, and another that simulates the formation of a small droplet of QGP in p–Pb collisions, the experimental signature of which is described in Sec. 1.3.1. These models will be described in the following subsections, and compared to the measurement detail in this work in Sec. 5.5.3.

5.5.1 The Nucleus as a Medium

Section 5.4 outlined how the measurement is largely insensitive to modifications to the parton distribution function. However, one of the most common approaches to model CNM effects in pA collisions is based on QCD factorization and attributes all these effects to universal nPDFs [112, 113, 114]. That is to say, effects that do not strictly modify the underlying probability density of partons in the initial state are still absorbed into the broader nPDF term as part of a framework to model final state cold nuclear matter effects on hard probes. We investigate this by looking at two nPDF calculations, the latter of which is directly used in the comparison done is Sec. 5.5.3.

One particularly elucidating calculation fit to RHIC data is done in [112]. The calculation includes the Cronin effect, cold nuclear matter energy loss, dynamical shadowing, and other CNM effects. These contributions are:

The Cronin Effect is attributed to multiple initial-state scatterings of partons in the cold nuclei producing a broader distribution of the transverse momentum of the parton, $k_{\rm T}$. The parton distribution function can be written as a function of x and $k_{\rm T}$: $f_b(x_b, k_{\rm T,b})$ (often Q^2 is used instead of the latter, but not here), and in [112], the final $k_{\rm T}$ distribution is thought to be Gaussian. The Cronin effect is modelled as a change in the variance of this distribution and is absorbed as a change in the nPDF.

Cold nuclear matter energy loss is the term for medium-induced gluon bremsstrahlung as the initial state parton undergoes multiple scatterings, and is often modelled simply as an energy shift in the nPDF, shown in Eq. 5.7

$$f_a(x_a) \to f_a(\frac{(x_a)}{1 - \epsilon_{\text{eff.}}}),$$

$$(5.7)$$

where the main effect of the fluctuations due to multiple gluon emission is an effective reduced fractional energy loss, $\epsilon_{\text{eff.}}$. The overall average cold nuclear matter energy loss is obtained by integrating the initial-state medium-induced bremsstrahlung spectrum [115].

Dynamical shadowing, or just shadowing, refers to suppression of the cross section in the small-x region. The nature of shadowing in deep inelastic scattering can be understood in terms of multiple scattering involving the hadronic component of a virtual photon and the

overlap of the gluon distributions of different nucleons within the nucleus. The incoming virtual photon is represented as a superposition of gluons, quarks, anti-quarks and their bound states. At high bombarding energies the photon converts into $q\bar{q}$ -pair before the initial scattering, and its hadronic component interacts coherently with several nucleons of the target nucleus. This process leads to absorption and, therefore, to nucleon shadowing[116]. It is included as an effective shift in the x distribution of the partons, on which the nPDF depends. The precise value of the shift depends on the color factor of the partons involved, C_F , and the characteristic scale of multiple scattering per nucleon, ξ^2 . The average values for these are obtained from RHIC data as inputs into the shift of the x distribution[112]. This and the Cronin effect in particular is useful for the intuition: The direct photon cross section in p-Pbshould not be sensitive to this effect, but the distribution of associated charged hadrons resulting from the scattered parton should be. Thus, these contributions cannot cancel in the ratio of yields in Eq. 5.6; these effects are added as modifications to the hadronic cross section, but not for the photons. Measurements of the ratio of photon yields in pp and p-Pbshow no depletion of direct photons [117].

To obtain the correct admixture of competing effects, these modifications to the nPDFs are fit to data, in this case, RHIC. This is shown in Fig. 5.3.



Figure 5.3: The nuclear modification factor is plotted as a function of transverse momentum for photons (left panel) and π^0 's (right panel) measure with the PHENIX detector.[112]

There are additional cold nuclear matter effects, such as anti-shadowing at high bjorkenx and the EMC effect that are not included in the calculation in [112]. Anti-shadowing is considered to have similar origins as shadowing discussed previously, but is thought to lead to an enhancement at more intermediate x [118], approximately above $x \approx_1 0^{-2}$ [52]. The origins of the EMC effect are still not well understood. One model attributes it to mean field modifications, in which close proximity of nucleons may allow quarks in different nucleons to interact directly. Mean-field models predict that all nucleons experience some degree of structure modification, and they are consistent with the observation that the EMC effect increases with nuclear size, scales with local density, and saturates for very large nuclei [53]. Another model suggests that rather than all nucleons experiencing some modification, the short-range correlations hypothesis predicts that most nucleons at any one time are unmodified, but some are substantially modified [54].

However, of particular importance for the comparison of this data is EPPS16 nPDF parametrization, which does include these effects. EPPS16 is a nPDF parametrization based on LHC, PHENIX, SLAC, and FNAL, and NMC data [52]. The overall x-dependent nuclear modification $R_i^A(x)$ is given by the parametrization:

$$R_i^A(x) = \begin{cases} a_0 + (a_1 + a_2 x) \left[\exp(-x) - \exp(-x_a) \right] & x \le x_a \\ b_0 + b_1 x + b_2 x^2 + b_3 x^3 & x_a \le x \le x_e \\ c_0 + (c_1 - c_2 x) (1 - x)^{-\beta} & x_e \le x \le 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.8)

The available collider data is not sufficient to determine the nuclear modification for all parton species separately, so $R_i^A(x)$ is defined only for valence quarks, $R_V^A(x)$, all sea quarks together, $R_S^A(x)$, and gluons, $R_G^A(x)$. A is the mass number of the nucleus, and $a_i, b_i, c_i, \beta, x_a$, and x_e are all A-dependent parameters.

This parametrization actually already shown in Fig. 1.22, but is placed here again for convenience.

For the calculation of the γ^{iso} -hadron spectra in [111], the nPDFs from EPPS16 were used. The other key component relevant to the γ^{iso} -hadron correlations are modifications to the fragmentation function. The calculation in [111], uses a vacuum fragmentation function, $D_{h/d}(z_d, \mu^2)$, based on the Kniehl-Kramer-Potter parametrization [119], where $z_d = p_T/p_{Td}$ is the hadrons momentum fraction when the parton d fragments in vacuum. Vacuum fragmentation is used because the timescale of fragmentation is thought to be sufficiently begins only after the scattered parton is no longer within nucleus. However, a precise estimate of the fragmentation timescale requires a good measurement of Q^2 [120].

The modification to the yield of associated hadrons in p–Pbis quantified as the ratio of yields in p–Pband pp, $I_{pA}^{\gamma h}$. $I_{pA}^{\gamma h}$ is plotted in Fig. 5.5 for the kinematic region most relevant to the measurement detailed in this work.

This calculation is overlayed with the measured data as well as a QGP droplet calculation in Fig. 5.6. It predicts a value of $I_{pA}^{\gamma h}$ above one at higher $z_{\rm T}$, meaning there is a higher yield of hadrons in p–Pbfor that $z_{\rm T}$. This is attributed to the anti-shadowing effect from the EPPS16 nPDF. Section 5.5.3 will discuss in more detail the extent to which our data confirms this prediction.



Figure 5.4: An illustration of the fit function $R_i^A(x)$ from the EPPS16 parametrization [52].



Figure 5.5: The modification factor $I_{pPb}^{\gamma h}$ due to CNM effect on γ^{dir} -hadron spectra in p + Pb collisions at $\sqrt{s_{\text{NN}}} = 5.02 \text{TeV}$ within 0 - 10% centrality [111].

5.5.2 Modeling a Droplet of QGP

The calculation in [111] models nuclear effects on the γ -hadron spectra by modeling a small droplet of QGP produced in p–Pb collisions. The model involves the dynamical evolution of the QGP medium that governs the space-time evolution of the local temperature and flow velocity. The droplet dynamics utilize previous studies of jet quenching in A + A collisions, obtained using the (2 + 1) dimensional viscous hydrodynamic model with Monte Carlo-Glauber initial conditions. The scaled jet transport coefficient \hat{q}_0/T_0^3 , which is the mean p_T transfer between the parton and the medium in each collision, determines the magnitude of energy loss, and is taken from the single inclusive hadron spectra in Au+Au and peripheral Pb+Pb hydrodynamic simulations.

Importantly, the droplet of QGP should modify the fragmentation function. If $D_{h/d}(z_d)$ is the vacuum fragmentation function, $\tilde{D}_{h/d}(z_d, \mu^2, \Delta E_d)$ is the hot medium modified fragmentation function, and is related to the vacuum fragmentation function by:

$$\tilde{D}_{h/d}\left(z_{d},\mu^{2},\Delta E_{d}\right) = \left(1 - e^{-\langle N_{g}^{d} \rangle}\right) \left[\frac{z_{d}'}{z_{d}} D_{h/d}\left(z_{d}',\mu^{2}\right) + \langle N_{g}^{d} \rangle \frac{z_{g}'}{z_{d}} D_{h/g}\left(z_{g}',\mu^{2}\right)\right] + e^{-\langle N_{g}^{d} \rangle} D_{h/d}\left(z_{d},\mu^{2}\right)$$
(5.9)

 $z'_d = p_{\rm T} / (p_{{\rm T}d} - \Delta E_d)$ is the momentum fraction of a hadron with transverse momentum $p_{\rm T}$ from a parton with initial transverse momentum $p_{{\rm T}d}$ that has lost energy ΔE_d while propagating through the hot medium. $\langle N_g^d \rangle$ is the average number of radiated gluons and $z'_g = \langle N_g^d \rangle p_{\rm T} / \Delta E_d$ is the momentum fraction of a hadron from a radiated gluon which carries an average energy $\Delta E_d / \langle N_g^d \rangle$. Lastly, $\left(1 - e^{-\langle N_g^d \rangle}\right)$ is the probability for a parton to suffer at least one inelastic scattering while propagating through the hot medium. ΔE_d can be calculated by doing an integral over the partons propagation path, l, and is detailed in [121]. $\langle N_g^d \rangle$ is calculated from [122].

The expectation of γ -hadron suppression due to jet quenching in a small droplet of QGP in p–Pb collisions is shown as the orange band in Fig. 5.6. The width of the band represents the uncertainty on the calculation, given by varying the parameters of the caluclation. The leading uncertainty in the calculation arises from varying the QGP formation time, τ_0 between 0.5-1.0 fm/c. A comparison to the measured data can constrain these parameters, as well as the model in general.

5.5.3 Measurements and Models Compared

The comparison between these calculations and this measurement are shown in Fig. 5.6.

Interestingly, the QGP droplet model predicts that even if a small droplet of QGP were to form, it's effects would be extremely small: it is close to 1.0 in the ratio, well within the statistical and systematic uncertainties in the data. Qualitatively, the calculation being



Figure 5.6: The ratio of isolated-tagged fragmentation functions for pp and p–Pb data at $\sqrt{s} = 5.02$ TeV as measured by the ALICE detector. The ratio is compared to two models from [111]. The CNM model evolves the partons without parton energy loss, while the quark gluon plasma (QGP) model assumes that a small droplet of QGP is created in p–Pb collisions and applies an energy loss to the partons.

below unity is in line with expectations of energy loss in a small QGP droplet. While the formation of QGP in p–Pb is currently a topic of debate in the field, this model indicates that the modification of the parton fragmentation function in p–Pb is very unlikely to unambiguously reveal its existence. The prediction based on nuclear PDFs tells a very different story. The nuclear modification factor of the PDFs in the CNM model were given by the EPPS16 parametrization [123]. It indicates that if a modification to the parton distribution function were to be observed, it should result in an enhancement at higher $z_{\rm T}$, roughly corresponding to the anti-shadowing region at higher Bjorken-x shown in figure 5.4.

The data are consistent with both models. This is not surprising, despite the very different underlying physics that make up the models. The $x_{\rm T}$ region of $0.005 < x_{\rm T} < 0.016$ probed in this analysis corresponds to a region in the EPPS16 nPDFs where the modification is close to one; the region is close to the anti-shadowing maximum that corresponds to at most a 10% effect, and is before the EMC minimum in Fig. 5.4. Larger cold nuclear matter effects are expected to occur at an even lower x. A measurement using photon triggers with half the $p_{\rm T}$ would probe the nPDFs closer to the shadowing region, where a larger suppression is expected. According to [52], this suppression is expected to be approximately 40%. However, much higher statistical precision would be needed to measure this with precision. The constant fit to the fragmentation function ratios has an error band of approximately 26%.

The modifications predicted by the QGP droplet are extremely small for this kinematic range, and would require orders of magnitude more data to distinguish from unity. While flow has been observed in small systems, energy loss or jet suppression has not been observed. The search for energy loss in small systems continues, it at least indicates that hot nuclear matter, if present at all, will have a small effect on the fragmentation function. This means that if a large modification were to observed in p–Pb it is unlikely to be the result of a QGP droplet.

Chapter 6 Conclusions

The γ^{iso} -hadron correlations presented in this work marks the first γ^{iso} -tagged fragmentation function measurement in p–Pb. The relatively lower Q^2 probed include partons that are expected to be more sensitive to cold nuclear matter modification. Nonetheless, no modification is observed within the reported uncertainties between the fragmentation function in p–Pb and pp. Comparisons to models indicate that any cold nuclear matter effects, or suppression from a small droplet of QGP formed in p–Pb should be small, and fall within the reported uncertainties of this measurement.

Any modification observed in Pb–Pb larger than the uncertainty of 13% cannot be attributed to cold nuclear matter effects, and must be due to the modification of the produced Quark Gluon Plasma on the scattered parton. An analysis on isolated photon-hadron correlations in Pb–Pb using similar techniques is a natural extension of this work, and would focus on hot nuclear matter effects. For additional insights into cold nuclear matter effects, and their modification of scattered partons, however, a very different direction is needed. While the golden channel of prompt γ -jet and γ -hadron correlations provide excellent constraints on the kinematics of the scattered parton, and therefore remarkable insight into modifications of the parton, they remain relatively rare in high energy heavy ion collisions due to the relatively low cross section of prompt photons compared to decay photons. Thus the overall statistical precision of the measurement is limited.

The Electron Ion Collider encompasses another direction for the study of cold nuclear mater. Semi Inclusive Deep Inelastic Scattering where the final state jet Q^2 can be precisely measured is a promising direction. The EIC with an integrated luminosity of $\mathcal{L}_{EIC} = 10 f b^{-1}$, will enable measurements with much higher statistical precision, and more rigorous comparisons to theoretical predictions. Specifically, measurements of charged jets represent two aspects of the larger jet physics program at the EIC. The charged jet fragmentation function can be measured at much lower Q^2 than in relativistic heavy ion or p+A collisions. The electron-jet correlation functions can probe the interaction of scattered partons with a cold nuclear medium.

The study of cold nuclear matter effects at ALICE can help us elucidate differences hot nuclear matter effects arising in a small quark gluon plasma droplet vs. cold nuclear matter effects. These can be compared to transport in QCD matter at the highest energy densities available. Studies at the EIC will more directly probe QCD in nuclei, and also help answer fundamental questions relating the internal structure of nuclei. As these measurements progress in precision and sensitivity, our knowledge of QCD inside the nucleus will grow, and with it, our understanding of all hadronic matter that makes up our visible universe.

Appendix A The Electron Ion Collider

The Electron Ion Collider (EIC) is a planned US-based facility that will make precision measurements of the collisions of electrons with polarized protons and ions over a large mass range to study Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) [64, 124]. Electrons with energies up to 18 GeV will collide with protons up to 275 GeV and ions with energies up to 110 GeV per nucleon, at luminosities up to 10^{34} cm⁻² s⁻¹ [125]. The EIC will explore a very wide range of physics topics, including - among others - the spin structure of protons and light nuclei, the partonic structure of light and heavy ions, parton transport in nuclear matter, and the hadronization process. The analysis in this chapter will primarily focus on the latter two topics using jets to study the fragmentation functions as the parton transport in the nucleus.

The ALICE γ -hadron measurements in this dissertation constrain the modification of the parton fragmentation function due to cold nuclear matter effects within 13% for a $x_{\rm T}$ range of approximately 0.005 - 0.016. But despite ALICE being the heavy-ion detector at the LHC, the large particle multiplicities and high energies make precise measurements of Q^2 impossible, ruling out comparisons to many theoretical models of cold nuclear matter effects. The EIC, however, makes measurements of Q^2 trivial; the EIC was designed from the ground up for that very purpose. Studying the charged jet fragmentation function at the EIC can place much tighter constraints on modifications to the fragmentation function. Additionally, measurements of electron-jet correlations can probe the mean energy of a parton lost to the nucleus, $\hat{q}L$.

While the γ -hadron correlations place very important constraints on cold nuclear matter effects, it does so as a small part of general-purpose detector with a very large heavy-ion program, largely focused on the development of the quark gluon plasma. Jet measurements at the EIC however, can probe the nucleus much more precisely through semi-inclusive deep inelastic scattering and furthermore help quantify certain properties of the nucleus. This chapter focuses on such measurements, done with a novel all-silicon tracker design for the EIC. The tracker will be described in detail, followed by a description of the simulated jet reconstruction performance, and end with the simulation of two physical observables to be measured at the EIC.



Figure A.1: Schematic of how the EIC will fit within the tunnel of the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider reusing essential infrastructure and key components of RHIC [126].

A.1 All-Silicon Tracker Concept Design

The detectors that make up the EIC have been conceptualized as general-purpose instruments surrounding the interaction point (IP) and embedded in a solenoidal magnetic field with a field strength of either 1.4 or 3.0 T. A cylindrical volume of 2.5m along the z axis with a radius of 80 cm is reserved for the innermost tracking system. The innermost tracking system will then be surrounded by other sub-detectors including particle identification (PID) detectors as well as electromagnetic and hadronic calorimeters. The tracking and vertexing systems at the EIC must have a wide kinematic coverage, good momentum resolution, and secondary vertex separation capabilities in order to meet the demands of the EIC physics programs. One very interesting detector design being considered is an all-silicon tracker for both momentum and vertex measurements, a contrast from the ALICE hybrid tracking system.

Recent R&D studies have showed that the all-silicon tracker can deliver comparable or better momentum resolution compared to hybrid concepts while being substantially more compact radially. This leaves much more room for the outer PID detectors that can enhance the overall PID capabilities of the EIC. This detector concept in implemented in GEANT4, and discussed in the next section.



Figure A.2: All-silicon tracker geometry. Left: GEANT4 schematic of the tracker cross section. The barrel, disks, and support structure correspond to the green, dark-gray, and yellow components, respectively. The beryllium section of the beam pipe is shown in cyan. The rest of the beam pipe, which takes into account the expected electron-hadron-beam crossing angle is shown in light-gray. Right: detector schematic (side view). The barrel layers, disks, and support structure are represented in blue, red, and yellow, respectively. See text for details. Taken from [127].

A schematic of the all-silicon tracker concept considered in this work is shown in Fig. A.2. The detector, designed within a generic EIC-detector R&D effort [128], corresponds to a cylindrical tracker with radius of 43.2 cm and length of 242 cm along the z direction and wrapped around the beam pipe and centered at the nominal IP (which corresponds to (x, y, z) = (0, 0, 0)). In the region -79.8 < z < 66.8 cm, the current design of the beam pipe corresponds to a beryllium cylinder of radius of 3.17 cm and a thickness of 760 µm. Outside of this region, the beam pipe fans out to accommodate a beam-crossing angle of ≈ 25 mrad. Inside the beam pipe, a vacuum is simulated. The rest of the geometry is embedded in an air volume.

The tracker coverage for low values of pseudorapidity, $\eta \equiv -\ln(\tan(\theta/2))$ is provided by a barrel with 6 layers. The radii at which these layers are located and their corresponding lengths along z are summarized on Table A.1 and illustrated in Fig. A.2 (right). They are laid out as three double layers to provide redundancy, and the middle double layer is placed equidistant between the inner and outer double layers to measure hits in the vicinity of the sagitta (vertical line from the midpoint of the chord to the arc itself, where the arc is simply the charged particles bend in the magnetic field) to optimize the momentum resolution. The pairing of the barrel layers also has the benefit of reducing the number of unique stave designs required. The vertexing capabilities of the detector are driven primarily by the first two layers. The innermost layer is placed as close to the beam pipe as possible, and the position of the second layer was varied until the optimal vertexing performance was found. Coverage at larger absolute values of pseudorapidity is provided by 5 disks in each direction. These disks are assembled by adding rectangular staves in parallel and giving each a length that fits within a circle of radius R, the disk outer radii presented in Table A.2, along with their z positions and inner radii; see Fig. A.2 (right).

Given the rectangular geometry of the staves, the hole through which the beam pipe passes is shaped as a square with sides equal to twice the inner radii presented in Table A.2. While the disks on either side of the x - y plane are positioned at the same distance from the center of the detector and their outer radii are the same, their inner radii are optimized to be as close to the beam pipe as possible. Thus, the acceptance limit at high $|\eta|$ is given by the beam-pipe geometry. Given the asymmetric nature of the EIC collisions (*i.e.* electrons colliding with protons or nuclei with different lab-frame energies), a potential future improvement is to optimize the disk layout separately for the forward and backward regions. An odd number of disks is favored to measure hits in the vicinity of the sagitta, thus achieving a better resolution. The transition between the barrel and the disks occurs at $|\eta| \approx 1.1$.



Figure A.3: Detector material budget. Left: schematic of the ALICE ITS2 inner-barrel staves used in the all-silicon tracker design presented here. Schematic taken from Fig.1.3 in [129]. Right: all-silicon tracker material scan. The dashed magenta line corresponds to the material from the beam pipe. The barrel and disk contributions are shown in red and blue, respectively. The aluminum support structure is shown in yellow. The total contribution is shown in black. See text for details.

Both the barrel layers and the disks are made up of realistic staves modeled after the ALICE-ITS2-upgrade inner-barrel staves [129, 130, 131] and shown in Fig. A.3 (left). Besides the active silicon volume, each stave includes components such as carbon-fiber support

Table A.1: Barrel-layer radii and lengths.

Barrel	radius	length along z
layer	[cm]	[cm]
1	3.30	30
2	5.70	30
3	21.00	54
4	22.68	60
5	39.30	105
6	43.23	114

Table A.2: Disk z position and inner and outer radii.

Disk	z position	outer	inner
number	[cm]	radius [cm]	radius [cm]
-5	-121	43.23	4.41
-4	-97	43.23	3.70
-3	-73	43.23	3.18
-2	-49	36.26	3.18
-1	-25	18.50	3.18
1	25	18.50	3.18
2	49	36.26	3.18
3	73	43.23	3.50
4	97	43.23	4.70
5	121	43.23	5.91

structures and water cooling pipes, which combined correspond to an average material budget of 0.3% X_0 per stave. The total amount of material that these staves contribute to the all-silicon tracker geometry is shown in Fig. A.3 (right) Since the staves create a periodic but ϕ -varying structure (where ϕ corresponds to the azimuth), the geometry is scanned around the azimuth for a fixed η , and the minimum and maximum amounts of material found define the boundaries of the uncertainty band. With the current configuration, the material budget contributed by the barrel and disk staves is $< 5\% X \ 0$.

The attributes of the sensor used in the simulations are taken from the eRD25 and EIC Silicon Consortium [132] descriptions of the projected properties of an EIC specific Monolithic Active Pixel Sensor (MAPS) currently under development. The sensor silicon pixels have a pitch of $10 \times 10 \mu m^2$ (corresponding to a point resolution of $10/\sqrt{12} \mu m$) and silicon thickness of 50 µm. While this simulation effort uses $0.3\% X_0$ for the inner two tracking layers, there are ongoing R&D efforts to use stitched, thinned and bent air-cooled silicon to allow the vertexing layers to become as thin as $0.05\% X_0$ [133].

As part of the EIC Yellow Report effort, projections were generated for both the radiation

length of staves and discs [134] based on the eRD25 EIC specific sensor and for the services (location and composition) and mechanical supports [135] that would be required to complete a tracking detector. These projections, which were only available after most of the work presented here, are referenced for completeness and are reasonably consistent with what is used in the shown simulation for material in the tracking detectors acceptance.

The detector is complemented with a simplistic conical aluminum support structure with a thickness of 5mm which is tapered for z > 58 cm. As shown in Fig. A.3 (right), this support structure adds a significant amount of material to the detector. However, the projective design concentrates this material into a narrow pseudorapidity range at $|\eta| = 1.1$. More realistic support structures (likely made of carbon-fiber composite) and services are still to be implemented. An earlier notional all-silicon detector extended out to a radius of 75 cm [136]; a larger detector can offer improved momentum resolution, at a cost in larger silicon area, and hence cost. This study also considered the possibility of using timing to improve resolution for low-momentum particles, but this is difficult with the smaller 43 cm lever arm.

A.2 Jet Physics at the EIC

As discussed previously, jets are composite objects that relate final-state particles measured in the detector to an initial parton, and serve as a powerful tool for probing QCD. Jets are measured experimentally by clustering the observed particles using a particular clustering algorithm (anti- k_T [137] in this work) within a chosen jet resolution parameter. In heavyion collisions, prompt γ -jet and γ -hadron correlations are labelled "the golden channel", because the measured photon constrains the kinematics scattered parton, allowing one to study deviations or modifications to the parton more accurately. Such constrains in heavyion physics are not common, due to the extremely high multiplicity environments.

Semi-Inclusive Deep Inelastic Scattering (SIDIS) at the EIC goes much further in this regard, and thus can yield exciting new insights to studying QCD in nuclei. By accurately measuring the energy of the electron before and after the scattering, one obtains an excellent handle on the momentum that is transferred from the beam electron to the parton. Thus, at leading order, the parton should have momentum Q in the absence of any modification, and yield a measured jet with comparable momentum. Rather than a rare event, as it is in prompt photon channels in heavy-ion collisions, SIDIS events are the rule, not the exception. Figure A.4 shows a carton of SIDIS with a measured jet. Futhermore, jet can be measured at much lower Q^2 at the EIC when compared to the LHC, down to $Q^2 = 10^{-5}$ [138].

Earlier studies of e+p collisions utilized jets, but in a limited fashion [139]. An extensive jet program has been proposed for the EIC, as follows:

- Jets from electroproduction in DIS can be used to study parton energy loss and interactions in cold nuclear matter [140].
- Inclusive jet production in polarized electron-proton collisions constrains the helicitydependent parton distribution function (PDF) of the proton at low x, complementary



Figure A.4: Leading order deep inelastic scattering diagram. The struck quark is observed as a jet of final state hadrons and serves as an excellent probe of the nucleus.

to existing measurements at high-x [141].

- Inclusive jet production in DIS off nuclei [142] and dijet quasi-real photoproduction [143] can be used to advance our knowledge of nuclear PDFs.
- Dijet photoproduction gives access to the photon PDF [144].
- Single-inclusive lepton scattering resulting in jets, where the scattered electron is not observed, has been proposed as an EIC measurement to study transverse spin effects in the nucleon [145, 146].
- Jets complement measurements of the three-dimensional structure of hadrons, encoded in transverse momentum-dependent (TMD) PDFs and fragmentation functions (TMD FFs). Unlike in the semi-inclusive DIS case, jet measurements allow the extraction of these two quantities separately. Specifically, jet measurements at the EIC have been proposed to constrain the quark Sivers function, transversity distribution, and the Collins FF [147].
- Dijet production can be used to access gluon TMD functions at the EIC [148, 149].
- Charm-jet cross section measurements can be used to resolve the tension between different experimental results regarding the strangeness content of the nucleon [150].
- Substructure measurements can be used to tune parton-shower event generators and study cold nuclear matter effects as explored in [151].

Of particular interest for this work is the study of jets to study parton energy loss that can be observed as a $p_{\rm T}$ broadening effect on the measured jet; When a highly energetic jet is produced in the hard partonic process, it experiences multiple interactions with the target nucleus which will generate p_T -broadening effects [152]. These final state interactions can also be factorized into the TMD quark distribution of the nucleus, from which one can extract the typical transverse momentum obtained by the quark, $\hat{q}L$, through multiple interactions with the cold nuclear matter[153]. The $p_{\rm T}$ broadening effect can be observed by measuring electron jet correlations, and modelled using different $\hat{q}L$. This is shown in Fig. A.5.



Figure A.5: $p_{\rm T}$ broadening effects for the lepton jet azimuthal correlation due to the interaction with cold nuclear matter as a function of $\Delta \varphi = |\varphi_{\rm jet} - \varphi_l - \pi|$ for two typical values of $\hat{q}L$ [154].

In the next, section the jet momentum and angular resolutions achievable with the allsilicon tracker are discussed. Finally, two specific observables, electron-jet correlations in DIS and the charged jet fragmentation function, will be presented to illustrate potential of the physics with jets reconstructed in the silicon tracker.

A.3 Charged Jet Reconstruction Performance

Of course, the jet physics program at the EIC can only be accomplished with accurate measurements of the final state jets. This section discusses the jet reconstruction performance of the all-silicon tracker described in Sec. A.1. Charged jets have been measured extensively in p+p collisions with the ALICE detector at the large hadron collider [155].

Track-only jets can often offer greater experimental precision, but are traditionally harder to compare to theoretical calculations. However, there has been progress in connecting experimental track-only jet observables with theoretical studies [156]. To quantify the jet reconstruction performance of the silicon tracker described in section A.1, electron-proton collisions are simulated with the PYTHIA8 Monte-Carlo generator and a full GEANT4 simulation with a 1.4 T and 3.0 T solenoidal magnetic field. Electrons and protons are collisions are simulated with a center-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 89$ GeV and a minimum Q^2 of $16(\text{GeV}/c)^2$. Jets are reconstructed using the anti- k_{T} algorithm, with a large resolution parameter of R = 1.0. This is feasible due to the relatively low multiplicity of particles produced in e+p collisions.

Reconstructed jets are required to have 4 or more constituents and a minimum total energy of 4.0 GeV (informed by the minimum Q^2 of $16(\text{GeV}/c)^2$) in order to be considered. Jets are reconstructed in the range $|\eta| < 3.5$, according to the acceptance of the all-silicon tracker. Reconstructed jets within $\Delta R = 0.5$ of the highest energy electron in the event are omitted to ensure that the beam electron is not included as part of any jet.

Additional selections are made on the jet constituents. They are required to have a $p_{\rm T} \geq$ 70 MeV/c, with a higher threshold depending on η of the constituent. The minimum $p_{\rm T}$ for different η regions is shown in Table A.3. The values in Table A.3 are extracted from Ref. [157] and exceed the values discussed in section A.1. These are based on the need for three or more traversed barrel layers or disks in the all-silicon tracker in order to determine the track curvature for a charged particle and hence its transverse momentum. Jets with constituents that hit the conical supports where the central barrel meets the forward and backward disks are omitted. Based on Fig. A.3, we take this range to be $1.06 < |\eta| < 1.13$.

B field [T]	$ \eta < 1.0$	$1.0 < \eta < 1.5$	$1.5 < \eta < 2.0$	$2.0 < \eta < 2.5$	$2.5 < \eta < 3.5$
1.4	200	150	70	130	100
3.0	400	300	160	220	150

Table A.3: Minimum $p_{\rm T}$ -threshold (in MeV/c) for charged jet constituents.

Reconstructed jets are matched to truth-level jets by requiring that the two axis of the jet are within $\Delta R < 0.01$. In the event that two or more truth-level jets satisfy this criteria, the truth jet with the higher energy is matched to the reconstructed jet. Once the jets are matched, the neutral components from the truth-level jets are subtracted to obtain charged truth jets. The 4-momenta of the neutral constituents are subtracted from the particle-level generated jets to obtain charged jet 4-vector:

$$p_{charged}^{jet, \mu} = p_{total}^{jet, \mu} - p_{neutral}^{jet, \mu}.$$
(A.1)

Certain aspects of the original jet will be unaltered by the subtraction; the jet area, for example is not recalculated according to Eq. A.1. A negligible difference was found in the jet performance studies using particle-level jets that were originally charged-only, versus particle-level jets where the neutral components are subtracted.

Figure A.6 shows the momentum response matrix for charged jets passing all criteria, with $p_T \geq 4 \text{ GeV}/c$. There is a strong correlation between the reconstructed jet momentum, $p_{\text{Jet}}^{\text{Reco}}$, and the charged truth jet momentum, $p_{\text{Jet}}^{\text{Truth,Ch}}$, indicated by the prominent diagonal line in the histogram. There are, however, jets that fall outside of this strong linear correlation.



Figure A.6: Charged-jet momentum response for jets with $N_{\text{constituent}} \ge 4$ determined from PYTHIA e+p events at 20×100 GeV collisions in a 1.4 T (left) and 3.0 T (right) magnetic field.

The most important variable impacting the energy and position resolution of jets after all other selections are made is the number of particles not reconstructed as part of the jet (ie "missing" particles).



Figure A.7: (Left) Number of missed jet constituents $(N_{\text{constituent}}^{\text{truth}} - N_{\text{constituent}}^{\text{reco}})$ vs. Jet dp/p. (Right) dp/p distribution of jets with less than 1 missing constituent (blue), and jets with with one or more missing constituents (red).

Figure A.7 shows the energy resolution of jets vs. the difference between number of truth and reconstructed constituents, $N_{\text{Missed}} = N_{\text{constituent}}^{\text{truth,ch}} - N_{\text{constituent}}^{\text{reco}}$. The left panel shows a distribution centered at 0 for jets with no missing constituents. As the number of missed jet constituents increases, this distribution broadens and shifts towards higher values of dp/p. The right panel shows the dp/p distribution of two populations of jets: jets with less than 1 missing constituent and jets with one or more missing constituents. Jets in a magnetic field of 1.4 T (3.0 T) with less than 1 missing constituent make up approximately 58% (49%) of jets that pass all other selection criteria and have a narrow distribution centered at 0 that is well described by a Gaussian fit. Jets with one or more missing constituents, however, have a much broader dp/p distribution that is shifted toward higher values. These are best described by a Landau distribution. Consequently, we characterize the jet momentum resolution of the silicon tracker by simply taking the standard deviation of the dp/p distribution; Gaussian fits to the combined distributions are dominated by the narrow peak at $dp/p \approx 0$, with the detrimental effect of poorly characterizing the non-Gaussian "shoulder" shown in red in Fig. A.7.



Figure A.8: Momentum and angular resolutions of charged jets, reconstructed with the all-Silicon tracker simulated in PYTHIA e+p collisions at 20×100 GeV with the 3.0T magneticfield configuration.

Figure A.8 shows the momentum and angular resolutions of jets in a 3.0 T field. The resolutions are shown in bins of jet momentum and η . The momentum resolution for jets with one or more missing particles that make up the shoulder of the distribution is more difficult to describe. The dp/p distribution shown in Fig. A.7 in red is best fit with a Landau distribution, where σ is undefined. Therefore, instead of a fit, the simple numerical standard deviation of the overall distribution is taken, and reported for the momentum resolution in Fig. A.8. The angular resolutions are well described by double-Gaussian fits, where in both the azimuthal and polar angular distributions there is a narrow peak centered at zero, with a low shoulder at larger values. The narrow Gaussian from the fit is used to the standard



Figure A.9: Momentum and angular resolutions of charged jets reconstructed with the all-Silicon tracker simulated in PYTHIA e+p collisions at 20×100 GeV with the 1.4 T magneticfield configuration.

deviation and its uncertainty is estimated from the fit. Figure A.9 shows the resulting resolutions of applying this procedure to jets simulated in a 1.4 T magnetic field.

A.4 Charged Jet Observables at the EIC

Figure A.10 shows full simulation results for the azimuthal difference between jets and the scattered electron, $|\varphi^{\text{jet}} - \varphi^e - \pi|$ in a 1.4 and 3.0T magnetic field. Dashed lines display the correlation between the reconstructed scattered electron and charged jets both reconstructed with the all-silicon tracker. The darker solid lines show the correlation between the scattered truth electron and particle-level truth jets. The shaded bands centered on the reconstructed correlation reflect the estimated uncertainty arising from the $\Delta\varphi$ resolution, extracted by a fitting double Gaussian to $d\Delta\varphi$ distributions, where $d\Delta\varphi = (\Delta\varphi_{\text{truth}} - \Delta\varphi_{\text{reco}}/\Delta\varphi_{\text{truth}})$. The band is obtained by varying the reconstructed $\Delta\varphi$ correlation by $\pm\sigma_{\Delta}\varphi$. The statistical error bars are scaled to reflect an expected luminosity of $L = 10\text{fb}^{-1}$. Both the electron and jet momentum and azimuthal angle, φ , are reconstructed using the all-silicon tracker. The measurement on actual data, however, will likely implement an $E/P \approx 1.0$ selection on the electron. However, at the time of this simulation, a mature design of the backwards calorimeter responsible for measuring the electron's energy was not implemented. Instead, the electron truth energy was smeared by the backward calorimeter energy resolution of $\sigma(E)/E \approx 2\%\sqrt{E} \otimes (1-3)\%$ described in the EIC yellow report of [138].



Figure A.10: Azimuthal correlation between the scattered electron and jets in e+p collisions simulated with a 1.4 T and 3.0 T magnetic field. Solid lines display the correlation between particle-level scattered electron and jets. The dashed lines display the correlation between the reconstructed electron and reconstructed jets, with the shaded bands representing the uncertainty arising from the $\Delta \varphi$ resolution. The statistical error bars are scaled to reflect an expected luminosity of $L = 10 \text{fb}^{-1}$.

Bibliography

- K. Nakamura and. "Review of Particle Physics". In: J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 37 (7A July 2010), p. 075021. ISSN: 0954-3899. DOI: 10.1088/0954-3899/37/7A/075021. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/0954-3899/37/7a/075021 (visited on 10/12/2021).
- [2] David J. Gross and Frank Wilczek. "Ultraviolet Behavior of Non-Abelian Gauge Theories". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 30.26 (June 25, 1973), pp. 1343-1346. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.30.1343. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 30.1343 (visited on 11/24/2021).
- [3] H. David Politzer. "Reliable Perturbative Results for Strong Interactions?" In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 30.26 (June 25, 1973), pp. 1346–1349. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.30. 1346. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.30.1346 (visited on 11/24/2021).
- [4] Alessandro Bettini. Introduction to Elementary Particle Physics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511809019. URL: https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/introduction-to-elementary-particle-physics/FB7841E74DFEE051D81AD953E81E10DE (visited on 10/13/2021).
- [5] *Particle Data Group.* Particle Data Group. URL: https://pdg.lbl.gov/2021/ reviews/contents_sports.html (visited on 11/24/2021).
- [6] AIP. The Interior of the HILAC (Heavy Ion Linear Accelerator), Used in the University of California's Lawrence Radiation Laboratory Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory F41. Feb. 24, 2014. URL: https://www.aip.org/history-programs/nielsbohr-library/photos/lawrence-berkeley-national-laboratory-f41 (visited on 10/13/2021).
- J. C. Collins and M. J. Perry. "Superdense Matter: Neutrons or Asymptotically Free Quarks?" In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 34.21 (May 26, 1975), pp. 1353-1356. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.34.1353. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 34.1353 (visited on 10/13/2021).

- [8] Wit Busza, Krishna Rajagopal, and Wilke van der Schee. "Heavy Ion Collisions: The Big Picture and the Big Questions". In: Annual Review of Nuclear and Particle Science 68.1 (2018), pp. 339–376. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-nucl-101917-020852. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nucl-101917-020852. URL: https: //doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nucl-101917-020852.
- [9] Kenneth G. Wilson. "Confinement of Quarks". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 10.8 (Oct. 15, 1974),
 pp. 2445-2459. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.10.2445. URL: https://link.aps.org/ doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.10.2445 (visited on 10/14/2021).
- [10] Szabolcs Borsányi et al. "Full Result for the QCD Equation of State with 2+1 Flavors". In: *Physics Letters B* 730 (Mar. 7, 2014), pp. 99–104. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2014.01.007. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269314000197 (visited on 10/14/2021).
- [11] HotQCD Collaboration et al. "Equation of State in (\$2+1\$)-Flavor QCD". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 90.9 (Nov. 4, 2014), p. 094503. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.90.094503.
 URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.90.094503 (visited on 10/14/2021).
- [12] Amit Kumar, Abhijit Majumder, and Johannes Heinrich Weber. Jet Transport Coefficient \$\hat{q}\$ in Lattice QCD. Oct. 8, 2021. arXiv: 2010.14463 [hep-lat, physics:hep-ph, physics:nucl-ex, physics:nucl-th]. URL: http://arxiv. org/abs/2010.14463 (visited on 12/04/2021).
- [13] K. Adcox et al. "Formation of Dense Partonic Matter in Relativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions at RHIC: Experimental Evaluation by the PHENIX Collaboration". In: *Nuclear Physics A* 757.1 (2005), pp. 184–283. ISSN: 0375-9474. DOI: 10.1016/j. nuclphysa.2005.03.086. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0375947405005300.
- [14] J. Adams et al. "Experimental and Theoretical Challenges in the Search for the Quark-Gluon Plasma: The STAR Collaboration's Critical Assessment of the Evidence from RHIC Collisions". In: Nuclear Physics A 757.1 (2005), pp. 102–183. ISSN: 0375-9474. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2005.03.085. URL: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947405005294.
- B.B. Back et al. "The PHOBOS Perspective on Discoveries at RHIC". In: Nuclear Physics A 757.1 (2005), pp. 28-101. ISSN: 0375-9474. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysa. 2005.03.084. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947405005282.
- [16] I. Arsene et al. "Quark-Gluon Plasma and Color Glass Condensate at RHIC? The Perspective from the BRAHMS Experiment". In: *Nuclear Physics A* 757.1 (2005), pp. 1-27. ISSN: 0375-9474. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2005.02.130. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375947405002770.

- [17] Hiroshi Masui. "Measurement of Centrality Dependence of Identified Hadron Elliptic Flow in $\sqrt{\text{sNN}} = 200 \text{ GeV} \text{Au}+\text{Au}$ Collisions at RHIC PHENIX". In: (), p. 16.
- [18] C. Aidala et al. "Creation of Quark-Gluon Plasma Droplets with Three Distinct Geometries". In: Nat. Phys. 15.3 (Mar. 2019), pp. 214-220. ISSN: 1745-2481. DOI: 10.1038/s41567-018-0360-0. URL: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41567-018-0360-0 (visited on 10/14/2021).
- [19] K. Aamodt et al. "Higher Harmonic Anisotropic Flow Measurements of Charged Particles in Pb-Pb Collisions at s N N = 2.76 TeV". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 107.3 (July 11, 2011), p. 032301. ISSN: 0031-9007, 1079-7114. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.107. 032301. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.032301 (visited on 10/15/2021).
- [20] Paul Romatschke and Ulrike Romatschke. "Viscosity Information from Relativistic Nuclear Collisions: How Perfect Is the Fluid Observed at RHIC?" In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 99.17 (Oct. 24, 2007), p. 172301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.172301. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.172301 (visited on 10/14/2021).
- [21] Ryan Atkin. "Review of Jet Reconstruction Algorithms". In: 645 (Oct. 2015), p. 012008.
 ISSN: 1742-6596. DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/645/1/012008. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1088/1742-6596/645/1/012008 (visited on 10/16/2021).
- [22] Matteo Cacciari, Gavin P. Salam, and Gregory Soyez. "The Anti-Ktjet Clustering Algorithm". In: J. High Energy Phys. 2008.04 (Apr. 2008), pp. 063–063. ISSN: 1126-6708. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/04/063. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2008/04/063 (visited on 12/05/2021).
- [23] Michael L. Miller et al. "Glauber Modeling in High-Energy Nuclear Collisions". In: Annual Review of Nuclear and Particle Science 57.1 (2007), pp. 205-243. DOI: 10. 1146/annurev.nucl.57.090506.123020. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.nucl.57.090506.123020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. nucl.57.090506.123020.
- [24] M. Aaboud et al. "Measurement of the Nuclear Modification Factor for Inclusive Jets in Pb+Pb Collisions at sNN=5.02 TeV with the ATLAS Detector". In: *Physics Letters B* 790 (Mar. 10, 2019), pp. 108-128. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb. 2018.10.076. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037026931830995X (visited on 10/16/2021).
- [25] S. Acharya et al. "Measurements of Inclusive Jet Spectra in p p and Central Pb-Pb Collisions at s N N = 5.02 TeV". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 101.3 (Mar. 16, 2020), p. 034911. ISSN: 2469-9985, 2469-9993. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.101.034911. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.101.034911 (visited on 11/24/2021).

- [26] Megan Connors et al. "Review of Jet Measurements in Heavy Ion Collisions". In: *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 90.2 (June 12, 2018), p. 025005. ISSN: 0034-6861, 1539-0756. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.90.025005. arXiv: 1705.01974. URL: http://arxiv.org/ abs/1705.01974 (visited on 10/17/2021).
- [27] Gyula Bencedi. Nuclear Modification Factor of Charged Particles and Light-Flavour Hadrons in p-Pb Collisions Measured by ALICE. Sept. 19, 2016. arXiv: 1609.05665
 [nucl-ex]. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/1609.05665 (visited on 10/17/2021).
- [28] V. Khachatryan et al. "Decomposing Transverse Momentum Balance Contributions for Quenched Jets in PbPb Collisions at $\sqrt{s_N}N = 2.76$ TeV". In: J. High Energ. Phys. 2016.11 (Nov. 9, 2016), p. 55. ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2016)055. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2016)055 (visited on 10/17/2021).
- [29] V. Khachatryan et al. "Observation of Long-Range, near-Side Angular Correlations in Proton-Proton Collisions at the LHC". In: J. High Energ. Phys. 2010.9 (Sept. 27, 2010), p. 91. ISSN: 1029-8479. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2010)091. URL: https://doi. org/10.1007/JHEP09(2010)091 (visited on 10/15/2021).
- [30] Betty Abelev et al. "Long-Range Angular Correlations on the near and Away Side in p-Pb Collisions at sNN=5.02 TeV". In: *Physics Letters B* 719.1 (Feb. 12, 2013), pp. 29-41. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2013.01.012. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037026931300035X (visited on 10/15/2021).
- [31] R. Aaij et al. "Measurements of Long-Range near-Side Angular Correlations in sNN=5 TeV Proton-Lead Collisions in the Forward Region". In: *Physics Letters B* 762 (Nov. 10, 2016), pp. 473-483. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2016.09.064. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037026931630572X (visited on 10/15/2021).
- [32] PHENIX Collaboration et al. "Measurements of Mass-Dependent Azimuthal Anisotropy in Central p+Au, d+Au, and He+Au Collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN} = 200}$ GeV". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 97.6 (June 11, 2018), p. 064904. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.97.064904. URL: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.97.064904 (visited on 12/04/2021).
- [33] PHENIX Collaboration et al. "Jet Properties from Dihadron Correlations in \$p+p\$ Collisions at \$\sqrt{s}=200\text{ }\text{ }\mathrm{GeV}\$". In: Phys. Rev. D 74.7 (Oct. 5, 2006), p. 072002. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.74.072002. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.74.072002 (visited on 12/04/2021).
- [34] V. Khachatryan et al. "Evidence for Collectivity in Pp Collisions at the LHC". In: *Physics Letters B* 765 (Feb. 10, 2017), pp. 193-220. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/ j.physletb.2016.12.009. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S037026931630747X (visited on 10/15/2021).

- [35] V. Khachatryan et al. "Long-Range Two-Particle Correlations of Strange Hadrons with Charged Particles in pPb and PbPb Collisions at LHC Energies". In: *Physics Letters B* 742 (Mar. 6, 2015), pp. 200-224. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb. 2015.01.034. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269315000441 (visited on 10/15/2021).
- [36] Paul Romatschke. "Relativistic Fluid Dynamics Far From Local Equilibrium". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 120.1 (Jan. 5, 2018), p. 012301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.012301. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.012301 (visited on 10/15/2021).
- [37] P. Romatschke. "Do Nuclear Collisions Create a Locally Equilibrated Quark-Gluon Plasma?" In: *Eur. Phys. J. C* 77.1 (Jan. 1, 2017), pp. 1-11. ISSN: 1434-6052. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4567-x. URL: https://link.springer.com/article/ 10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4567-x (visited on 11/24/2021).
- [38] M. Habich et al. "Testing Hydrodynamic Descriptions of pp Collisions at √s = 7 TeV". In: Eur. Phys. J. C 76.7 (July 2016), p. 408. ISSN: 1434-6044, 1434-6052. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4237-z. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1140/ epjc/s10052-016-4237-z (visited on 11/24/2021).
- [39] Wenbin Zhao et al. "Hydrodynamic Collectivity in Proton-Proton Collisions at 13 TeV". In: *Physics Letters B* 780 (May 10, 2018), pp. 495-500. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2018.03.022. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0370269318302119 (visited on 11/24/2021).
- [40] John C. Collins, Davison E. Soper, and George Sterman. "Factorization of Hard Processes in Qcd". In: *Perturbative QCD*. Vol. Volume 5. Advanced Series on Directions in High Energy Physics Volume 5. WORLD SCIENTIFIC, July 1, 1989, pp. 1–91. ISBN: 978-9971-5-0564-6. DOI: 10.1142/9789814503266_0001. URL: https://www.worldscientific.com/doi/10.1142/9789814503266_0001 (visited on 12/10/2021).
- [41] D de Florian, San Mart_in, and D Milstead. "19. Fragmentation Functions in E+e-, Ep and Pp Collisions". In: (2018), p. 31.
- [42] Jonathan Pumplin et al. "New Generation of Parton Distributions with Uncertainties from Global QCD Analysis". In: 2002.07 (July 2002), pp. 012-012. ISSN: 1126-6708. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2002/07/012. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2002/07/012 (visited on 10/18/2021).
- [43] J. Adams et al. "Experimental and Theoretical Challenges in the Search for the Quark-Gluon Plasma: The STAR Collaboration's Critical Assessment of the Evidence from RHIC Collisions". In: Nuclear Physics A. First Three Years of Operation of RHIC 757.1 (Aug. 8, 2005), pp. 102-183. ISSN: 0375-9474. DOI: 10.1016/ j.nuclphysa.2005.03.085. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0375947405005294 (visited on 10/19/2021).

- [44] P. Aurenche et al. "Next to Leading Order Bremsstrahlung Contribution to Prompt-Photon Production". In: Nuclear Physics B 399.1 (June 28, 1993), pp. 34-62. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(93)90615-V. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/055032139390615V (visited on 10/07/2021).
- [45] Gabor David. "Direct Real Photons in Relativistic Heavy Ion Collisions". In: 83.4 (Mar. 2020), p. 046301. ISSN: 0034-4885. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6633/ab6f57. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6633/ab6f57 (visited on 10/19/2021).
- [46] S. Chatrchyan et al. "Measurement of Isolated Photon Production in Pp and PbPb Collisions at sNN=2.76 TeV". In: *Physics Letters B* 710.2 (Apr. 4, 2012), pp. 256– 277. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2012.02.077. URL: https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269312002286 (visited on 10/19/2021).
- [47] A. M. Sirunyan et al. "Study of Jet Quenching with Isolated-Photon+jet Correlations in PbPb and Pp Collisions at sNN=5.02 TeV". In: *Physics Letters B* 785 (Oct. 10, 2018), pp. 14-39. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2018.07.061. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269318306245 (visited on 10/20/2021).
- [48] STAR Collaboration et al. "Measurements of Jet Quenching with Semi-Inclusive Hadron+jet Distributions in Au+AuCollisions at $\sqrt{sNN} = 200$ GeV". In: *Phys. Rev.* C 96.2 (Aug. 14, 2017), p. 024905. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.96.024905. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.96.024905 (visited on 10/20/2021).
- [49] Hanzhong Zhang et al. "Dihadron Tomography of High-Energy Nuclear Collisions in Next-to-Leading Order Perturbative QCD". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98.21 (May 25, 2007), p. 212301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.212301. URL: https://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.212301 (visited on 10/20/2021).
- [50] PHENIX Collaboration et al. "Measurement of Jet-Medium Interactions via Direct Photon-Hadron Correlations in Au+Au and d+Au Collisions at $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 200$ GeV". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 102.5 (Nov. 19, 2020), p. 054910. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.102. 054910. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.102.054910 (visited on 10/20/2021).
- [51] J. Pumplin et al. "Uncertainties of Predictions from Parton Distribution Functions. II. The Hessian Method". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 65.1 (Dec. 12, 2001), p. 014013. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.65.014013. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.65.014013 (visited on 10/21/2021).
- [52] Kari J. Eskola et al. "EPPS16: Nuclear Parton Distributions with LHC Data". In: *The European Physical Journal C* 77.3 (Mar. 2017), p. 163. ISSN: 1434-6052. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-4725-9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-017-4725-9 (visited on 12/02/2021).

- [53] Or Hen et al. "Nucleon-Nucleon Correlations, Short-Lived Excitations, and the Quarks Within". In: *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 89.4 (Nov. 13, 2017), p. 045002. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.89.045002. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.89.045002 (visited on 12/07/2021).
- [54] P. R. Norton. "The EMC Effect". In: *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 66.8 (July 2003), pp. 1253–1297. ISSN: 0034-4885. DOI: 10.1088/0034-4885/66/8/201. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/66/8/201 (visited on 12/07/2021).
- [55] J. W. Cronin et al. "Production of Hadrons at Large Transverse Momentum at 200, 300, and 400 GeV". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 11.11 (June 1, 1975), pp. 3105-3123. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.11.3105. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.11.3105 (visited on 10/21/2021).
- [56] "Jet Structure from Dihadron Correlations in d+Au Collisions at s_{NN} 200-GeV". In: *Phys. Rev.* C73 (2006), p. 054903. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.73.054903. arXiv: nucl-ex/0510021.
- [57] Shreyasi Acharya et al. "Jet Fragmentation Transverse Momentum Measurements from Di-Hadron Correlations in s = 7 TeV Pp and $s_{NN} = 5.02$ TeV p-Pb Collisions". In: *JHEP* 03 (CERN-EP-2018-303 2019), p. 169. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2019)169. arXiv: 1811.09742 [nucl-ex].
- [58] Jaroslav Adam et al. "Measurement of Dijet k_T in p-Pb Collisions at s_{NN}=5.02 TeV". In: *Phys. Lett.* B746 (CERN-PH-EP-2015-041 2015), pp. 385-395. DOI: 10.1016/j. physletb.2015.05.033. arXiv: 1503.03050 [nucl-ex].
- [59] A. Adare et al. "Suppression of Back-to-Back Hadron Pairs at Forward Rapidity in d+Au Collisions at $s_{NN}=200$ GeV". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 107 (2011), p. 172301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.172301. arXiv: 1105.5112 [nucl-ex].
- [60] C. Aidala et al. "Nonperturbative Transverse Momentum Broadening in Dihadron Angular Correlations in s_{NN}=200 GeV Proton-Nucleus Collisions". In: *Phys. Rev.* C99.4 (2019), p. 044912. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.99.044912. arXiv: 1809.09045 [hep-ex].
- [61] Morad Aaboud et al. "Measurement of Jet Fragmentation in 5.02 TeV Proton-Lead and Proton-Proton Collisions with the ATLAS Detector". In: *Nucl. Phys.* A978 (CERN-EP-2017-065 2018), p. 65. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2018.07.006. arXiv: 1706. 02859 [hep-ex].
- [62] Daniel de Florian et al. "Global Analysis of Nuclear Parton Distributions". In: *Phys. Rev.* D85 (2012), p. 074028. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.85.074028. arXiv: 1112.6324
 [hep-ph].
- [63] A. Accardi et al. "Parton Propagation and Fragmentation in QCD Matter". In: *Riv. Nuovo Cim.* 32 (JLAB-THY-09-1038 2010), pp. 439–553. DOI: 10.1393/ncr/i2009-10048-0. arXiv: 0907.3534 [nucl-th].

- [64] A. Accardi et al. Electron Ion Collider: The next QCD Frontier. Ed. by A. Deshpande,
 Z. E. Meziani, and J. W. Qiu. 2016. DOI: 10.1140/epja/i2016-16268-9. arXiv: 1212.1701 [nucl-ex].
- [65] Hongxi Xing et al. "Transverse Momentum Imbalance of Back-to-Back Particle Production in p+A and e+A Collisions". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 86 (2012), p. 094010. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.094010. arXiv: 1206.1826 [hep-ph].
- [66] Megan Connors et al. "Jet Measurements in Heavy Ion Physics". In: *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 90 (2018), p. 025005. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.90.025005. arXiv: 1705.01974 [nucl-ex].
- [67] S. Chatrchyan et al. "Studies of Dijet Transverse Momentum Balance and Pseudorapidity Distributions in pPb Collisions at \$\$\sqrt{s_{\mathrm{NN}}} = 5.02\$\$ s NN = 5.02 \$\$\,\text {TeV}\$\$ TeV". In: Eur. Phys. J. C 74.7 (7 July 1, 2014), pp. 1-26. ISSN: 1434-6052. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-014-2951-y. URL: https: //link.springer.com/article/10.1140/epjc/s10052-014-2951-y (visited on 12/02/2021).
- [68] Hanzhong Zhang et al. "Tomography of High-Energy Nuclear Collisions with Photon-Hadron Correlations". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 103.3 (July 16, 2009), p. 032302. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.032302. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.032302 (visited on 12/02/2021).
- [69] C. A. Salgado et al. "Proton-Nucleus Collisions at the LHC: Scientific Opportunities and Requirements". In: J. Phys. G39 (CERN-PH-TH-2011-119, LHC-PROJECT-REPORT-1181, FERMILAB-PUB-11-841-T 2012), p. 015010. DOI: 10.1088/0954-3899/39/1/015010. arXiv: 1105.3919 [hep-ph].
- [70] Lyndon Evans and Philip Bryant. "LHC Machine". In: 3.08 (Aug. 2008), S08001–S08001. ISSN: 1748-0221. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/3/08/S08001. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-0221/3/08/s08001 (visited on 10/27/2021).
- [71] The CERN Accelerator Complex 2019. URL: https://cds.cern.ch/images/CERN-GRAPHICS-2019-002-1 (visited on 11/26/2021).
- [72] ALICE Collaboration et al. "Centrality Dependence of the Charged-Particle Multiplicity Density at Midrapidity in Pb-Pb Collisions at \$\sqrt{{s}_{NN}}=5.02\text{ }\text{ }\mathrm{TeV}\$". In: Phys. Rev. Lett. 116.22 (June 3, 2016), p. 222302. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.222302. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.116.222302 (visited on 11/05/2021).
- [73] Arturo Tauro. ALICE Schematics. CERN Document Server. May 11, 2017. URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2263642 (visited on 11/15/2021).
- [74] G Contin. "Performance of the Present ALICE Inner Tracking System and Studies for the Upgrade". In: JINST 7.06 (June 2012), pp. C06007–C06007. DOI: 10.1088/1748– 0221/7/06/c06007. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1748-0221%2F7%2F06% 2Fc06007.

- [75] Richard Brenner. "Laboratory Instruction on Ionizing Detectors "Silicon Sensor and Read Out Electronics"". In: (), p. 5.
- [76] Dougsim. English: Visualisation of Discrete Townsend Avalanches in a Proportional counterSuomi: Verrannollisuuslaskurin Toimintaperiaate. Ionisoiva Hiukkanen Lävistää Kammion Irroittaen Kaasusta Elektroneja. Elektroni Kiitä Kohti Positiivisesti Varattua Anodilankaa. Riittävän Lähellä Anodilankaa Voimakas Sähkökenttä Kiihdyttää Elektroneja Siten, Että Nämä Törmäilevät Kaasumolekyyleihin Irrottaen Lisää Elektroneja Muodostaen Elektronivyöryn. 28 October 2012, 12:33:23. URL: https:// commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Proportional_counter_avalanches.jpg (visited on 11/01/2021).
- [77] J. Alme et al. "The ALICE TPC, a Large 3-Dimensional Tracking Device with Fast Readout for Ultra-High Multiplicity Events". In: Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 622.1 (Oct. 1, 2010), pp. 316-367. ISSN: 0168-9002. DOI: 10.1016/j. nima.2010.04.042. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0168900210008910 (visited on 11/01/2021).
- [78] Marten Ole Schmidt. "Space-Point Calibration of the ALICE TPC with Track Residuals". In: EPJ Web Conf. 245 (2020), p. 01003. ISSN: 2100-014X. DOI: 10.1051/epjconf/202024501003. URL: https://www.epj-conferences.org/articles/epjconf/abs/2020/21/epjconf_chep2020_01003/epjconf_chep2020_01003.html (visited on 11/01/2021).
- [79] Ernst Hellbar and on behalf of the ALICE collaboration. "The ALICE TPC: Optimization of the Performance in RUN 2 and Developments for the Future". In: Proceedings of 7th Annual Conference on Large Hadron Collider Physics PoS(LHCP2019). 7th Annual Conference on Large Hadron Collider Physics. Vol. 350. SISSA Medialab, Dec. 4, 2019, p. 240. DOI: 10.22323/1.350.0240. URL: https://pos.sissa.it/350/240 (visited on 11/01/2021).
- [80] D. Blau. "Performance of the ALICE Electromagnetic Calorimeters in LHC Runs 1 and 2 and Upgrade Projects". In: JINST 15.03 (2020), p. C03025. DOI: 10.1088/ 1748-0221/15/03/C03025.
- [81] Rene Bellwied. "ALICE EMCal Physics Performance Report". In: (Aug. 2, 2010). URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1008.0413v1 (visited on 11/01/2021).
- [82] F. Carnesecchi. "Performance of the ALICE Time-Of-Flight Detector at the LHC". In: J. Inst. 14.06 (June 2019), pp. C06023–C06023. ISSN: 1748-0221. DOI: 10.1088/1748– 0221/14/06/C06023. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-0221/14/06/c06023 (visited on 12/10/2021).
- [83] K. Aamodt et al. "The ALICE Experiment at the CERN LHC". In: JINST 3 (2008), S08002. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/3/08/S08002.
- [84] Jonatan Adolfsson. "Study of Ξ -Hadron Correlations in pp Collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV Using the ALICE Detector". Lund, Sweden: Lund University Publications, 2020. 259 pp.
- [85] Jorg Wenninger. "Operation and Configuration of the LHC in Run 2". In: (Mar. 2019). URL: https://cds.cern.ch/record/2668326.
- [86] F. Arleo et al. Hard Probes in Heavy-Ion Collisions at the LHC: Photon Physics in Heavy Ion Collisions at the LHC. 2004. arXiv: hep-ph/0311131.
- [87] CMS Collaboration. Measurement of Differential Cross Sections for Inclusive Isolated-Photon and Photon+jets Production in Proton-Proton Collisions at s = 13 TeV. arXiv:1807.00782, 2018. arXiv: 1807.00782 [hep-ex].
- [88] CMS Collaboration. "Studies of Jet Quenching Using Isolated-Photon+jet Correlations in PbPb and pp Collisions at s_{NN}=2.76 TeV". In: *Phys. Lett.* B718 (CMS-HIN-11-010, CERN-PH-EP-2012-089 2013), pp. 773-794. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb. 2012.11.003. arXiv: 1205.0206 [nucl-ex].
- [89] Anne Sickles, Michael P. McCumber, and Andrew Adare. "Extraction of Correlated Jet Pair Signals in Relativistic Heavy Ion Collisions". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 81.1 (Jan. 28, 2010), p. 014908. ISSN: 0556-2813, 1089-490X. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.81.014908. arXiv: 0907.4113. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/0907.4113 (visited on 11/26/2021).
- [90] PYTHIA 8.3 PYTHIA 8.3. URL: https://pythia.org/ (visited on 11/25/2021).
- [91] ALICE Collaboration. π^0 and η Meson Production in Proton-Proton Collisions at s=8TeV. 2018. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-018-5612-8. arXiv: 1708.08745 [hep-ex].
- [92] Gustavo Conesa Balbastre. "Study and Emulation of Cell Energy Cross-Talk in EM-Cal". In: (ANA-837, 2018).
- [93] Shreyasi Acharya et al. Measurement of the Inclusive Isolated Photon Production Cross Section in Pp Collisions at s = 7 TeV. 2019. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7389-9. arXiv: 1906.01371 [nucl-ex].
- [94] Shreyasi Acharya et al. "Direct Photon Production at Low Transverse Momentum in Proton-Proton Collisions at s=2.76 and 8 TeV". In: *Phys. Rev.* C99 (CERN-EP-2018-045 2019), p. 024912. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.99.024912. arXiv: 1803.09857 [nucl-ex].
- [95] Raphaëlle Ichou and David d'Enterria. "Sensitivity of Isolated Photon Production at TeV Hadron Colliders to the Gluon Distribution in the Proton". In: *Phys. Rev.* D 82.1 (July 2010), p. 014015. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.82.014015. URL: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.82.014015.
- [96] Matteo Cacciari, Gavin P. Salam, and Sebastian Sapeta. "On the Characterisation of the Underlying Event". In: JHEP 04 (2010), p. 065. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP04(2010)065. arXiv: 0912.4926 [hep-ph].

- [97] S. Acharya et al. "Measurement of the Inclusive Isolated Photon Production Cross Section in \$\$\text{ p }\text{ p }\$\$pp Collisions at \$\$\sqrt{s}=7\$\$s=7 TeV". In: Eur. Phys. J. C 79.11 (Nov. 1, 2019), pp. 1-20. ISSN: 1434-6052. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7389-9. URL: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7389-9 (visited on 11/26/2021).
- [98] ALICE Collaboration et al. "Charged Jet Cross Sections and Properties in Proton-Proton Collisions at \$\sqrt{s}=7\text{ }\text{ }\mathrm{TeV}\$". In: Phys. Rev. D 91.11 (June 22, 2015), p. 112012. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.91.112012. URL: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.91.112012 (visited on 11/26/2021).
- [99] CMS Collaboration. Study of Jet Quenching with Isolated-Photon+jet Correlations in PbPb and pp Collisions at $\sqrt{s_{\rm NN}} = 5.02$ TeV. 2017. arXiv: 1711.09738.
- [100] Vardan Khachatryan et al. "Measurement of the Isolated Prompt Photon Production Cross Section in pp Collisions at s = 7 TeV". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 106 (CERN-PH-EP-2010-053, CMS-QCD-10-019 2011), p. 082001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.106. 082001. arXiv: 1012.0799 [hep-ex].
- [101] F. James and M. Roos. "Minuit: A System for Function Minimization and Analysis of the Parameter Errors and Correlations". In: *Comput. Phys. Commun.* 10.CERN-DD-75-20 (1975), pp. 343–367. DOI: 10.1016/0010-4655(75)90039-9.
- [102] S. Acharya et al. "Transverse Momentum Spectra and Nuclear Modification Factors of Charged Particles in Pp, p-Pb and Pb-Pb Collisions at the LHC". In: JHEP 11 (CERN-EP-2018-025 2018), p. 013. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2018)013. arXiv: 1802. 09145 [nucl-ex].
- [103] David Gale and Marilda Sotomayor. "Some Remarks on the Stable Matching Problem". In: Discrete Applied Mathematics 11.3 (1985), pp. 223-232. ISSN: 0166-218X. DOI: 10.1016/0166-218X(85)90074-5. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0166218X85900745.
- [104] J. Allen et al. *Performance of Prototypes for the ALICE Electromagnetic Calorimeter*. 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2009.12.061. arXiv: 0912.2005 [physics.ins-det].
- [105] Jaroslav Adam et al. "Measurement of the Production of High-p_T Electrons from Heavy-Flavour Hadron Decays in Pb-Pb Collisions at $s_{NN} = 2.76$ TeV". In: *Phys. Lett.* B771 (CERN-EP-2016-235 2017), pp. 467–481. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb. 2017.05.060. arXiv: 1609.07104 [nucl-ex].
- [106] Erwann Masson. "Measurement of Isolated Photons in p–Pb Collisions at 5.02 TeV with the EMCal Detector in ALICE". In: (ALICE-ANA-2018-4677).
- [107] Ravindra Singh. Angular Correlations of Heavy-Flavour Hadron Decay Electrons and Charged Particles in Pp Collisions at \$\sqrt{s}\$ = 5.02 TeV with ALICE at the LHC. Sept. 20, 2021. arXiv: 2109.09318 [hep-ex, physics:nucl-ex]. URL: http: //arxiv.org/abs/2109.09318 (visited on 12/06/2021).

- [108] G. Altarelli and G. Parisi. "Asymptotic Freedom in Parton Language". In: Nuclear Physics B 126.2 (1977), pp. 298-318. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(77)90384-4. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/0550321377903844.
- [109] Stefano Catani et al. "Cross Section of Isolated Prompt Photons in Hadron-Hadron Collisions". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2002.05 (May 2002), pp. 028-028.
 DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2002/05/028. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2002/05/028.
- [110] John M. Campbell et al. "Direct Photon Production and PDF Fits Reloaded". In: *The European Physical Journal C* 78.6 (2018). DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-018-5944-4.
- [111] Man Xie, Xin-Nian Wang, and Han-Zhong Zhang. "\ensuremath{\gamma}-Hadron Spectra in p\phantom{\rule{4pt}{0ex}}+\phantom{\rule{4pt}{0ex}}\mathrm{Pb} Collisions at \sqrt{{s}_{NN}}=5.02 TeV". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 103.3 (Mar. 29, 2021), p. 034911. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.103.034911. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.103.034911 (visited on 11/05/2021).
- [112] Zhong-Bo Kang, Ivan Vitev, and Hongxi Xing. "Nuclear Modification of High Transverse Momentum Particle Production in p+A Collisions at RHIC and LHC". In: *Physics Letters B* 718.2 (Dec. 5, 2012), pp. 482–487. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2012.10.046. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0370269312011008 (visited on 12/02/2021).
- [113] K. J. Eskola, H. Paukkunen, and C. A. Salgado. "EPS09 A New Generation of NLO and LO Nuclear Parton Distribution Functions". In: J. High Energy Phys. 2009.04 (Apr. 2009), pp. 065–065. ISSN: 1126-6708. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2009/04/065. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2009/04/065 (visited on 12/02/2021).
- M. Hirai, S. Kumano, and T.-H. Nagai. "Determination of Nuclear Parton Distribution Functions and Their Uncertainties at Next-to-Leading Order". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 76.6 (Dec. 19, 2007), p. 065207. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.76.065207. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.76.065207 (visited on 12/02/2021).
- [115] Ivan Vitev. "Non-Abelian Energy Loss in Cold Nuclear Matter". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 75.6 (June 11, 2007), p. 064906. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.75.064906. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.75.064906 (visited on 12/03/2021).
- [116] K. Tywoniuk et al. "Gluon Shadowing in the Glauber-Gribov Model at HERA". In: *Physics Letters B* 657.4 (Dec. 6, 2007), pp. 170–175. ISSN: 0370-2693. DOI: 10.1016/ j.physletb.2007.09.065. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0370269307011161 (visited on 12/06/2021).
- [117] Erwann Masson. "Direct Photon Measurements with the ALICE Experiment at the LHC". In: *Proceedings* 10.1 (1 2019), p. 1. DOI: 10.3390/proceedings2019010001.
 URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2504-3900/10/1/1 (visited on 12/06/2021).

- [118] Stanley J. Brodsky and Hung Jung Lu. "Shadowing and Antishadowing of Nuclear Structure Functions". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 64.12 (Mar. 19, 1990), pp. 1342–1345. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.64.1342. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.64.1342 (visited on 12/06/2021).
- B. A. Kniehl, G. Kramer, and B. Pötter. "Fragmentation Functions for Pions, Kaons, and Protons at next-to-Leading Order". In: *Nuclear Physics B* 582.1 (Aug. 28, 2000), pp. 514-536. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00303-5. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0550321300003035 (visited on 12/03/2021).
- [120] Shigeru Sasabe. "Lifetime of Quark-Parton State, and Impulse Approximation in QCD". In: Progress of Theoretical Physics 64.5 (Nov. 1, 1980), pp. 1741–1744. ISSN: 0033-068X. DOI: 10.1143/PTP.64.1741. URL: https://doi.org/10.1143/PTP.64. 1741 (visited on 12/03/2021).
- [121] Enke Wang and Xin-Nian Wang. "Jet Tomography of Hot and Cold Nuclear Matter". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 89.16 (Oct. 1, 2002), p. 162301. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 89.162301. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.89.162301 (visited on 12/03/2021).
- [122] Ning-Bo Chang, Wei-Tian Deng, and Xin-Nian Wang. "Initial Conditions for the Modified Evolution of Fragmentation Functions in the Nuclear Medium". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 89.3 (Mar. 20, 2014), p. 034911. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevC.89.034911.
 URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevC.89.034911 (visited on 12/03/2021).
- [123] Kari J. Eskola et al. "EPPS16: Nuclear Parton Distributions with LHC Data". In: Eur. Phys. J. C 77.3 (Mar. 1, 2017), pp. 1–28. ISSN: 1434-6052. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/ s10052-017-4725-9. URL: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-017-4725-9 (visited on 11/06/2021).
- [124] E. C. Aschenauer et al. "The electron-ion collider: assessing the energy dependence of key measurements". In: *Rept. Prog. Phys.* 82.2 (2019), p. 024301. DOI: 10.1088/1361-6633/aaf216. arXiv: 1708.01527 [nucl-ex].
- [125] Electron-Ion Collider eRHIC: Pre-Conceptual Design Report. https://wiki.bnl. gov/eic/upload/EIC.Design.Study.pdf. 2019.
- [126] Department of Energy Selects Site for Electron-Ion Collider. Brookhaven National Laboratory. URL: https://www.bnl.gov/newsroom/news.php?a=116998 (visited on 11/10/2021).
- [127] John Arrington et al. "EIC Physics from An All-Silicon Tracking Detector". In: (Feb. 16, 2021). URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2102.08337v1 (visited on 11/09/2021).
- [128] Ernst Sichtermann for eRD16. "eRD16: Forward/Backward Tracking at EIC using Maps Detectors". In: (July 2019). EIC Generic Detector R&D Advisory Committee.

- B Abelev et al. "Technical Design Report for the Upgrade of the ALICE Inner Tracking System". In: J. Phys. G 41.CERN-LHCC-2013-024, ALICE-TDR-017 (2014), p. 087002. DOI: 10.1088/0954-3899/41/8/087002.
- [130] M. Keil. "Upgrade of the ALICE Inner Tracking System". In: JINST 10.03 (2015), p. C03012. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/10/03/C03012.
- [131] Felix Reidt. "The ALICE pixel detector upgrade". In: JINST 11.12 (2016). Ed. by Claudia Gemme and Leonardo Rossi, p. C12038. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/11/12/ C12038.
- [132] Laura Gonella et al. "eRD25 proposal". In: EIC Generic Detector R&D Advisory Panel Meeting (July 2020).
- [133] ALICE Collaboration. "Letter of Intent for an ALICE ITS Upgrade in LS3". In: CERN-LHCC-2019-018. LHCC-I-034 (January 2020).
- [134] Leo Greiner. "2nd EIC Yellow Report Workshop at Pavia University, Silicon material projections". In: https://indico.bnl.gov/event/8231/contributions/37955/ (21 May 2020).
- [135] Leo Greiner. "Silicon pixel-based particle vertex and tracking detectors towards the US Electron Ion Collider Workshop". In: (2 September 2020).
- [136] Spencer R. Klein. "Using precision timing to improve particle tracking". In: JINST 15.03 (2020), P03024. DOI: 10.1088/1748-0221/15/03/P03024. arXiv: 2001.10624 [physics.ins-det].
- [137] Matteo Cacciari, Gavin P. Salam, and Gregory Soyez. "The Anti-k(t) Jet Clustering Algorithm". In: *JHEP* 04 (LPTHE-07-03 2008), p. 063. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/ 2008/04/063. arXiv: 0802.1189 [hep-ph].
- [138] R. Abdul Khalek et al. Science Requirements and Detector Concepts for the Electron-Ion Collider: EIC Yellow Report. Oct. 26, 2021. arXiv: 2103.05419. URL: http: //arxiv.org/abs/2103.05419 (visited on 11/10/2021).
- [139] Cheuk-Ping Wong et al. "A Proposed Forward Silicon Tracker for the Future Electron-Ion Collider and Associated Physics Studies". 2020. arXiv: 2009.02888 [nucl-ex].
- [140] Miguel Arratia et al. Jets as Precision Probes in Electron-Nucleus Collisions at the Electron-Ion Collider. Dec. 2019. arXiv: 1912.05931 [nucl-ex].
- [141] Radja Boughezal, Frank Petriello, and Hongxi Xing. "Inclusive jet production as a probe of polarized parton distribution functions at a future EIC". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 98.5 (2018), p. 054031. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.98.054031. arXiv: 1806.07311 [hep-ph].
- M. Klasen, K. Kovarik, and J. Potthoff. "Nuclear parton density functions from jet production in DIS at an EIC". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 95.9 (2017), p. 094013. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevD.95.094013. arXiv: 1703.02864 [hep-ph].

- M. Klasen and K. Kovařiék. "Nuclear parton density functions from dijet photoproduction at the EIC". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 97.11 (2018), p. 114013. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevD.97.114013. arXiv: 1803.10985 [hep-ph].
- [144] Xiaoxuan Chu et al. "Photon structure studied at an Electron Ion Collider". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 96.7 (2017), p. 074035. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.96.074035. arXiv: 1705.08831 [nucl-ex].
- [145] Patriz Hinderer, Marc Schlegel, and Werner Vogelsang. "Single-Inclusive Production of Hadrons and Jets in Lepton-Nucleon Scattering at NLO". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 92.1 (2015). [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 93, 119903 (2016)], p. 014001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.92.014001. arXiv: 1505.06415 [hep-ph].
- [146] Patriz Hinderer, Marc Schlegel, and Werner Vogelsang. "Double-Longitudinal Spin Asymmetry in Single-Inclusive Lepton Scattering at NLO". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 96.1 (2017), p. 014002. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.96.014002. arXiv: 1703.10872 [hep-ph].
- [147] Miguel Arratia et al. "Jet-based measurements of Sivers and Collins asymmetries at the future electron-ion collider". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 102.7 (2020), p. 074015. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.102.074015. arXiv: 2007.07281 [hep-ph].
- [148] Liang Zheng et al. "Accessing the gluon Sivers function at a future electron-ion collider". In: Phys. Rev. D 98.3 (2018), p. 034011. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.98.034011. arXiv: 1805.05290 [hep-ph].
- [149] Adrian Dumitru, Vladimir Skokov, and Thomas Ullrich. "Measuring the Weizsäcker-Williams distribution of linearly polarized gluons at an electron-ion collider through dijet azimuthal asymmetries". In: *Phys. Rev. C* 99.1 (2019), p. 015204. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevC.99.015204. arXiv: 1809.02615 [hep-ph].
- [150] Miguel Arratia et al. "Charm jets as a probe for strangeness at the future Electron-Ion Collider". 2020. arXiv: 2006.12520 [hep-ph].
- [151] Elke-Caroline Aschenauer et al. "Jet angularities in photoproduction at the Electron-Ion Collider". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 101.5 (2020), p. 054028. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD. 101.054028. arXiv: 1910.11460 [hep-ph].
- [152] R. Baier et al. "Radiative Energy Loss and P⊥-Broadening of High Energy Partons in Nuclei". In: Nuclear Physics B 484.1 (Jan. 20, 1997), pp. 265-282. ISSN: 0550-3213. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(96)00581-0. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0550321396005810 (visited on 11/10/2021).
- [153] Zuo-tang Liang, Xin-Nian Wang, and Jian Zhou. "Transverse-Momentum-Dependent Parton Distribution Function and Jet Transport in a Nuclear Medium". In: *Phys. Rev.* D 77.12 (June 6, 2008), p. 125010. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.77.125010. URL: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.77.125010 (visited on 11/10/2021).

- [154] Xiaohui Liu et al. "Lepton-Jet Correlations in Deep Inelastic Scattering at the Electron-Ion Collider". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 122.19 (May 15, 2019), p. 192003. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.122.192003. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.192003 (visited on 11/10/2021).
- [155] B. Abelev and all. "Charged jet cross sections and properties in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 91 (11 June 2015), p. 112012. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.91.112012. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.91.112012.
- [156] Hsi-Ming Chang et al. "Calculating track thrust with track functions". In: *Phys. Rev. D* 88 (3 Aug. 2013), p. 034030. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.88.034030. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.88.034030.
- [157] EIC Detector Matrix Table. https://physdiv.jlab.org/DetectorMatrix/. Accessed:2020-12.